



## Identifying Opportunities for Methane Recovery at U.S. Coal Mines:

Profiles of Selected Gassy Underground Coal Mines 2002-2006

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency September 2008 (Revised January 2009) EPA 430-K-04-003

## Identifying Opportunities for Methane Recovery at U.S. Coal Mines:

# Profiles of Selected Gassy Underground Coal Mines 2002-2006

EPA 430-K-04-003

September 2008 (Revised January 2009)\*

#### **U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY**

\* In the previously released version of this report, there was an error on page 1-7 involving two bulleted items dated July 2007. These bullets refer to roof fall events at CONSOL Energy's Bailey (PA) and Buchanan (VA) mines. Both bullets actually refer to the same roof fall event, which occurred at Buchanan mine. Bailey mine was not shut down as previously stated; it produced 10.2 million tons of coal in 2006 and 9.9 million tons in 2007. USEPA regrets the error.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The U.S. EPA would like to thank the U.S. Mine Safety and Health Administration for the ventilation emissions data used in this document. Other industry experts, as well as various individuals at state and federal agencies, were also helpful during the preparation of this document.

#### **Table of Contents**

	Page #
Acknowledgements	i
List of Figures	v
List of Tables	v
Frequently Used Terms	vi
Frequently Used Abbreviations	vii

#### 1. Executive Summary

Methane Emissions and Recovery Opportunities	1-1
U.S. EPA	1-1
Coal Mine Methane (CMM) Recovery Opportunities	1-2
Overview of CMM Recovery and Use Techniques	1-3
Opportunities for Methane Recovery Projects	1-4
Overview of Methane Liberation, Drainage, and Use at Profiled Mines	1-4
Overview of U.S. Mining Industry Since 2003	1-5
Summary of Opportunities for Project Development	1-7

#### 2. Introduction

Purpose of Report	2-1
Recent Developments in the Coal Mine Methane Industry	2-1
Overview of Coal Mine Methane	2-2
Methane Drainage Techniques	2-3
Vertical Pre-Mining Wells	2-4
Gob Wells	2-5
Horizontal Boreholes	2-6
Longhole Horizontal Boreholes	2-6
Cross-Measure Boreholes	2-7
Utilization Options	2-7
Pipeline Injection	2-8
Power Generation	2-11
Ventilation Air Methane Use Technologies	2-13
Local Use	2-17
Flaring	2-17
Green Pricing Projects	2-18
Barriers to the Recovery and Use of Coal Mine Methane	2-18
Technical Challenges	2-18
Ownership of Coalbed Methane	2-19
Power Prices	2-20
Pipeline Capacity Constraints	2-20

### 3. Overview of Existing Coal Mine Methane Projects

Alabama	3-1
Walter Industries	3-1
Blue Creek No. 4, No. 5 and No. 7 Mines	3-1
Cleveland-Cliffs	
Oak Grove Mine	3-2
Drummond Company	
Shoal Creek Mine	
Colorado	3-3

Arch Coal	3-3
West Elk Mine	3-3
Pennsylvania	3-3
Foundation Coal	3-3
Cumberland and Emerald Mines	3-3
Virginia	3-3
CONSOL Energy	3-4
Buchanan Mine	3-4
VP 8 Mine	3-4
West Virginia	3-5
CONSOL Energy	3-5
Blacksville No. 2 and Loveridge No. 22 Mines	3-5
Patriot Coal	3-5
Federal No. 2 Mine	3-5
Cleveland-Cliffs	3-5
Pinnacle Mine	3-5
Summary	3-6

#### 4. Guide to the Mine Profiles

Mine Status	
Drainage System	
Use Project	
2006 Rank	
Geographic Data	
Corporate Information	
Mine Address	
General Information	
Production, Ventilation, and Drainage Data	
Energy and Environmental Value of Emissions Reduction	
Power Generation Potential	
Pipeline Potential	
Other Utilization Possibilities	

#### 5. Mine Summary Tables

Table 1:	Mines Listed Alphabetically	5-1
Table 2:	Mines Listed by State and County	5-2
Table 3:	Mines Listed by Coal Basin	5-3
Table 4:	Mines Listed by Coalbed	5-4
Table 5:	Mines Listed by Company	5-5
Table 6:	Mines Listed by Mining Method	5-7
Table 7:	Mines Listed by Primary Coal Use	5-8
Table 8:	Mines Listed by 2006 Coal Production	5-9
Table 9:	Mines Employing Methane Drainage Systems	5-10
Table 10:	Mines Listed by Estimated Total Methane Liberated in 2006	5-11
Table 11:	Mines Listed by Daily Ventilation Emissions in 2006	5-12
Table 12:	Mines Listed by Estimated Daily Methane Drained in 2006	5-13
Table 13:	Mines Listed by Estimated Specific Emissions in 2006	5-14
Table 14:	Mines Employing Methane Use Projects	5-15
Table 15:	Mines Listed by CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of Potential Annual CH <sub>4</sub>	
	Emissions Reductions	5-16
Table 16:	Mines Listed by Electric Utility Supplier	5-17

Table 17:	Mines Listed by	/ Potential	Electric C	Senerating	Capacity.	5-19
Table 18:	Mines Listed by	/ Potential	Annual G	Sas Sales		

#### 6. Profiled Mines

Data Summary	6-1
Alabama	6-1
Colorado	
Illinois	6-2
Indiana	
Kentucky	6-4
New Mexico	6-5
Ohio	6-5
Oklahoma	6-6
Pennsylvania	6-7
Utah	6-8
Virginia	
West Virginia	
-	

#### Mine Profiles (profiles appear in alphabetical order by state)

Alabama Mines Blue Creek No. 4 Blue Creek No. 5 Blue Creek No. 7 North River Oak Grove Shoal Creek Colorado Mines Bowie No. 2 Elk Creek McClane Canyon West Elk Illinois Mines Galatia Pattiki Wabash Willow Lake Portal Indiana Mines Gibson Kentucky Mines Dotiki E3-1 Jones Fork E-3 Mine No. 2 No. 3 Mine New Mexico Mines San Juan South

Ohio Century Powhatan No. 6 Oklahoma South Central Pennsylvania Mines Bailey Cumberland **Eighty-Four Mine** Emerald Enlow Fork Utah Mines Aberdeen Dugout Canyon West Ridge Virginia Mines Buchanan Deep Mine #26 Miles Branch No. 2 VP 8 [Continued on next page]

/est Virginia Mines
American Eagle
Beckley Crystal
Blacksville No. 2
Dakota No. 2
Eagle
Federal No. 2
Justice #1
Loveridge No. 22
McElroy
Pinnacle
Robinson Run No. 95
Shoemaker
Whitetail Kittanning
References

## List of Figures

#### Page #

Figure 2-1:	Mines with Active Coal Mine Methane Recovery and Use Projects	2-2
Figure 2-2:	Estimated Annual Use of Methane Recovered From U.S. Coal Mines	2-2
Figure 2-3:	Vertical Pre-Mining, Gob, and Horizontal Boreholes	2-5
Figure 2-4:	Horizontal and Cross-Measure Boreholes	2-6
Figure 2-5:	Thermal Flow Reversal Reactor	2-14

### List of Tables

2-7
2-8
2-9
3-6
6-1
6-2
6-3
6-4
6-4
6-5
6-6
6-6
6-7
6-8
6-9
-10

#### **Frequently Used Terms**

Coalbed methane (CBM): Methane that resides within coal seams.

**Coal mine methane (CMM):** As coal mining proceeds, methane contained in the coal and surrounding strata may be released. This methane is referred to as coal mine methane since its liberation resulted from mining activity. In some instances, methane that continues to be released from the coal bearing strata once a mine is closed and sealed may also be referred to as coal mine methane because the liberated methane is associated with past coal mining activity.

**Degasification system:** A system that facilitates the removal of methane gas from a mine by ventilation and/or by drainage. However, the term is most commonly used to refer to removal of methane by drainage technology.

**Drainage system:** A system that drains methane from coal seams and/or surrounding rock strata. These systems include vertical pre-mine wells, gob wells, and in-mine boreholes.

Methane drained: The amount of methane removed via a drainage system.

**Methane emissions:** This is the total amount of methane that is not used and therefore emitted to the atmosphere. Methane emissions are calculated by subtracting the amount of methane used from the amount of methane liberated (emissions = liberated – used).

**Methane liberated:** The total amount of methane that is released, or liberated, from the coal and surrounding rock strata during the mining process. This total is determined by summing the volume of methane emitted from the ventilation system and the volume of methane that is drained.

Methane recovered: The amount of methane that is captured through methane drainage systems.

**Methane used:** The amount of captured methane put to productive use (e.g., natural gas pipeline injection, fuel for power generation, etc.).

**Ventilation system:** A system that is used to control the concentration of methane within mine working areas. Ventilation systems consist of powerful fans that move large volumes of air through the mine workings to dilute methane concentrations.

## Frequently Used Abbreviations

b (or B)	Billion (10 <sup>9</sup> )
Bcf	Billion cubic feet
Btu	British Thermal Unit
CAA	Clean Air Act
СААА	Clean Air Act Amendments
СВМ	Coal Bed Methane
cf	Cubic Feet
CH <sub>4</sub>	Methane
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon Dioxide
СММ	Coal Mine Methane
DOE	Department of Energy
EIA	Energy Information Administration
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
FOB	Freight on Board
GWh	Gigawatt-hour
GWP	Global Warming Potential
IC	Internal Combustion
kWh	Kilowatt-hour
m (or M)	Thousand (10 <sup>3</sup> )
mm (or MM)	Million (10 <sup>6</sup> )
MMTCO <sub>2</sub> e	Million metric tonnes CO <sub>2</sub> equivalent
MSHA	Mine Safety and Health Administration
MW	Megawatt
NA	Not Available (as opposed to Not Applicable)
PUC	Public Utility Commission

- USEPA U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
- USBM U.S. Bureau of Mines
- UMWA United Mine Workers of America
- VAM Ventilation Air Methane

1. Executive Summary

#### 1. Executive Summary

The purpose of this report is to provide information about specific opportunities to develop methane recovery and use projects at large underground coal mines in the United States. This report contains profiles of 50 U.S. coal mines that may be potential candidates for methane recovery and use, and details about on-going recovery and use projects at 14 of the mines. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) designed the profiles to help project developers perform an initial screening of potential projects. While the mines profiled in this report appear to be good candidates, a detailed evaluation would need to be done on a site-specific basis in order to determine whether the development of a specific methane recovery and use project is both technically and economically feasible.

Since the last version of this report was published in September 2005, coal mine methane (CMM) recovery and use in the U.S. has continued to develop and grow from an estimated 42 billion cubic feet (Bcf) in 2003 to over 46 Bcf in 2006. At a gas price of \$6.40 per thousand cubic feet (mcf)<sup>1</sup>, this means that coal mine methane developers had estimated revenues of more than \$295 million in 2006.

#### Methane Emissions and Recovery Opportunities

Non-CO<sub>2</sub> gases play important roles in efforts to understand and address global climate change. The non-CO<sub>2</sub> gases include a broad category of greenhouse gases (GHG) other than carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), such as methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), and a number of high global warming potential (GWP) gases. The non-CO<sub>2</sub> gases are more potent than CO<sub>2</sub> (per unit weight) and are significant contributors to global warming. Thus, reducing emissions of non-CO<sub>2</sub> gases can help prevent global climate change and produce broader economic and environmental benefits.

Methane is a greenhouse gas that exists in the atmosphere for approximately 9-15 years. As a greenhouse gas,  $CH_4$  is over 20 times more effective in trapping heat in the atmosphere than carbon dioxide – over a 100-year period – and is emitted from a variety of natural and human-influenced sources. Human-influenced sources include landfills, natural gas and petroleum systems, agricultural activities, coal mining, stationary and mobile combustion, wastewater treatment, and certain industrial processes.

As a primary constituent of natural gas, methane is also an important, relatively clean-burning energy source. As a result, efforts to prevent or utilize methane emissions can provide significant energy, economic, and environmental benefits. In the United States, many companies are working with EPA in voluntary efforts to reduce emissions by implementing cost-effective management methods and technologies.

#### U.S. EPA

U.S. industries, along with state and local governments, collaborate with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency to implement several voluntary programs that promote profitable opportunities for reducing emissions of methane, an important greenhouse gas. These programs are designed to overcome a wide range of informational, technical, and institutional barriers to reducing methane emissions, while creating profitable activities for the coal, natural gas, petroleum, landfill, and agricultural industries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Average wellhead price for 2006 according to EIA < <u>http://tonto.eia.doe.gov/dnav/ng/ng\_pri\_sum\_dcu\_nus\_a.htm</u> >.

To realize continued emission reductions from the coal mining industry, EPA's Coalbed Methane Outreach Program (CMOP) has worked voluntarily with the coal mining industry and associated industries since 1994 to recover and use methane released into and emitted from mines.

CMOP's efforts are directed to assist the mining industry by supporting project development, overcoming institutional, technical, regulatory and financial barriers to implementation, and educating the general public on the benefits of CMM recovery. More specifically, these efforts include:

- Identifying, evaluating, and promoting methane reduction options including technological innovations and market mechanisms to encourage project implementation;
- Workshops to educate the coal mine methane project development community on the environmental, mine safety, and economic benefits of methane recovery;
- Preparing and disseminating reports and other materials that address topics ranging from technical and economic analyses to overviews of legal issues;
- Interfacing with all facets of the industry to advance real project development;
- Conducting pre-feasibility and feasibility studies for U.S. mines that examine a range of enduse options; and
- Managing a website that is an important information resource for the coal mine methane industry.

#### Coal Mine Methane (CMM) Recovery Opportunities

In the U.S., coal mines account for over 10% of all man-made methane emissions (USEPA, 2008). Today, there are methane recovery and use projects at mines in Alabama, Colorado, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and West Virginia. As shown in this report, there are many additional gassy coal mines at which projects have not yet been developed that offer the potential for the profitable recovery of methane.

In addition to the direct financial benefits that may be enjoyed from the sale of coal mine methane (CMM), indirect financial and economic benefits may also be achieved. Degasification systems that are used to drain methane prevent gas from escaping into mine working areas, increase methane recovery, improve worker safety, and significantly reduce ventilation costs at several mines. Increased recovery also reduces methane-related mining delays, resulting in increased coal productivity. Furthermore, the development of methane recovery projects has been shown to result in the creation of new jobs, which has helped to stimulate area economies.<sup>2</sup> Additionally, the development of local coal mine methane resources may result in the availability of a potentially low-cost supply of gas that could be used to help attract new industry to a region. For these reasons, encouraging the development of coal mine methane recovery projects is likely to be of growing interest to state and local governments that have candidate mines in their jurisdictions.

For example, some of the mines profiled in this report have methane emissions in excess of ten million cubic feet per day (cf/d) (or nearly 3.7 billion cubic feet per year). To illustrate the impact of methane recovery, developing a project at a mine recovering two billion cubic feet per year would result in emissions reductions equating to 890,000 tons of  $CO_2$ .<sup>3</sup> Because of the large environmental benefits that may be achieved, coal mine methane projects may serve as cost-effective alternatives for utilities and others seeking to offset their own greenhouse gas emissions. Additionally, even though the U.S. has not ratified the Kyoto Protocol, voluntary GHG emissions reduction programs such as the Chicago

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For example, see discussion on this subject in the report "The Environmental and Economic Benefits of Coalbed Methane Development in the Appalachian Region" (USEPA, 1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The carbon dioxide equivalent of methane emissions is calculated by determining the weight of methane collected (on a 100% basis), using a density of 19.2 g/cf. The weight is then multiplied by the global warming potential (GWP) of methane, which is 21 times greater than carbon dioxide over a 100 year time period.

Climate Exchange (CCX) and The Climate Registry allow mining companies to turn their avoided emissions into carbon credits.

#### Overview of CMM Recovery and Use Techniques

Methane gas and coal are formed together during coalification, a process in which biomass is converted by biological and geological processes into coal. Methane is stored within coal seams and also within the rock strata surrounding the seams. Methane is released when pressure within a coalbed is reduced as a result of natural erosion, faulting, or mining. Deep coal seams tend to have a higher average methane content than shallow coal seams, because the capacity to store methane increases as pressure increases with depth. Accordingly, underground mines release substantially more methane than surface mines, per ton of coal extracted.

Coal mine methane emissions may be mitigated by the implementation of methane recovery projects at underground mines. Mines can use several reliable degasification methods to drain methane. These methods have been developed primarily to supplement mine ventilation systems that were designed to ensure that methane concentrations in underground mines remain within safe concentrations. While these degasification systems are mostly used for safety reasons, they can also recover methane that may be employed as an energy resource. Degasification systems include vertical wells (drilled from the surface into the coal seam months or years in advance of mining), gob wells (drilled from the surface into the coal seam just prior to mining), and in-mine boreholes (drilled from inside the mine into the coal seam or the surrounding strata prior to mining).

The quality (purity) of the gas that is recovered is partially dependent on the degasification method employed, and determines how the gas can be used. For example, only high quality gas (typically greater than 95% methane) can be used for pipeline injection. Vertical wells and horizontal boreholes tend to recover nearly pure methane (over 95% methane). In very gassy mines, gob wells can also recover high-quality methane, especially during the first few months of production. Over time, however, mine air may become mixed with the methane produced by gob wells, resulting in a lower quality gas.

Lower quality methane can also be used as an energy source in various applications. Potential applications that have been demonstrated in the U.S. and other countries include:

- Electricity generation (the electricity can be used either on-site or can be sold to utilities);
- As a fuel for on-site preparation plants or mine vehicles, or for nearby industrial or institutional facilities; and
- Cutting-edge applications, such as in fuel cells.

It is also possible to enrich lower quality gas to pipeline standards using technologies that separate methane from carbon dioxide, oxygen, and/or nitrogen. Several technologies for separating methane are under development. Another option for improving the quality of mine gas is blending, which is the mixing of lower quality gas with higher quality gas whose heating value exceeds pipeline requirements.

Even mine ventilation air methane (VAM), which typically contains less than 1% methane, has been and is being successfully used. At a mine in Australia, VAM was used as combustion air in gas-fired internal combustion engines. The technology for using mine ventilation air as combustion air in turbines and coal-fired boilers also exists. The first commercial-scale technology to oxidize VAM in the world, located in New South Wales, Australia, became operational in September 2007 (USEPA, 2007b). The plant generates approximately 6 megawatts (MW) of electricity and reduces greenhouse gas emissions by more than 275,000 tons of CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent (CO<sub>2</sub>e) per year. U.S. EPA and U.S. DOE are conducting a technology demonstration of a thermal flow reversal reactor (same technology used at West Cliff colliery in Australia) to simulate the destruction of VAM at a closed mine in West Virginia.

#### **Opportunities for Methane Recovery Projects**

While methane recovery projects already are operating at some of the gassiest mines in the U.S., there are numerous additional gassy mines at which recovery projects could be developed. This report profiles 50 mines that have either already implemented projects, or are potential candidates for the development of coal mine methane projects. As of 2006, at least 23 mines operate drainage systems, with drainage efficiencies in the range of 3% to 88%. Twelve of these mines already sell recovered methane, and two mines consume methane onsite for power generation and to heat mine ventilation air.<sup>4</sup> Mines that already use drainage systems may be especially good candidates for the development of cost-effective methane recovery and use projects.

There are also projects at abandoned mines in the U.S.; however, this report only profiles mines active in 2006.<sup>5</sup> For additional information on methane recovery projects at abandoned coal mine sites, see the EPA report, *U.S. Abandoned Coal Mine Methane Recovery Project Opportunities*, available on the CMOP website at <u>http://www.epa.gov/cmop/docs/cmm\_recovery\_opps.pdf</u>

Surface mines may also be candidates for recovery and utilization projects. Surface mine opportunities are addressed in the EPA report, *U.S. Surface Coal Mine Methane Recovery Project Opportunities*, which is available on the CMOP website at <a href="http://www.epa.gov/cmop/docs/cmm">http://www.epa.gov/cmop/docs/cmm</a> recovery opps surface.pdf

#### Overview of Methane Liberation, Drainage, and Use at Profiled Mines

This report profiles mines located in 12 states. West Virginia has the largest number of profiled mines with 13, followed by Alabama with six, and Kentucky, Pennsylvania, and Virginia with five each. In 2006, the 50 mines profiled in this report liberated an estimated 364 mmcf/d of methane, or about 133 Bcf/yr (98% of all methane liberated from underground mines). Table 1-1 summarizes information presented in the state summaries and individual mine profiles (Chapter 6), and shows the number of profiled mines and the estimated total methane liberated from these mines. Chapter 4 explains how these data were derived.

As of 2006, 23 of the profiled mines operate drainage systems. West Virginia has the largest number of mines with drainage systems with seven, followed by Alabama with five, Colorado and Pennsylvania with three each, Utah and Virginia with two each, and New Mexico with one. In 2006, the 23 mines operating drainage systems reported an estimated 168 mmcf/d of methane drained, or about 60 Bcf/yr. These mines have drainage efficiencies ranging from 3% to 88%. Table 9 in Chapter 5 shows mines that employ drainage systems, the type of drainage system used, and estimated drainage efficiency.

Table 1-1 shows that about 35% of the total estimated methane liberated from all profiled mines is being used. Table 1-1 also shows estimated annual methane emissions from the mines that are operating but not using methane and the estimated annual methane emissions that would be avoided by implementing methane recovery and use projects at these mines, assuming a 20-60% range of recovery efficiency (i.e. the portion of total methane liberated that is recovered and utilized). Based on these recovery efficiencies, if methane recovery projects were implemented at profiled mines that are currently operating but do not recover methane, an estimated 9-28 Bcf/yr of additional methane emissions would be avoided. This is equivalent to about 4-12 MMTCO<sub>2</sub>e. Moreover, there is significant potential for increased methane recovery at many of the mines that already have recovery projects.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Please see Chapter 4 for a more detailed discussion of this issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Blue Creek No. 5, Dakota No. 2, Wabash, and VP 8 mines were all active in 2006, but have since been abandoned.

Table 1-1: U.S. Summary Table							
Number of Profiled Mines and Estimated Methane Liberated and Used in 2006 <sup>1</sup>							
	Operating but not Using Methane		Operating and Using Methane		All Mines Profiled in This Report		
State	Number of Mines	Total Methane Liberated (mmcf/d)	Number of Mines	Total Methane Liberated (mmcf/d)	Number of Mines	Total Methane Liberated (mmcf/d)	Estimated Methane Use (mmcf/d)
Alabama	1	4.9	5	76.4	6	81.3	47.5
Colorado	3	10.3	1	18.2	4	28.6	0.5
Illinois	4	13.6	0	0.0	4	13.6	0.0
Indiana	1	3.1	0	0.0	1	3.1	0.0
Kentucky	5	5.3	0	0.0	5	5.3	0.0
New Mexico	1	6.5	0	0.0	1	6.5	0.0
Ohio	2	3.9	0	0.0	2	3.9	0.0
Oklahoma	1	0.9	0	0.0	1	0.9	0.0
Pennsylvania	3	25.9	2	17.5	5	43.4	5.7
Utah	3	12.1	0	0.0	3	12.1	0.0
Virginia	3	5.7	2	91.4	5	97.0	63.9
West Virginia	<u>9</u>	35.3	4	33.4	<u>13</u>	68.7	9.1
TOTAL <sup>2</sup> :	36	127.5	14	236.8	50	364.3	126.7
Estimated Emissions and Avoided Emissions of Methane and CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent from Operating Mines not Currently Using Methane (Bcf/y) (mmt/y) (36 mines):							
2006 Estimated	2006 Estimated Total Emissions46.520.7					20.7	
Estimated Annu Implemented	Estimated Annual Avoided Emissions if Recovery Projects are 9.3 – 27.9 4.1 – 12.4 Implemented						4.1 – 12.4
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these data were estimated.							
<sup>2</sup> Values shown	i here do n	ot always sum	n to totals o	due to rounding.			

#### Overview of U.S. Mining Industry Since 2003

Significant changes have occurred in the U.S. mining industry since 2003 when this report was last updated. Total coal production has increased since the 2003 level of 1,071 million short tons, reaching back-to-back record levels in 2005 and 2006. 2006 coal production was 1,162 million short tons, 31 million short tons higher than the previous record set in 2005. Furthermore, 2006 is the third consecutive year with coal production of 1,100 million short tons or more. Much of the increase in coal production is attributable to surface mines, which have seen coal production grow by 12% from 2003 to 2006, while underground coal production has grown by only 2% over the same period. The overall number of mining operations in the U.S. continued to decline in 2006, especially in the Appalachian region where a significant number of smaller mining operations are located. In January 2006, two different incidents at the Sago and Aracoma mines in West Virginia led to new legislation at both the Federal and state level requiring improvement in safety at underground mines.

This report includes profiles of nine mines that did not appear in the previously. Four new gassy mines have opened since 2003:

- McClane Canyon mine (CO)
- Jones Fork E-3 mine (KY)
- E3-1 mine (KY)
- Miles Branch mine (VA)

Five other mines profiled in 2006 for the first time became gassier than before:

- Bowie No. 2 mine (CO)
- Pattiki mine (IL)
- Dotiki mine (KY)
- Century mine (OH)
- No. 2 mine (VA)

Since 2003, CMM recovery and use projects came online at three mines:

- Cumberland mine (PA)
- Emerald mine (PA)
- Loveridge No. 22 mine (WV)

One project suspended methane utilization:

• San Juan South mine (NM)

Nine mines profiled in 2003 are not included in this report:

- One mine has been closed:
  - Baker mine in Kentucky (KY)
- The other eight mines are less gassy in 2006 than they were in 2003:
  - Elkhart mine (IL)
  - Cardinal mine (KY)
  - Clean Energy No. 1 mine (KY)
  - E3RF mine (now No. 10 mine) (KY)
  - Freedom Energy No. 1 mine (KY)
  - Mine #1 (KY)
  - Sentinel mine (WV)
  - Upper Big Branch-South (WV)

Other developments having a significant impact on mining operations and/or production are highlighted below in the year they occurred:

#### 2004

- Loveridge No. 22 (WV) resumed coal production after temporarily being idled in 2003 due to a fire.
- Production at McElroy (WV) increased by 1.6 million short tons after the installation of a second longwall unit.
- Elk Creek mine (CO) production increased by 2 million short tons, helping Colorado coal production to reach record levels.

#### 2005

- A fire at the Buchanan (VA) mine in February 2005 closed the mine for four months. In September the conveyor that transports coal to the surface malfunctioned, impacting mining for an additional four months.
- West Elk (CO) mine was temporarily closed due to high carbon monoxide levels, impacting production in late 2005.
- Blue Creek No. 5 (AL) was idled for a period due to water ingress problems. Production at Blue Creek No. 7 (AL) was reduced as the mine encountered adverse geological conditions. Issues at both mines were resolved in the fourth quarter of 2005.

#### 2006

- Buchanan mine (VA) came back online, contributing to the increase in overall coal production in Virginia by 7.2% over 2005 levels.
- West Elk mine (CO) was idled in the first quarter of 2006 due to a combustion event in October 2005.
- Production at Shoal Creek (AL) declined after a series of methane ignitions and a roof collapse in February.
- Shoemaker mine (WV) was idled in April 2006.
- Blue Creek No. 4 (AL) production declined due to thin seam conditions and weak roof conditions experienced in April 2006. This resulted in a longwall move.

While most of the data found in the mine profiles contained in this report are based on 2006 data (the most recent, complete data set available) some other more-recent developments are worth noting:

- As planned, Blue Creek No. 5 (AL) was abandoned (mining operations ceased in 2006). Depletion of reserves and adverse geological conditions were the reasons for abandonment.
- Blue Creek No. 7 (AL) added a longwall unit and 3 continuous miner sections. Jim Walter Resources (JWR) hopes to increase production by 2.7 million short tons to help replace the lost production from Blue Creek No. 5 (AL). The longwall unit should be operational in early 2009. The prep plant at No. 5 will serve the expansion at No. 7.
- Shoal Creek (AL) resumed operations helping replace some of the lost production in Alabama associated with the shutdown of Blue Creek No. 5 (AL).
- Elk Creek (CO) mine was expanded and production increased by 1.1 million short tons in 2007.
- Wabash mine (IL) was placed on long-term idle status in April 2007, and VP 8 (VA) and Dakota No. 2 (WV) were abandoned in 2007.
- Production at West Ridge (UT) increased by greater than 1 million short tons in 2007.
- Cleveland-Cliffs acquired PinnOak Resources (Oak Grove and Pinnacle mines) in July 2007.
- In July 2007, production at Buchanan mine (VA) was suspended after several roof falls in previously mined areas damaged some of the ventilation controls inside the mine. The mine was reopened in January 2008. As a result, production at the mine was 44% below 2006 levels.
- Also in January 2008, a fire at Eighty-Four mine (PA) closed the mine for 2 weeks.

#### Summary of Opportunities for Project Development

Most underground coal mines still do not recover and use methane. However, the profiles in this report indicate that many of these mines appear to be strong candidates for cost-effective recovery projects. Furthermore, this report contains information suggesting that substantial environmental, economic, and energy benefits could be achieved if mines that currently emit methane were to recover and use it.

The mines profiled in this report are quite variable in terms of the amount of methane they liberate, their gassiness or "specific emissions" (methane liberated per ton of coal mined), and their annual coal production. The volume of methane liberated from each mine ranges from less than 0.8 mmcf/d to over

70 mmcf/d. Similarly, specific emissions range from 71 cf/ton to approximately 6,695 cf/ton<sup>6</sup>. Annual coal production ranges from approximately 200,000 tons at some mines to over 10 million tons per year at others. These metrics affect each mine's potential as a project opportunity. Furthermore, as shown in the profiles (Chapter 6), the candidate mines vary with respect to other important metrics, such as the distance from the mine to a pipeline or the projected remaining productive life of the mine. Accordingly, the overall feasibility of developing a methane recovery project will likely vary widely among the candidate mines.

Although a number of the mines profiled here show strong potential for profitable projects, methane ventures at these mines face barriers to coal mine methane development, including market incentives and regulatory structures. Gas prices have improved, increasing the economic benefits of coalbed methane recovery. Restructuring of the gas industry has created new market opportunities for coal mine methane, and the potential for distributed generation is increasing as a result of electricity industry restructuring. At the same time, utilities and other industries are seeking opportunities to offset greenhouse gas emissions and to develop "environmentally friendly" projects. While the U.S. has not ratified the Kyoto Protocol, voluntary markets have emerged where carbon credits generated from methane reductions at coal mines can be traded. If projects are initiated at even a few of the mines profiled here, substantial methane emissions reductions and increased profits for developers could be achieved, thereby benefiting the U.S. economy and the global environment.

The following chapters are in this report:

- Chapter 2 provides an introduction to coal mine methane in the U.S., including a discussion of major developments in the coal mine methane recovery industry that have transpired since publication of the previous version of this report in 2005.
- Chapter 3 discusses current coal mine methane recovery and use projects in the U.S.
- Chapter 4 provides a key to evaluating the mine profiles.
- Chapter 5 presents the mine summary tables.
- Chapter 6 lists state summaries and actual mine profiles, which should assist potential investors in assessing the overall potential project profitability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CONSOL Energy's VP 8 mine in Virginia had specific emissions of 24,295 cf/ton based on total methane liberated in 2006. However, the mine was shut down in spring 2006 but gas recovery continued, leading to elevated methane liberated per ton of coal produced. Based on first quarter coal production – the last full quarter of production – of 0.259 million short tons and quarterly methane liberation of 1,734 mmcf, specific emissions for the last full quarter of operation were 6,695 cf/ton.

## 2. Introduction

#### 2. Introduction

#### **Purpose of Report**

This report provides information about specific opportunities to develop methane recovery and use projects at large underground mines in the United States. The audience for this report consists of those who may be interested in identifying such opportunities, including utilities, natural gas resource developers, independent power producers, and local industries or institutions that could directly use the methane recovered from a nearby mine.

This introduction provides a broad overview of the technical, economic, regulatory, and environmental issues concerning methane recovery from coal mines. The report also presents an overview of existing methane recovery and use projects (Chapter 3). Chapter 4 contains information that will assist the reader in understanding and evaluating the data presented in Chapters 5 and 6. Chapter 5 contains data summary tables, and finally, Chapter 6 profiles individual underground coal mines that appear to be good candidates for the development of methane recovery projects.

#### **Recent Developments in the Coal Mine Methane Industry**

Since the last version of this document was published in September 2005, there have been significant developments in coal mine methane recovery, particularly in the number of active recovery and use projects. The number of mines with active methane recovery and use projects has increased from 12 in 2003 to 14 in 2006. As a result, the amount of methane recovered has increased by 10% from 42 Bcf in 2003 to over 46 Bcf in 2006. Assuming an average gas price of  $6.40/\text{mcf}^7$ , coal mine methane developers had estimated revenues of more than \$295 million in 2006. The resulting decrease in methane emissions has benefited the global environment by reducing greenhouse gas emissions by nearly 21 million tons of CO<sub>2</sub>e in 2006. Figure 2-1 shows the number of mines engaging in coal mine methane recovery and use since 1994. Figure 2-2 shows the growth in the gas recovered from these projects.

The growth in recovered methane since 1990 can be attributed to five primary factors:

- (1) Continued use in natural gas pipelines
- (2) Use for a variety of purposes besides pipeline injection
- (3) Legislation concerning ownership issues has been enacted in most coalbed methane producing states
- (4) Various projects have proven the profit-generating potential of coal mine methane recovery
- (5) Growing awareness of the climate change impacts of methane emissions

Furthermore, the issuance of FERC Orders 636 in 1992 and 888 in 1996 continue to remove barriers to free and open competition in the natural gas and electric utility industries, respectively. As a result of these orders, coal mine methane developers have been encountering fewer problems accessing the available capacity of the nation's gas and electric transmission lines.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Average wellhead price for 2006 according to EIA <<u>http://tonto.eia.doe.gov/dnav/ng/ng\_pri\_sum\_dcu\_nus\_a.htm</u>>



Figure 2-1: Mines with Active Coal Mine Methane Recovery and Use Projects

Figure 2-2: Estimated Annual Use of Methane Recovered From U.S. Coal Mines (based on publicly available information)



#### **Overview of Coal Mine Methane**

Methane and coal are formed together during coalification, a process in which vegetation is converted by geological and biological forces into coal. Methane is stored in large quantities within coal seams and also within the rock strata surrounding the seams. Two of the most important factors determining the amount of methane that will be stored in a coal seam and the surrounding strata are the rank and the depth of the coal. Coal is ranked by its carbon content; coals of a higher rank have a higher carbon content and generally a higher methane content.<sup>8</sup> The capacity to store methane increases as pressure increases with depth. Thus, within a given coal rank, deep coal seams tend to have a higher methane content than shallow ones.

Methane concentrations typically increase with depth; therefore, underground mines tend to release significantly higher quantities of methane per ton of coal mined than do surface mines. In 2006, while only 31% of U.S. coal was produced in underground mines, these mines accounted for over 60% of estimated methane emissions from coal mining (USEPA, 2008). Among underground mines, the largest and gassiest mines typically have the best potential for profitable recovery and utilization of methane. Although the options for recovering and using methane are primarily available for underground mines, gas recovery at surface mines may also be feasible.

Methane emissions resulting from coal mining activities account for 6% of annual global methane emissions from anthropogenic (man-made) sources. In 2005, China was the largest emitter of coal mine methane, followed by the United States and then Ukraine, Russia, North Korea, and Australia (USEPA, 2006b). In 2006, coal mining emissions were estimated to account for 10.5% of total U.S. methane emissions (USEPA, 2008), down from 11.2% in 1995.

In underground mines, methane poses a serious safety hazard for miners because it is explosive in low concentrations (5 to 15% in air). In the U.S., MSHA requires that methane concentrations in the mine may not exceed 1% in mine working areas and 2% in all other locations. In many underground mines, methane emissions can be controlled solely through the use of a ventilation system, which pumps large quantities of air through the mine in order to dilute the methane to safe levels. The coal mine methane released to the atmosphere by the mine ventilation system is typically below 1%. This methane vented from coal mine exhaust shafts constitutes the largest source of coal mine methane emissions in the U.S. In 2006, for example, 81 Bcf or 60% of the 135 Bcf released from underground mines was released through mine ventilation systems (USEPA, 2008).

In particularly gassy mines, however, the ventilation system must be supplemented with a drainage system. Drainage systems reduce the quantity of methane in the working areas by draining the gas from the coal-bearing strata before, during, or after mining, depending on mining needs. Emissions from drainage systems are estimated to account for approximately 40% of the total methane emissions from underground coal mining. At least 23 of the mines profiled in this report have some type of drainage system.

#### Methane Drainage Techniques

Over the years, mine operators have realized the economic benefits of employing drainage systems. For mines that have drainage systems in place, the cost of ventilation is significantly reduced because the drainage systems recover a significant percentage of the associated methane. Use of methane drainage systems also help reduce production costs, as there are typically fewer methane-related delays at mines that employ drainage systems (Kim and Mutmansky, 1990). Today, methane drainage is a proven technology and much of the gas that is recovered can be used in various applications.

While drainage systems are currently used primarily for economic and safety reasons to ensure that methane concentrations remain below acceptable levels, these systems recover methane that also can be employed as an energy source. The quantity and quality of the methane recovered will vary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In descending order, the ranks of coal are: graphite, anthracite, bituminous, sub-bituminous, and lignite. Most U.S. production is bituminous or sub-bituminous.

according to the method used. The quality of the recovered methane is measured by its heating value. Pure methane has a heating value of about 1000 British Thermal Units per cubic foot (Btu/cf), while a mixture of 50% methane and 50% air has a heating value of approximately 500 Btu/cf.

Drainage methods include vertical wells (vertical pre-mine), gob wells (vertical gob), longhole horizontal boreholes, and horizontal and cross-measure boreholes. The preferred recovery method will depend, in part, on mining methods and on how the methane will be used. In some cases, an integrated approach using a combination of the above drainage methods will lead to the highest recovery of methane. The key features of the methane recovery methods are discussed in more detail below and are summarized in Table 2-1.

#### Vertical Pre-Mining Wells

Vertical pre-mining wells are the optimal method for recovering high quality gas from the coal seam and the surrounding strata before mining operations begin. Pre-mine drainage ensures that the recovered methane will not be contaminated with ventilation air from mine working areas. Similar in design to conventional oil and gas wells, vertical wells can be drilled into the coal seam several years in advance of mining. Vertical wells, which may require hydraulic or nitrogen fracturing of the coal seam to activate the flow of methane, typically produce gas of over 90% purity. However, these wells may produce large quantities of water and small volumes of methane during the first several months they are in operation. As this water is removed and the pressure in the coal seam is lowered, methane production increases.

The total amount of methane recovered using vertical pre-drainage will depend on site-specific conditions and on the number of years the wells are drilled prior to the start of mining. Recovery of from 50 to over 70% of the methane that would otherwise be emitted during mining operations is likely for operations in which vertical degasification wells are drilled more than 10 years in advance of mining. Although not previously used widely in the coal mining industry, vertical wells are increasing in popularity within the coal industry, and are used by numerous stand-alone operations<sup>9</sup> that produce methane from coal seams for sale to natural gas pipelines. In some very low permeability coal seams, vertical wells may not be a cost-effective technology due to limited methane flow. Vertical wells, however, will likely continue to be a viable recovery technology for most underground mines.

Six of the underground U.S. coal mines currently employing methane drainage systems use vertical pre-mining wells. A majority of these mines already recover methane for pipeline sales (see section on existing methane recovery and use projects). Figure 2-3 illustrates a vertical pre-mine well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The term "stand-alone" refers to coalbed methane operations that recover methane for its own economic value. In most cases, these operations recover methane from deep and gassy coal seams that are not likely to be mined in the near future.



#### Figure 2-3: Vertical Pre-Mining Gob, and Horizontal Boreholes

#### Gob Wells

Gob wells are drilled from the surface to a point 10 to 50 feet above the target seam prior to mining. As mining advances under the well, the methane-charged strata surrounding the well fracture. Relaxation and collapse of strata surrounding the coal seam creates a fractured zone known as the "gob" area, which is a significant source of methane. Methane emitted from the gob flows into the gob well and up to the surface. A vacuum is frequently used on the gob wells to prevent methane from entering mine working areas.

Initially, gob wells produce nearly pure methane. Over time, however, additional amounts of mine air can flow into the gob area and dilute the methane. The heating value of "gob gas" normally ranges between 300 and 800 Btu/cf. In some cases, it is possible to maintain nearly pure methane production from gob wells through careful monitoring and management. Jim Walter Resources, CONSOL, and Peabody are all using techniques for producing high-quality gas from gob wells by "upgrading" the gas to remove contaminants. Gas production rates from gob wells can be very high, especially immediately following the fracturing of the strata as mining advances under the well. Jim Walter Resources reports that gob wells initially produce at rates in excess of two million cubic feet per day. Over time, production rates typically decline until a relatively stable rate is achieved, typically in the range of 100 mcf/d. Depending on the number and spacing of the wells, gob wells can recover an estimated 30% to over 50% of methane emissions associated with coal mining (USEPA, 1990).

Twenty-three of the underground U.S. coal mines currently employing methane drainage systems use surface gob wells to reduce methane levels in mine working areas. Most mines release methane drained from gob wells into the atmosphere. Figure 2-3 illustrates a vertical gob well.

#### Horizontal Boreholes

Horizontal boreholes are drilled inside the mine (as opposed to from the surface) and they drain methane from the unmined areas of the coal seam, or from blocked out longwall panels shortly before mining takes place. These boreholes are typically 400 to 800 feet in length. Several hundred boreholes may be drilled within a single mine and connected to an in-mine vacuum piping system, which transports the methane out of the mine and to the surface. Most often, horizontal boreholes are used for short-term methane emissions relief during mining. Because methane drainage only occurs from the mined coal seam (and not from the surrounding strata), the recovery efficiency of this technique is low – approximately 10 to 18% of methane that would otherwise be emitted (USEPA, 1990). However, this methane typically can have a heating value of over 950 Btu/cf (USEPA, 1991). Approximately nine of the underground U.S. coal mines currently employing methane drainage systems use this technique to reduce the quantity of methane in mine working areas. Figures 2-3 and 2-4 illustrate horizontal boreholes.





#### Longhole Horizontal Boreholes

Like horizontal boreholes, longhole horizontal boreholes are drilled from inside the mine in advance of mining. They are greater than 1000 feet in length and are drilled in unmined seams using directional drilling techniques. Longhole horizontal boreholes produce nearly pure methane with a recovery efficiency of about 50% and therefore can be used when high quality gas is desired. This technique is most effective for gassy, low permeability coal seams that require long diffusion periods. Both West Elk mine in Colorado and San Juan South mine in New Mexico have employed longhole horizontal boreholes in their drainage programs.

#### Cross-Measure Boreholes

Cross-measure boreholes degasify the overlying and underlying rock strata surrounding the target coal seam. These boreholes are drilled inside the mine and they drain methane with a heating value similar to that of gob wells. Cross-measure boreholes have been used extensively in Europe and Asia but are not widely used in the United States where surface gob wells are preferred. West Elk mine in Colorado has employed cross-measured boreholes in the past but did not find them effective. Figure 2-4 illustrates cross-measure boreholes.

Table 2-1						
Summary of Drainage Methods						
Method	Description	Gas Quality	Drainage Efficiency <sup>a</sup>	Current Use in U.S. Coal Mines <sup>b</sup>		
Vertical Pre- Mine Wells	Drilled from surface to coal seam months or years in advance of mining.	Produces nearly pure methane.	up to 70%	Used by 6 mines.		
Gob Wells	Drilled from surface to a few feet above coal seam just prior to mining.	Produces methane that is sometimes contaminated with mine air.	up to 50%	Used by 23 mines.		
Horizontal Boreholes	Drilled from inside the mine to degasify the coal seam shortly prior to mining.	Produces nearly pure methane.	up to 20%	Used by 9 mines.		
Longhole Horizontal Boreholes	Drilled from inside the mine to degasify the coal seam shortly prior to mining.	Produces nearly pure methane.	up to 50%	Previously used by at least 2 mines.		
Cross-measure Boreholes	Drilled from inside the mine to degasify surrounding rock strata shortly prior to mining.	Produces methane that is sometimes contaminated with mine air.	Up to 20%	Not widely used in the U.S. <sup>c</sup>		
Source: USEPA	(1993); MSHA (2007); U	ISEPA (2008)				
<sup>a</sup> Percent of total methane liberated that is drained						
<sup>b</sup> Accurate only at the time of publication of this report: may vary often as mining progresses.						
<sup>°</sup> Used at West Elk and San Juan mines at one time.						

#### **Utilization Options**

Once recovered, coal mine methane is an energy source available for many different applications. Potential utilization options are pipeline injection, electricity generation, and direct use in on-site prepplants or to fuel mine vehicles, or at nearby industrial or institutional facilities. Following is a discussion of various utilization methods. Table 2-2 shows the potential uses for gas produced in CMM drainage operations.

Table 2-2 Potential Uses for Gas Produced in CMM Drainage Operations					
ation Options					
s pipeline fuel (>97% eedstock for methanol, and acetic ction (>89% CH <sub>4</sub> ) ation fuel as ad or liquefied gas th propane or other ncrease Btu content to uality <i>i</i> th coal in utility and coilers ternal combustion 20% CH <sub>4</sub> ) at through gas 2 er treatment (>50% se heating ace use (as at to natural gas) o of liquefied gas 4) ermal dryers in a coal g plant icro-turbines (>35% eating mine facilities eating mine intake air					
n air in power $(<1.0\% CH_4)$ $(<1.0\% CH_4)$ n air in internal n engines or turbines (+) n to energy using echnologies (<1.0%) the U.S. drained gas					

Source: modified from USEPA (1999b)

#### **Pipeline Injection**

Methane liberated during coal mining may be recovered and collected for sale to pipeline companies. Typical pipeline standards require a methane concentration of at least 95% methane. The key issues that will determine project feasibility are: 1) whether the recovered gas can meet pipeline quality standards; and 2) whether the costs of production, processing, compression, and transportation are

competitive with other gas sources. Fortunately, the U.S. not only has an extensive pipeline network with many pipelines located in the major coal mining regions, it also benefits from natural gas prices that are relatively high compared to other countries.

U.S. experience demonstrates that selling recovered methane to a pipeline can be profitable for mining companies and is by far the most popular use method. As shown in Table 2-3, 12 U.S. mines currently sell methane from their drainage systems to local pipeline companies. Chapter 3 contains additional information on these projects.

#### Technical Feasibility

The primary technical consideration involved in collecting coal mine methane for pipeline sales is that the recovered methane must meet the standards for "pipeline quality"<sup>10</sup> gas. First, it must have a methane concentration of at least 95% and contain no more than a 2% concentration of inert gases (i.e., carbon dioxide, nitrogen, helium). Additionally, any non-methane hydrocarbons are usually removed from the gas stream for other uses. Hydrogen sulfide (which mixes with water to make sulfuric acid) and hydrogen (which makes pipes brittle) must also be removed before the gas is introduced into the pipeline system. Finally, any water or sand produced with the gas must be removed to prevent damage to the system. While coalbed methane requires water removal, it is often free of hydrogen sulfide and other impurities typically found in natural gas. With proper recovery and treatment, coalbed methane can meet the requirements for pipeline quality gas.

Table 2-3Current Coal Mine Methane Pipeline Projects at Profiled Mines					
Mining Company	Number of Active Mines	State			
Walter Industries	3	Alabama			
Cleveland-Cliffs	2	Alabama, West Virginia			
Drummond Company	1	Alabama			
Foundation Coal	2	Pennsylvania			
CONSOL Energy	4	Virginia, West Virginia			

Vertical degas wells are the preferred recovery method for producing pipeline quality methane from coal seams because pre-mining drainage ensures that the recovered methane is not contaminated with ventilation air from the working areas of the mine. Gob wells, in contrast, generally do not produce pipeline quality gas as the methane is frequently mixed with ventilation air. In certain cases, however, it is possible to maintain a higher and more consistent gas quality through careful monitoring and adjustment of the vacuum pressure in gob wells.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Natural gas pipeline quality specifications differ from pipeline to pipeline. Pipeline standards are set by FERC and/or individual pipeline companies. Additional information on interstate natural gas pipeline quality specifications is available at <a href="http://www.beg.utexas.edu/energyecon/lng/documents/CEE\_Interstate\_Natural\_Gas\_Quality\_Specifications\_and\_Interchang\_eability.pdf">http://www.beg.utexas.edu/energyecon/lng/documents/CEE\_Interstate\_Natural\_Gas\_Quality\_Specifications\_and\_Interchang\_eability.pdf</a>

It is also possible to *upgrade* or *enrich* gob gas to pipeline quality by using technologies that separate methane from carbon dioxide, oxygen, and/or nitrogen. Several technologies for separating methane are under development and may prove to be economically attractive and technically feasible with additional research (See EPA document "Upgrading Drained Coal Mine Methane to Pipeline Quality" available on the CMOP website at <u>http://www.epa.gov/cmop/docs/red24.pdf</u>). The first CMM upgrade facility in the U.S. was installed in 1997 in Southwestern Pennsylvania. Since then, 13 additional commercial-scale CMM upgrade facilities have come online at active and abandoned mines, and as of January 2008 three additional facilities are awaiting start up (USEPA, 2008c). One such project currently operating is at the Blue Creek No. 4, No. 5, and No. 7 mines operated by JWR where a cryogenic gas processing unit was installed in 2000 to upgrade medium-quality gas recovered from gob wells to pipeline quality gas. Pressure swing adsorption is also being utilized.

Another option for improving the quality of mine gas is known as *blending*, which is the mixing of lower Btu gas with higher Btu gas whose heating value exceeds pipeline requirements. As a result of blending, the Btu content of the overall mixture can meet acceptable levels for pipeline injection. For example, CONSOL is blending gob gas recovered from the VP 8 and Buchanan mines in Virginia with coalbed methane (CBM) production for pipeline injection.

Horizontal boreholes and longhole horizontal boreholes also can produce pipeline quality gas when the integrity of the in-mine piping system is closely monitored. However, the amount of methane produced from these methods is sometimes not large enough to warrant investments in the necessary surface facilities. In cases where mines are developing utilization strategies for larger amounts of gas recovered from vertical or gob wells, it may be possible to use the gas recovered from in-mine boreholes to supplement production.

For additional information on upgrading coal mine methane to pipeline quality see *USEPA, 2008c*. This report reviews current gas upgrading technologies available in the market for removal of typical CMM contaminants, provides examples of their successful commercial implementation, and compiles a list of vendors specific to nitrogen rejection systems, since nitrogen poses the biggest challenge to upgrading CMM.

#### **Profitability**

The overall profitability of recovering methane for pipeline injection will depend on a number of factors. These factors include the amount and quality of methane recovered (as discussed above), the capital and operating costs for wells, water disposal, compression and gathering systems, and most importantly, the price at which the recovered gas may be sold.

The costs for disposal of production water from vertical wells may be a significant factor in determining the economic viability of a project, as discussed later in this chapter ("Production Characteristics of Coalbed Methane Wells"). The cost of gas gathering lines is another consideration. Because costs for laying gathering lines are high, proximity to existing commercial pipelines is a significant factor in determining the economic viability of a coalbed methane project. Most coal mines are located within 20 miles of a commercial pipeline (See Chapter 6). However, in some cases, existing pipelines may have limited capacity for transporting additional gas supplies. Costs for laying gathering lines vary widely depending, in part, on terrain. The hilly and mountainous terrain in many mining areas increases the difficulty, and thus the cost, of installing gathering lines.

Another determinant of the overall profitability of a pipeline injection project is a mine's ability to find a purchaser for its recovered gas. A methane recovery project will also need to demonstrate that its recovered methane is of the requisite pipeline quality.

#### **Power Generation**

Coal mine methane may also be used as a fuel for power generation. Unlike pipeline injection, power generation does not require pipeline-quality methane. Gas turbines can generate electricity using methane that has a heat content of 350 Btu/cf. Mines can use electricity generated from recovered methane to meet their own on-site electricity requirements and can sell electricity generated in excess of on-site needs to utilities. An example is an 88 MW power generation station developed by CONSOL Energy and Allegheny Energy, placed near the VP 8 and Buchanan mines, fueled by coalbed methane and coal mine methane. Power generated is sold to the competitive wholesale market. The 88 MW project is one of the world's largest CMM-fired power plants. More typical are projects in the 1-10 MW range, such as a 1.2 MW project using internal combustion engines at the Federal No. 2 mine in West Virginia. Outside of the U.S., power generation is often the preferred option for using coal mine methane. Power generation projects using CMM are reported to be operating at coal mines in several other countries including China, Australia, United Kingdom, and Germany. When fully operational, the 120 MW CMM power project at Sihe coal mine in the southern part of Shanxi Province, China, will be the world's largest CMM-fired power plant.

#### Technical Feasibility

A methane/air mixture with a heating value of at least 350 Btu/cf is considered a suitable gaseous fuel for electricity generation. Accordingly, vertical degas wells, gob wells, and in-mine boreholes are all acceptable methods of recovering methane for generating power. Gas turbines, internal combustion (IC) engines, and boiler/steam turbines can all be adapted to generate electricity from coalbed methane. Fuel cells may also prove to be a promising option and were tested in 2003 at the Nelms Portal mine<sup>11</sup> in Ohio where a 250 kW Direct FuelCell<sup>®</sup>, manufactured by FuelCell Energy, Inc., was set up to deliver power to the local utility. The project, which was cost-shared by the Department of Energy, concluded that the use of fuel cells can generate power from CMM at high efficiencies (Steinfeld and Hunt, 2004).

Currently, the most likely generator choice for a CMM project would be either a gas turbine or an IC engine. Boiler/steam turbines are generally not cost effective in sizes below 30 MW, while gas turbines are not the optimal choice for projects requiring 1.5 MW or less. However, when used in the right applications gas turbines are smaller and lighter than IC engines and historically have had lower operation and maintenance costs.

While maintaining pipeline quality gas output from gob wells can be difficult, the heating value of gob gas is generally compatible with the combustion needs of gas turbines. One potential problem with using gob gas is that production, methane concentration, and rate of flow are generally not predictable; wide variations in the Btu content of the fuel may create operating difficulties. Equipment for blending the air and methane may be needed to ensure that variations in the heating value of the fuel remain within an acceptable range – approximately 10% allowable variability for gas turbines.

A potential advantage of using vertical pre-mine wells as the recovery method for power generation is that the quantity and quality of methane produced is more consistent than that of gob wells. Thus, problems stemming from variations in the heating value of the fuel would be minimized where vertical wells are employed. Another option is to blend high quality gas from vertical wells with lower quality gas from gob wells to ensure consistent quality. Horizontal boreholes also can produce gas of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Not profiled in this edition of the report.

consistently high quality. The limited quantity of gas produced by this method would likely need to be supplemented by larger quantities of methane from vertical or gob wells, however.

The level of electric capacity that may be generated depends on the amount of methane recovered and the "heat rate" (i.e., Btu to kWh conversion) of the generator. For example, simple cycle gas turbines typically have heat rates in the range of 10,000 Btu/kWh, while combined cycle gas turbines could have heat rates of 7,000 Btu/kWh. Assuming a conservative heat rate of 11,000 Btu/kWh, and assuming that mines could recover 35% of total emissions, the level of electric capacity that could be sustained by the top ten methane-emitting mines would likely exceed 10 MW per mine.

#### Profitability: Power Generation for On-Site Use

Given their large energy requirements, coal mines may realize significant economic savings by generating power from recovered methane. Nearly every piece of equipment in an underground mine operates on electricity, including mining machines, conveyor belts, ventilation fans, and elevators. Much of the equipment at typical mines is operated 250 days a year, two shifts per day. Ventilation systems, however, must run 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, and they demand a considerable amount of electricity – up to 60% of the mine's total needs (USBM, 1992).

A mine's total electricity needs can exceed 24 kWh per ton of coal mined. Since many of the largest underground mines in the U.S. produce more than 3 million tons of coal annually, they may purchase over 72 million kWh of electricity annually. At average industrial electricity rates of five cents per kWh, a mine's electricity bill can exceed several million dollars a year.

Coal preparation plants, which are frequently located at or near large mines, also consume a great deal of energy. Preparation involves crushing, cleaning, and drying the coal before its final sale. Coal drying operations require thermal energy, which could be generated by a turbine or engine in a cogeneration cycle. Coal preparation generally requires an additional 6 kWh per ton of coal (ICF Resources, 1990a). CONSOL recovers approximately 2 mmcf/d from the VP 8 and Buchanan mines for use in their thermal dryer.

Among the main factors in determining the economic viability of generating power for on-site use are the total amount and flow of the methane recovered, the capital costs of the generator, the expected lifetime of the project, and the price the mine pays for the electricity it uses. A mine would need to be fairly large to recover an amount of methane that would justify the capital expenditures for a generator and other equipment needed for utilizing power on-site. Moreover, because the \$/kW capital cost of a generator is relatively high in terms of the overall economics of a coalbed methane power project, the mine would need to generate power for several years in order to justify the capital investment. A final economic consideration is the cost of back-up power, which is typically supplied by a utility and is essential for mining operations given their safety considerations.

#### Profitability: Off-Site Sale to a Utility

Large and gassy coal mines may be able to generate electric power from recovered methane in excess of their own power requirements. In such cases, a mine may be able to profit from selling power to a nearby utility. Additionally, under some circumstances, a mine might arrange to sell electricity to a utility, but continue to purchase electricity from the utility for its own on-site use. The economic feasibility of selling power off-site would depend on the amount of electricity that could be generated, the incremental costs of selling power to a utility, and the price received for the electricity.

If a mine is generating power to meet its own electricity needs, the incremental costs of selling excess power off-site are relatively low. Normally, a coal mine already has a large transmission line running from a main transmission line to the mine substation. In most cases, this same line could be used to transmit power from the mine back to the utility. For some mines, an interconnection facility or line upgrades may be needed to feed this additional power into the main line.

#### Ventilation Air Methane Use Technologies

Ventilation air methane (VAM), the dilute methane emitted from mine ventilation shafts, is now recognized as an unused source of energy and a potent atmospheric greenhouse gas (GHG). A host of recently introduced technologies can reduce ventilation air methane emissions, while harnessing methane's energy, and can offer significant benefits to the world community.

USEPA has identified several viable technologies for destroying or beneficially using the methane contained in ventilation air:

- (1) Two technologies based on a thermal oxidation process using thermal flow-reversal reactors (TFRR): The VOCSIDIZER<sup>™</sup> developed by MEGTEC Systems (De Pere, Wisconsin, United States), and the VAMOX<sup>™</sup> system from Biothermica Technologies Inc. (Montreal, Canada).
- (2) A catalytic oxidation process called the Catalytic Flow-Reversal Reactor (CFRR), developed by a consortium of Canadian interests including CANMET.

These technologies employ similar principles to oxidize methane contained in mine ventilation airflows. Based on laboratory and field experience, these units can sustain operation (i.e., can maintain oxidation) with ventilation air having uniform methane concentrations down to approximately 0.1% and 0.2% for the CFRR and TFRR processes, respectively (Su et al., 2005). For practical field applications where methane concentrations are likely to vary over time, however, this analysis assumes that a practical average lower concentration limit at which oxidizers will function reliably is 1.5%.

In addition, a variety of other technologies such as boilers, engines, and turbines may use ventilation airflows as combustion air. At least two other technology families may also prove to be viable candidates for beneficially using VAM. These are VOC concentrators and new lean fuel gas turbines.

#### Thermal Flow Reversal Reactor

Figure 2-5 shows a schematic of the Thermal Flow Reversal Reactor (TFRR). The equipment consists of a bed of silica gravel or ceramic heat-exchange medium with a set of electric heating elements in the center. The TFRR process employs the principle of regenerative heat exchange between a gas and a solid bed of heat-exchange medium. To start the operation, electric heating elements preheat the middle of the bed to the temperature required to initiate methane oxidation (above 1,000°C or 1,832°F) or hotter. Ventilation air at ambient temperature enters and flows through the reactor in one direction and its temperature increases until oxidation of the methane takes place near the center of the bed.

The hot products of oxidation continue through the bed, losing heat to the far side of the bed in the process. When the far side of the bed is sufficiently hot, the reactor automatically reverses the direction of ventilation airflow. The ventilation air now enters the far (hot) side of the bed, where it encounters auto-oxidation temperatures near the center of the bed and then oxidizes. The hot gases

again transfer heat to the near (cold) side of the bed and exit the reactor. Then, the process again reverses.

TFRR units are effectively employed worldwide to oxidize industrial VOC streams. Recently, their ability to oxidize VAM has been demonstrated in the field. In April 2007, the first ever U.S. demonstration of TFRR technology (VOCSIDIZER<sup>™</sup>) became operational at CONSOL Energy's Windsor Mine Portal, a closed, underground mine in West Virginia. The world's first commercial-scale VAM-to-power project became fully operational in September 2007 at BHP Billiton's West Cliff Colliery in New South Wales, Australia.

In May 2008, MSHA authorized Biothermica to conduct a demonstration project at JWR's Blue Creek No. 4 mine using the VAMOX<sup>™</sup> regenerative thermal oxidation system to destroy VAM before it is released to the atmosphere. In 2009, the company plans to commission a second North American demonstration project at the Quinsam coal mine (Hillsborough Resources Limited) near Campbell River, in British Columbia. This project will use an alternative configuration of the VAMOX<sup>™</sup> system, based on the same technology.

#### Catalytic Flow Reversal Reactor

Catalytic flow reversal reactors (CFRR) adapt the thermal flow reversal technology described above by including a catalyst to reduce the auto-oxidation temperature of methane by several hundred degrees Celsius (to as low as 350°C or 662°F). CFRR technology was developed exclusively for the treatment of methane in coal mine ventilation air. CANMET has demonstrated this system in pilot plants and is now in the process of licensing the design. CANMET is also studying energy recovery options for profitable turbine electricity generation. Injecting a small amount of methane (gob gas or other source) increases the methane concentration in ventilation air and can make the turbine function more efficiently. Waste heat from the oxidizer is also used to pre-heat the compressed air before it enters the expansion side of the gas turbine.



Figure 2-5. Thermal Flow-Reversal Reactor

#### Energy Conversion from a Flow-Reversal Reactor

There are two primary options for converting the heat of oxidation from a flow-reversal reactor to electric power, which is the most marketable form of energy in most locations:

- Use water as a working fluid. Pressurize the water and force it through an air-to-water heat exchanger in a section of the reactor that will provide a non-destructive temperature environment (below 800°C or 1472°F). Flash the hot pressurized water to steam and use the steam to drive a steam turbine-generator. If a market for steam or hot water is available, send exhausted steam to that market. If none is available, condense the steam and return the water to the pump to repeat the process.
- Use air as a working fluid. Pressurize ventilation air or ambient air and send it through an air-toair heat exchanger that is embedded in a section of the reactor that stays below 800°C (1472°F). Direct the compressed hot air through a gas turbine-generator. If gob gas is available, use it to raise the temperature of the working fluid to more nearly match the design temperature of the turbine inlet. Use the turbine exhaust for cogeneration, if thermal markets are available.

Since affordable heat exchanger temperature limits are below those used in modern prime movers, efficiencies for both of the energy conversion strategies listed above will be fairly modest. The use of a gas turbine, the second method listed, is the energy conversion technology assumed for the cost estimates in this report. At a VAM concentration of 0.5% one vendor expects an overall plant efficiency in the neighborhood of 17% after accounting for power allocated to drive the fans that force ventilation air through the reactor.

#### Other Technologies

EPA has also identified other technologies that may be able to play a role in and enhance opportunities for VAM oxidation projects. These are briefly described below.

#### Concentrators

Volatile organic compound (VOC) concentrators offer another possible economical option for application to VAM. During the past 10 years the use of such units to raise the concentration of VOCs in industrial-process air exhaust streams that are sent to VOC oxidizers has increased. Smaller oxidizer units are now used to treat these exhaust streams, which in turn has reduced capital and operating costs for the oxidizer systems. Ventilation air typically contains about 0.5% methane concentration by volume. Conceivably, a concentrator might be capable of increasing the methane concentration in ventilation airflows to about 20%. The highly reduced gas volume with a higher concentrators also may prove effective in raising the methane concentration of very dilute VAM flows to levels that will support oxidation in a TFRR or CFRR.

#### Lean Fuel Gas Turbines

A number of engineering teams are striving to modify selected gas turbine models to operate directly on VAM or on VAM that has been enhanced with more concentrated fuels, including concentrated VAM (see "Concentrator" section above) or gob gas. These efforts include:

• **Carbureted gas turbine.** A carbureted gas turbine (CGT) is a gas turbine in which the fuel enters as a homogeneous mixture via the air inlet to an aspirated turbine. It requires a fuel/air mixture of 1.6% by volume, so most VAM sources would require enrichment. Combustion takes place in an external combustor where the reaction is at a lower temperature (1200°C or 2192°F) than for a normal turbine thus eliminating any NOx emissions. Energy Developments Limited (EDL) of Australia has tested the CGT on ventilation air at the Appin coal mine in New South Wales, Australia.

- Lean-fueled turbine with catalytic combustor. CSIRO Exploration & Mining of Australia, a government research organization, is developing a catalytic combustion gas turbine (CCGT) that can use methane in coal mine ventilation air. The CCGT technology being developed oxidizes VAM in conjunction with a catalyst. The turbine compresses a very lean fuel/air mixture and combusts it in a catalytic combustor. CSIRO hopes to operate the system on a 1.0% methane mixture to minimize supplemental fuel requirements. In 2006, CSIRO, together with China's Shanghai Jiaotong University and Huainan Coal Mining Group, announced plans to construct the first pilot-scale demonstration of a low-heating value gas turbine (VAMCAT) at a coal mine in China. The unit will be powered by about 1% methane in ventilation air with an estimated power output of 10-30 kW (USEPA, 2006a).
- Lean-fueled catalytic microturbine. Two U.S. companies, FlexEnergy and Capstone Turbine Corporation, are jointly developing a line of microturbines, starting at 30 kW that will operate on a methane-in-air mixture of 1.3%.
- Hybrid coal and VAM-fueled gas turbine. CSIRO is also developing an innovative system to oxidize and generate electricity with VAM in combination with waste coal. CSIRO is constructing a 1.2-MW pilot plant that cofires waste coal and VAM in a rotary kiln, captures the heat in a high-temperature air-to-air heat exchanger, and uses the clean, hot air to power a gas turbine. Depending on site needs and economic conditions, VAM can provide from about 15 to over 80% (assuming a VAM mixture of 1.0%) of the system's fuel needs, while waste coal provides the remainder.

#### VAM Used as an Ancillary Fuel

VAM can also be used as an ancillary or supplemental fuel. Such technologies rely on a primary fuel other than VAM and are able to accept VAM as all or part of their combustion air to replace a small fraction of the primary fuel. The largest example of ancillary VAM occurs at the Appin and Tower Collieries in Australia, where 94 one-MW Caterpillar engines used mine ventilation air containing VAM as combustion air. In addition, the Australian utility, Powercoal, is installing a system to use VAM as combustion air for a large coal-fired steam power plant. The U.S. Department of Energy funded a research project to use VAM in concentrations up to 0.5% as combustion air in a turbine manufactured by Solar. When waste coal combustion is maximized and VAM use is limited to prescribed levels of combustion air, the CSIRO hybrid coal and VAM project described in the preceding paragraph could be considered ancillary VAM use.

#### Project Economics for Ventilation Air Methane Use Technologies

Many of the technologies for VAM use are still in the developmental stage, and cost information is still limited. The costs for simply using the VAM as combustion air either in reciprocating engines or turbines is negligible, the only costs being construction and operation of equipment to move the air to the generator sets. Additional maintenance of the engines or turbines may be necessary if excess moisture and dust are present in the mine ventilation air. Developers of the lean-burn turbines are reporting that they can produce 30-100 kW units for about \$1,000-2,000 per kW while commercial production of larger scale units (200 kW - 2 MW) would drive down the costs significantly to \$600-\$1,000 per kW.

The majority of economic data available is for the flow reversal reactors. In 2003, EPA released the report, "Assessment of the Worldwide Potential for Oxidizing Coal Mine Ventilation Air Methane," the most comprehensive assessment to date of the marginal abatement costs of VAM use technologies.
With methane abatement costs at \$3.00 per ton of  $CO_2e$ , VAM-derived power projects in the U.S. could theoretically create 457 MW of net useable capacity. If the equipment value for each project were rounded to \$10 million, the total equipment market estimate for the U.S. would be over \$1.2 billion. Finally, the annual revenues that could accrue from such power sales in the country could amount to over \$120 million (USEPA, 2003).

## Local Use

In addition to pipeline injection, power generation, and ventilation air methane use, coal mine methane may be used as a fuel in on-site preparation plants or vehicle refueling stations, or it can be transported to a nearby coal-fired boiler or other industrial or institutional facilities for direct use.

Nearly all large underground coal mines have preparation plants located nearby. Mines have traditionally used their own coal to fuel these plants, but there is the potential to use recovered methane instead. Currently, CONSOL uses recovered methane to fuel the thermal dryer in one of its preparation plants. In Poland, several coal mines have used recovered methane to fuel their coal drying plants.

Another option for on-site methane use may be as a fuel for mine vehicles. Natural gas is much cheaper and cleaner than diesel fuel or gasoline, and internal combustion engines burn it more efficiently.

In addition to on-site methane use, selling recovered methane to a nearby industrial or institutional facility may be a promising option for some mines. An ideal gas customer would be located near the coal mine (within five miles) and would have a continuous demand for gaseous fuel. Coal mine methane could be used to fuel a cogeneration system, to fire boilers or chillers, or to provide space heating. In some cases, local communities may find that the availability of an inexpensive fuel source from their local mine can help them attract industry and generate additional jobs.

Additionally, there are numerous international examples of mine gas being used for industrial purposes. For example, in Ukraine and Russia, recovered coal mine methane is used in coal-fired boilers located at the mine-site. In the Czech Republic, coal mine methane is used in nearby metallurgical plants. In Poland, recovered coal mine methane is used as a feed-stock fuel in a chemical plant. In China, CMM has been used in carbon black plants.

Finally, co-firing methane with coal in a boiler is another potential utilization option, particularly for mines that are located in close proximity to a power plant. A few of the mines profiled in this report are located within a few miles of a coal-fired plant (for example, Robinson Run No. 95 mine is located about two miles from Allegheny Power's Harrison Plant).

## Flaring

Flaring (or oxidizing) converts methane to carbon dioxide. Emitting carbon dioxide is much less harmful than direct emissions of methane in terms of the impact on global warming. For purposes of greenhouse gas reductions, the value of recovering one ton of methane and using it to generate energy (in lieu of burning natural gas from a traditional source) is equivalent to a 23 ton reduction in carbon dioxide emissions. If mine emissions are flared without using the combustion to displace energy from other sources, flaring yields greenhouse gas reductions equal to 87.5% (18.25 ton CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent reduction) of those achievable through recovery and use (Lewin, 1997).

To date, flaring has not been implemented at active mines in the U.S. The principal concern expressed by the coal industry is the inherent safety needed to prevent flame propagation leading to an underground explosion (Lewin, 1995). Adoption of flaring at active mines requires the acceptance of miners, MSHA, union parties, and mine owners. Through a series of reports, EPA has outlined the benefits of flaring and proposed a conceptual flare design to meet the safety concerns (USEPA, 1999a).

### **Green Pricing Projects**

With the advent of competition in the electric utility industry, utilities are recognizing the need to provide new services to customers. One such service is "green pricing". Under green pricing, customers can choose the type of electricity they purchase. Customers can choose conventional power, which they can purchase at a standard rate, or they can purchase green power at a slightly higher rate. As part of the green pricing program, for every customer who commits to pay the higher rate, the utility pledges to buy enough "environmentally friendly" energy to completely offset the customer's share of conventionally generated electricity. In 2000, the State of Pennsylvania Public Utility Commissions included CMM as part of their green pricing program.

Another result of electric utility industry deregulation is the emergence of laws and regulations to encourage investment in renewables. Twenty-four States and the District of Columbia have enacted "renewable portfolio standards" (RPS), which requires electric utilities to generate a portion of their electricity through qualifying renewable technologies by a specific date in the future. The requirements under the various standards and the definition of renewable energy vary by state. Currently, Pennsylvania is the only state with an RPS to include CMM as a qualifying renewable source (EERE, 2007).

#### Barriers to the Recovery and Use of Coal Mine Methane

While a number of U.S. coal mines are already selling recovered methane to pipelines, some project opportunities that would seem to be profitable have not been undertaken at other mines. Currently, a number of problems and disincentives distort the economics of coal mine methane projects. These obstacles include technical challenges, unresolved legal issues concerning ownership of the coalbed methane resource, power prices, and pipeline capacity constraints.

#### **Technical Challenges**

#### Gas Production

Degasification wells at coal mines have production characteristics that differ from conventional gas wells in a variety of respects. One important difference is the amount of control the developer has in terms of the gas flow. With conventional gas wells, the gas flow may be controlled, or completely halted, at the discretion of the operator. This provides the operator with flexibility as to when the gas is sold. Vertical pre-mine degasification wells can be controlled as their production is not directly related to mining activities. In-seam and gob wells, however, are not subject to the same control by virtue of their purpose. These wells are used primarily to drain a mine of methane for safety reasons. As such, the feasibility of turning off and on an in-seam or gob well depends on safety first and gas production second.

#### Water Production

Another area in which technical challenges may arise is water disposal. In many instances, vertical coalbed methane wells will produce water from the coal seam and surrounding strata. Water is also produced during conventional mining operations, but some states have adopted separate regulations for water produced in association with coalbed methane operations and for water produced as a result of mining operations. For mines located near fresh water bodies or other vulnerable areas, surface water disposal may not be environmentally acceptable. Several alternative disposal and treatment methods are in use or under development, including deep well injection and other surface treatment approaches. These treatments may have higher costs associated with them, and in some cases additional research is needed to address technical issues.

### **Ownership of Coalbed Methane**

Unresolved legal issues concerning the ownership of coalbed methane resources have traditionally been one of the most significant barriers to coalbed methane recovery. Without a clear understanding of who owns CMM and how the rights to its profitable utilization can be obtained, projects may be viewed as too risky to gain support from the investor community.

In the U.S., industry lacks a uniform legal framework governing CMM ownership. In most cases, a coal lease holder does not have automatic rights to CMM and must work with the gas lease holder, the surface owner, the government, or a combination of the three to resolve the issue. Ownership issues, which remain a serious obstacle to methane recovery, are largely dependent on whether the CMM resources and rights are controlled by the U.S. Government – as is the case in several western states – or if they fall on private lands – such as in much of the eastern U.S. – where ownership of the mineral resources is governed by state laws.

Ownership on Federal and private lands are discussed briefly below. For additional information on coal mine methane ownership issues, see the Fall 2007 *Coalbed Methane Extra* (USEPA, 2007a).

#### Federal Lands

A developer on federal lands must hold a gas lease in order to put a CBM or CMM resource to beneficial use. If a company holding a coal lease wants to utilize its CMM emissions, for example, it must follow the federal leasing procedures in place for conventional natural gas as prescribed by the BLM. Generally, utilization and/or sales of CMM requires a valid gas lease, regardless of end use. If the leased gas is used by the mine or mine company, used for power production, or sold to another party, gas royalties must be paid to the BLM. If no lease is held for the gas, it may only be vented to the atmosphere for safety purposes as set out by the Mine Safety and Health Administration (MSHA).

A split estate arises in the event that gas rights are leased to an entity other than the mining company. When this happens, situation-specific arrangements have to be made in order to accommodate both lessees.

#### Private Lands

When the western U.S. was being settled by homesteaders, the eastern U.S. was already under private ownership. As disputes between coal, gas, and surface owners developed, various state laws were established to govern CMM and CBM ownership. Where possible, common law rules are generally followed. Today, when interpreting deeds, contracts, and leases, the goal is to implement the intentions of the parties, using evidence where necessary. When split estate property is involved,

a number of issues must be considered to accommodate all parties. One consideration is whether the activities of either the surface or various mineral estates cause reasonable or unreasonable interference for the other estate(s) and if such activities are necessary or incidental.

Case law resolution is required when the deed or lease is silent on key issues concerning allocation of multiple subsurface resources. For example, in Kentucky, Virginia, and Wyoming, legal precedent dictates that the coal lessee rights apply only to the coal, and do not automatically convey any rights to the associated gas (CBM). Similar cases have occurred in other states as well. In Alabama, Illinois, Montana, and Pennsylvania, it was determined that CBM rights are controlled by the coal estate.

### **Power Prices**

The primary factor contributing to the slow development of CMM-fueled power generation is the low price of electricity in many U.S. coal producing regions. When comparing the economics of power generation to other alternatives, relatively low electricity prices have made power projects (either for on-site use or sales to a utility) less attractive, regardless of the designated end-use for the power.

### Pipeline Capacity Constraints

The production characteristics of coalbed methane wells present difficulties in the context of the natural gas and pipeline industries. Much of the consumer demand for natural gas is seasonal in nature.

In much of the U.S. there is limited pipeline capacity relative to supply. As a result, local pipelines may not be able to accept the gas supplied from coalbed methane projects on a continuous, uninterrupted basis. One area particularly affected is the Appalachian region.

Storage of coalbed methane in depleted natural gas reservoirs or abandoned mines is a potential solution to resolve issues of fluctuations in demand for gas or pipeline capacity. EPA has investigated the potential for storing methane recovered from active coal mines in nearby abandoned coal mines, concluding that if the abandoned mine were to meet certain criteria, a project could be sustainable (USEPA, 1998).

3. Overview of Existing Coal Mine Methane Projects

## 3. Overview of Existing Coal Mine Methane Projects

This chapter discusses 9 distinct methane recovery and use projects at 14 U.S. underground mines (each of the mines is also profiled in Chapter 6). In 2006, total methane sales from U.S. coal mine methane projects was over 46 billion cubic feet, or 21 MMTCO<sub>2</sub>e.<sup>12</sup> Assuming a wellhead gas price of roughly \$6.40 per thousand cubic feet<sup>13</sup>, if all recovered gas were sold to pipelines, these projects collectively grossed approximately \$295 million annually. Additionally, these projects have greatly reduced mine ventilation costs and have improved safety conditions for miners.

The projects in Alabama, Colorado, Pennsylvania, Virginia, and West Virginia employ a variety of degasification techniques, including vertical wells (pre-mining degasification), gob wells, and in-mine boreholes. Regardless of the degasification system employed, all mines have been able to recover large quantities of gas suitable for use in various applications. Following is a brief overview of the existing projects, by state. Table 3-1, at the end of this chapter, summarizes the major characteristics of the existing projects.

### <u>Alabama</u>

- Five mines in Alabama recover and sell methane:
  - Blue Creek No. 4, owned by Walter Industries
  - Blue Creek No. 5, owned by Walter Industries
  - Blue Creek No. 7, owned by Walter Industries
  - Oak Grove, owned by Cleveland-Cliffs
  - Shoal Creek, owned by Drummond Company

#### Walter Industries

#### Blue Creek No. 4, No. 5, and No. 7 Mines

Located in Tuscaloosa County, Alabama, the Jim Walter Resources (JWR)-operated mines are among the deepest and gassiest mines in the country. Opened in the early to mid-1970's, the mines cover an 80,000 acre area and have vertical shafts ranging from 1,300 to 2,100 feet in depth. The insitu gas content of coal is about 500 to 600 cubic feet per ton and the total amount of methane liberated from these mines is estimated to be between 3,800 - 4,500 cubic feet per ton of coal produced.

JWR has been a leader in the development of coal mine methane recovery projects in the United States. The company's Blue Creek mines – the Nos. 4, 5<sup>14</sup>, and 7 mines – recovered and sold approximately 46.5 million cubic feet of gas per day in 2006. Methane is produced from these mines using three recovery methods: 1) vertical degasification (holes drilled from the surface into the virgin coalbed); 2) horizontal degasification (holes drilled in the coalbed from active workings inside the mine); and 3) a gob degasification program (holes drilled from the surface into the caved area behind the longwall faces).

Since the late 1980s, JWR has been producing between 25 – 50 mmcf/d of methane. JWR owns half of Black Warrior Methane Corp. (BWM), which extracts methane from the coal seams owned or leased by JWR. In 2006, there were 415 wells producing approximately 13.8 Bcf (JWR's share was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Methane emissions may be converted to a measure equivalent to carbon dioxide, using a conservative conversion factor that methane is 21 times more potent than carbon dioxide over a 100 year time frame.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> EIA – average wellhead price for 2006 < <u>http://tonto.eia.doe.gov/dnav/ng/ng\_pri\_sum\_dcu\_nus\_a.htm</u> >.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> No. 5 mine completed underground mining in December 2006.

7.7 Bcf, including 1.4 Bcf from its low quality gas operations). As of December 2007, the number of wells has declined to 408, producing 12.9 Bcf, with JWR's share being 7.2 Bcf (including 1.4 Bcf from LQG operations). JWR expects gas production levels to remain between 6.8 to 7.2 Bcf in 2008 (Walter Industries, 2007 and 2008). The quantity of methane recovered in 2006 represents 72% of total methane liberated from the mines. Recovery from vertical pre-mine wells in 2006 made up 47% of production, while gob wells and in-mine boreholes made up the remaining 53% (this includes a 7% compressor loss adjustment).

### **Cleveland-Cliffs**

## Oak Grove Mine

Cleveland-Cliffs' Oak Grove mine produces methane for pipeline sales. Operated by Oak Grove Resources, Oak Grove came under management by Cleveland-Cliffs after their 2007 acquisition of PinnOak Resources (along with Pinnacle mine in West Virginia). Oak Grove is located in the east-central portion of the Black Warrior Basin in Jefferson County, Alabama. The target seam for mining is the Blue Creek bed of the Mary Lee coal group. The coal is mined at a depth of approximately 1,150 feet.

The effectiveness of a large-scale pattern of stimulated vertical wells in reducing the gas content of a coalbed was first demonstrated at the Oak Grove mine in 1977. This was the first large-scale coal seam degasification project in the United States using vertical wells, as well as one of the first coalbed methane production projects. After 10 years, the original wells had produced a total of 3.2 Bcf (billion cubic feet) of methane that will never need to be controlled in the underground mine environment. Most of the wells in the field, however, are well beyond the near-term mine plan. Pre-drainage wells that were mined-through in 2006 produced 205 mmcf. In addition to the vertical wells drilled in advance of mining, Oak Grove mine has also utilized both horizontal and gob wells for methane drainage, primarily to increase the safety of the underground mine. Since 1997, as many as 15 gob and horizontal wells have been in production in a given year. In 2006, ten of these wells remained in production, producing 65 mmcf.

Because the sole goal of other companies drilling in the Oak Grove degasification field is commercial methane production, rather than reducing emissions from future mining operations, most of the wells drilled since 1985 have been spaced on a 160-acre (or greater) pattern. While these wells do drain methane from the area to be mined, the wider well spacing does not drain the coal as effectively as would a true vertical pre-mine drainage program. Cleveland-Cliffs has invested in business improvement initiatives and safety activities designed to enhance future coal production. These investments have reduced the company's recent coal production. Additionally, a difficult labor situation has slowed progress of the underground drainage program.

## Drummond Company

### Shoal Creek Mine

Drummond Coal's Shoal Creek mine began producing coal in 1994. The mine entry is located in the Oak Grove Field, but mining will progress into the White Oak Field. In the past, Shoal Creek has used vertical pre-mine, horizontal, and gob wells to drain methane. The pre-mine wells in the White Oak Field are operated by Sonat Exploration. Nearly 37 wells produced about 1 mmcf/d of methane for pipeline sales in 2003. In 2003, there were six gob wells, which produced 415 mcf/d, in addition to 31 horizontal wells that produced 580 mcf/d.

In 2006, gas production from pre-mine drainage wells totaled 52 mmcf. Future mining at Shoal Creek will be in reserves that were not adequately drained by vertical wells due to water issues, so it is likely this mine will be gassier in the future. However, Drummond is not focused on gas sales, and difficult mining conditions and labor issues have impeded expansion at the mine.

### <u>Colorado</u>

There is one methane recovery and use project underway in Colorado. The project is taking place at the West Elk mine, which is owned by Arch Coal and operated by Mountain Coal Co.

### Arch Coal

#### West Elk Mine

West Elk began recovering methane in 2003 to heat mine ventilation air on site. In 2006, EPA estimates that the mine recovered and used approximately 170 mmcf of methane, although the exact amount is not measured.

#### Pennsylvania

In 2006, there was one methane recovery and use project in Pennsylvania, involving two mines owned by Foundation Coal. Both mines are located in close proximity to each other and are therefore discussed together.

#### Foundation Coal

#### Cumberland and Emerald Mines

Foundation currently runs two longwall mines on three faces at Cumberland and Emerald mines. Gas is produced from in-seam boreholes and gob wells. In 2005, the longwall face at Emerald was expanded to 1,450 feet resulting in increased coal production.

In early 2008, Foundation Coal acquired a 49% stake in Target Drilling, the company that drilled test CBM wells for Foundation in 2007. Foundation Coal recently completed a study of the methane contained in controlled acreage in Northern Appalachia. The reservoir engineering study, coupled with current gas production activity, indicates recoverable gas exceeding 300 Bcf. Foundation will focus on the development of more than 150,000 acres of CBM lands in Northern Appalachia.

Together, EPA estimates that the Cumberland and Emerald mines drained and injected into pipelines 5.7 mmcf/d of methane in 2006, while liberating a total of 17.5 mmcf/d.

#### <u>Virginia</u>

The commercial potential of coalbed methane recovery in Virginia has long been recognized, but complicated issues regarding gas ownership, as well as the lack of pipeline capacity in southwest Virginia, delayed commercial coalbed methane recovery in this area until the early 1990's. There is one methane recovery and use projects currently underway in Virginia, which takes place at the Buchanan and VP 8 mines. CONSOL Energy owns both mines.

### CONSOL Energy

Through CNX Gas Corporation, CONSOL recovers methane from two of the gassiest mines in the southwestern region of Virginia: Buchanan and VP 8. One of these mines, VP 8, was born out of the consolidation of the VP 5 and VP 6 mines in 1994. CONSOL has operated the adjacent Buchanan mine since 1983. The company has developed extensive degasification programs on both their properties, and continues to invest in vertical pre-mine wells. Although more gas can be successfully drained if a vertical pre-mine well has been in place for a long period, CONSOL has been opting for an advance drainage time frame that adequately balances the risk of investing in a vertical pre-mine drainage system with that of the company's mining plans. Thus, the company uses a three to five year advance degasification program to the extent that this can be feasibly coordinated with the company's overall mining strategies.

Currently, CONSOL produces gas for pipeline sales, on site use, and power generation. The total methane drained at these two CONSOL mine properties in Virginia totaled 79.7 mmcf/d in 2006 and included some CBM.

Of the 79.7 mmcf/d of methane that CONSOL currently recovers, approximately 63.9 mmcf/d can be attributed to emissions reduction at the mines. Of the total recovered methane, gob wells and in-mine horizontal boreholes account for approximately 67% of methane production at the mines. Vertical pre-mine wells that have been mined through and impact emissions reductions at the mines account for the remaining 33%. This production from the vertical wells represents only about one third of the total gas sales occurring in the coals being drained ahead of mining.

#### **Buchanan Mine**

A deep and gassy mine, Buchanan is actively mining at a depth of about 1,500 feet and has an in-situ gas content of about 5,270 cf/ton. Beginning in May 1995, Buchanan began using recovered methane, instead of coal, as fuel in its thermal dryer. As of May 1997, the thermal dryer consumed approximately 1.5 mmcf/d, or 547.5 mmcf/year (CONSOL, 1997). In addition, over 7 mmcf/d was recovered from gob and horizontal wells at the mine in 2001. After 2001, CONSOL began reporting methane recovered from the Buchanan and VP 8 projects together.

#### <u>VP 8 Mine</u>

Gas sales started in May 1992 at a rate of 3 mmcf/d. Over the next twelve months, production had grown to more than 30 mmcf/d (about 11 Bcf per year). In 2001, gas sales exceeded 60 mmcf/d via three methods, vertical pre-drainage wells, horizontal boreholes, and gob wells. Additionally, CONSOL recovers methane from abandoned areas at the VP 8 and Buchanan mines. Once a methane drainage program from an abandoned area is completed, that area is sealed and no further methane extraction takes place (CONSOL, 1997). After 2001, CONSOL began reporting methane recovered from the Buchanan and VP 8 projects together. In the spring of 2006, underground mining at VP 8 was completed due to lack of reserves, however gas recovery continues.

CONSOL Energy and Allegheny Energy operate a combined power project at the VP 8 and Buchanan mines in Virginia. The 88 MW power generation station is currently the second largest CMM power plant in the world, although it is used only for power peaking and is operated very infrequently.

### West Virginia

There are three distinct methane recovery and use projects currently underway at four mines in West Virginia. These projects are taking place at the Blacksville No. 2, Loveridge No. 22, Federal No. 2, and Pinnacle mines. Blacksville No. 2 and Loveridge No. 22 are owned by CONSOL Energy, Federal No. 2 is owned by Patriot Coal, and Pinnacle is owned by Cleveland-Cliffs.

#### **CONSOL Energy**

#### Blacksville No. 2 and Loveridge No. 22 Mines

CONSOL and CBE Inc. are undertaking a gas enrichment and sales project at the Blacksville No. 2 mine. In 1997, CBE began selling enriched gas directly to the pipeline. The project captured as much as 4 mmcf/day from the mine, and removed carbon dioxide, oxygen, and nitrogen from the gas using catalytic, amine, and cryogenic processes, respectively. Columbia Energy Services purchases the resulting pipeline-quality gas. The enrichment plant is able to process 5-6 mmcf/d of gas whose methane content (prior to enrichment) is about 80-85%. The project can be expanded to process 10-12 mmcf/d. Operational problems in 2000 and 2001 have kept the project from maintaining its maximum output. Since that time, CONSOL has assumed full responsibility for the project and expects to optimize the production. Loveridge No. 22 began recovering and using methane in 1997. Since then, recovery and use at the mine was halted until the practice was restarted in 2005.

#### Patriot Coal

#### Federal No. 2 Mine

Federal No. 2 currently drains methane using vertical gob wells. The mine markets gas recovered from some higher quality gob wells to a natural gas pipeline. This gas project is a joint venture with Dominion Gas Company. Dominion recovered approximately 0.8 mmcf/d in 2003. The project at Federal No. 2 continues to expand as more sealed longwall panels become available to drain. In 2006, 75 mmcf was recovered and used at Federal No. 2 mine.

#### **Cleveland-Cliffs**

#### Pinnacle Mine

Pinnacle mine, located in West Virginia, produces methane for pipeline sale. Currently, the mine sells recovered coal mine gas to a local pipeline company. Methane recovery in the area had been hindered by high road and location costs. CDX Gas uses a horizontal borehole drainage system (the Z-Pinnate Horizontal Drilling and Completion technology).<sup>15</sup>

In 2006 the Pinnacle mine recovered and sold approximately 4.6 mmcf/d of gas from its pre-mine drainage wells. In addition, the mine uses gob vent boreholes to drain methane, but currently does not recover the gob gas.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Under this dual system approach, a vertical well was drilled first and the target coal seam was cavitated. Then a horizontal hole was kicked off from a second well, which intersected the cavity of the first well. The cavity acts as a down-hole water separator, retaining water while gas flows to the production well. Finally, a lateral well was drilled through the cavity along the coal seam for up to 4,800 feet. When the drill was pulled back along this main branch, paired branches were drilled at 45 degrees to the main, yielding a "barbed" appearance from a plan view. This process continued back toward the production well, creating a series of barbed branches that CDX calls a "pinnate" drilling pattern. Four of these patterns can be drilled from a central well.

## Summary

Table 3-1 summarizes the methane recovery and use projects discussed in this chapter.

Mine Name	Mine Location (State)	Approximate Amount of Gas Used in 2006*	Methane Use Option	Notes
Blue Creek No. 4 Blue Creek No. 5 Blue Creek No. 7	Alabama	46.5 mmcf/day	Pipeline Sales	The three mines collectively liberated 64.2 mmcf/d of gas in 2006.
Oak Grove	Alabama	0.7 mmcf/day	Pipeline Sales	Most of the production in the Oak Grove Field is beyond the limits of the mine plan.
Shoal Creek	Alabama	0.1 mmcf/day	Pipeline Sales	Most of the production from the White Oak Field is outside the limits of the mine plan and is therefore not included in this summary.
West Elk	Colorado	0.5 mmcf/day	On-Site Use Heaters	Began recovering methane in 2003.
Cumberland Emerald	Pennsylvania	5.7 mmcf/day	Pipeline Sales	Began recovering methane in 2005.
Buchanan VP #8	Virginia	63.9 mmcf/day	Pipeline Sales On-Site Use Power Generation	These two mines collectively produced 79.7 mmcf/day of gas in 2006, of which 63.9 mmcf/d contributes to emissions reduction at the mines. A small portion (2 mmcf/d) of the total gas production is used on-site in a thermal dryer.
Blacksville No. 2 Loveridge No. 22	West Virginia	4.3 mmcf/day	Pipeline Sales	The two mines collectively used 4.3 mmcf/d and liberated 16.8 mmcf/d in 2006. CONSOL began reporting methane recovered from the two mines together in 2005.
Federal No. 2	West Virginia	0.2 mmcf/day	Pipeline Sales On-Site Use Power Generation	Project continues to expand as more longwall panels become available to drain.
Pinnacle	West Virginia	4.6 mmcf/day	Pipeline Sales	A unique, horizontal pre-mine drainage program is utilized.

 Table 3-1:
 Summary of Existing Methane Recovery and Use Projects

\*EPA only includes gas drained and used from wells that are located within the coal mining plan, and only counts the gas as "coal mine methane" rather than coalbed methane once the well is mined through.

4. Guide to the Mine Profiles

## 4. Guide to the Mine Profiles

This report contains profiles of coal mines that are potential candidates for the development of methane recovery and use projects, as well as those mines that have already installed methane recovery and use systems. The profiled mines were selected primarily on the basis of their annual methane emissions from ventilation systems as recorded in a Mine Safety and Health Administration database (MSHA, 2007). While EPA believes that this report is a comprehensive listing of the best candidates for cost-effective methane recovery projects, EPA recognizes that as conditions change some promising candidate mines may not be identified here.

The mine profiles presented in this report are designed to assist in identifying mines that can sustain a profitable methane recovery and use project. Each mine profile is comprised of the following sections:

- Geographic data
- Corporate information
- Mine address
- General information
- Production, ventilation, and drainage data
- Energy and environmental value of emission reductions
- Power generation potential
- Pipeline sales potential
- Other utilization possibilities

The mine profiles are ordered alphabetically by state, and arranged by mine name. Following this chapter are summary tables that list key data elements shown in the mine profiles. Summary Table 1 lists all profiled mines in alphabetical order. The individual mine profiles follow the summary tables.

#### Mine Status

Each mine's operating status as of December 2006 is listed at the top left-hand corner of each profile. The operating status may be listed as described below:

Active: These mines are currently producing coal.

Idle: A mine that is open but not currently producing coal.

The current operating status was determined by reviewing coal industry publications that track the production status of coal mines, and through discussions with MSHA district offices and sources in the coal industry. Only mines active in 2006 are included in this report.

#### Drainage System

The presence of a drainage system is indicated at the top left-hand corner of each profile below Mine Status. If a drainage system is used at the mine, "Yes" appears in the Drainage System field.

### **Use Project**

If a mine recovers (captures) and uses methane, the type of utilization project is designated in this field. Use projects include: pipeline injection, electric power, and heaters. If there is currently no use project at the mine, "none" appears in the field.

#### 2006 Rank

This field shows each mine's rank based on 2006 methane emissions from ventilation systems. This is the criterion used to rank gassy underground mines in this report.

#### Geographic Data

The first section of each profile gives the geographic location of the mine, including the state, county, coal basin where the mine is located, and the coalbed(s) from which it produces coal. The sources for this information were MSHA (2007) and the Keystone Coal Industry Manual (Keystone, 2007).

<u>State</u>: Mines included in this report are located in the following states - Alabama, Colorado, Illinois, Indiana, Kentucky, New Mexico, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, Utah, Virginia, or West Virginia. Summary Table 2 shows the mines listed by state.

<u>County</u>: A relatively small number of counties contain a majority of the gassy mines in the entire U.S. Summary Table 2 shows the mines listed by state and by county.

<u>Coal Basin</u>: Mines are located in one of the major coal producing regions: the Arkoma Basin, Black Warrior Basin, the Central Appalachian Basin, the Northern Appalachian Basin, the Illinois Basin, or one of the "Western basins" (Central Rockies, San Juan, or Uinta Basin), which are located in the states of Colorado, Utah, and New Mexico. Major geological characteristics of coal seams, including methane content, sulfur content, depth, and permeability tend to vary by basin. Summary Table 3 lists the mines by basin and 2006 estimated specific emissions per ton of coal mined for each listed mine.

<u>Coalbed</u>: Substantial and detailed information has been published on the geological and mining characteristics of major coalbeds occurring in the United States. Summary Table 4 lists mines according to the seam from which they produce their coal.

#### **Corporate Information**

<u>Current Operator</u>: Current operator refers to the mining company that operates the mine. Summary Table 5 lists mines by mining company. The sources for this information were the MSHA database (MSHA, 2007) and the Keystone Coal Industry Manual (Keystone, 2007).

<u>Owner/Parent Company</u>: Many coal mines are owned by a parent company. In addition to showing the coal companies, Summary Table 5 also shows the parent corporation of the mining company. This information was taken from MSHA (2007) and Keystone (2007).

<u>Previous Owner(s)</u>: The names of previous mine owners are useful as some of the coal mines profiled here have had numerous owners. This information, along with the previous or alternate name of the mine, is based on previous editions of the Keystone Coal Industry Manual and the MSHA database (MSHA, 2007).

<u>Previous or Alternate Name</u>: Mines frequently undergo name changes, particularly when they are purchased by a new company. This section lists previous or alternate mine names.

## Mine Address

This section includes the phone number and mailing address of the mine and a contact name. The principal source of this information was the Keystone Coal Industry Manual. The information in this section is believed to be current. If contact information was not available in the Keystone Coal Industry Manual, contact information from the Energy Information Administration's (EIA) Coal Production Data Files for the year 2006 was used (EIA, 2006).

## **General Information**

<u>Number of Employees</u>: This field shows the number of people employed by the mine, as reported in the Keystone Coal Industry Manual. If employment information was not listed in the Keystone Coal Industry Manual, the MSHA Data Retrieval System was consulted and the average number of employees for the most recent quarter was used.

<u>Year of Initial Production</u>: Year of initial production indicates the age of the mine, as reported in the Keystone Coal Industry Manual.

<u>Life Expectancy:</u> Life expectancy refers to the number of years left in the mine's plan for mining coal; it can be an important factor in determining whether a mine is a good candidate for a methane recovery and use project. Information on life expectancy was collected from various Keystone Coal Industry Manuals. However, given the difficulty in predicting mine life this statistic is perhaps only marginally useful, and care should be exercised in basing decisions on this factor.

<u>Prep Plant Located on Site</u>: The profile indicates whether a preparation plant is located at the mine, based on the Keystone Coal Industry Manual's and *Coal Age* magazine's annual prep plant surveys. At the preparation plant, coal is crushed, cleaned, and dried. Most large mines have a prep plant located within close proximity. In some cases, a prep plant will process coal not only from the on-site mine, but also from other nearby mines. Information regarding whether the mine has a prep plant, and the amount of coal processed, is important in determining the mine's total electricity and fuel demands.

<u>Mining Method</u>: Mines are classified as longwall or continuous (room-and-pillar), based on *Coal Age* magazine's annual longwall survey and on information in coal industry publications. The mining method used is important for several reasons. First, longwall mines tend to emit more methane than do room-and-pillar mines, as the longwall technique tends to cause a more extensive collapse of, and relaxation of the methane-rich strata surrounding the coal seam. Furthermore, longwall mining has higher up-front capital costs. Thus, a company is not likely to invest in a longwall at a mine that is not expected to have a fairly long life. Finally, while continuous mining is the more common method, the number of longwall mines is growing. In fact, the longwall technique seems to be the preferred mining method at the largest and gassiest mines. It is important to note that a typical longwall mine uses 80% longwall mining and 20% continuous mining. All mines not listed on the *Coal Age* longwall survey were assumed to be continuous. Summary Table 6 lists mines by mining method.

<u>Primary Coal Use</u>: Coal may be used for steam and/or metallurgical purposes. Steam coal is used by utilities to produce electricity, while metallurgical coal is used to produce coke. The primary coal use is based on information in the Keystone Coal Industry Manual. Summary Table 7 lists mines by primary coal use.

<u>Btus/lb</u>: Btus (British Thermal Units) per pound of coal produced indicates the heating value of the coal. This statistic, which was taken from the Keystone Coal Industry Manual, is used in comparing the energy value of the coal to the energy value of the methane recovered (see section on Environmental and Energy benefits below). Heating values were not available for all mines. Where coal analysis for individual mines was not available, mean heating values for the basin/seam were used.

### Production, Ventilation, and Drainage Data

This section presents the quantity of methane emitted from, and the amount of coal produced by the profiled mines for each of the years 2002 to 2006.

<u>Coal Production</u>: Most of the mines profiled in this report have production exceeding one million tons per year. Annual coal production is an important factor in determining a mine's potential for profitable methane recovery. Generally, larger mines will be better candidates because they will have potential for high methane production and they are more likely to be able to finance capital investments in methane recovery and utilization projects. Coal production is based primarily on annual Energy Information Administration (EIA) reports, but is supplemented with data from coal producing states. Summary Table 8 lists the coal mines by the amount of coal they produced in 2006.

<u>Estimated Total Methane Liberated</u>: Methane liberation is the total volume of methane that is removed from the mine by ventilation and drainage. Liberation differs from emissions in that the term emissions, as used in this report, refers to methane that is not used and is therefore emitted to the atmosphere. Estimated total methane liberated is the sum of "emissions from ventilation systems" and "estimated methane drained." For mines that do not use or sell any of their methane, estimated total methane liberated equals estimated methane emissions to the atmosphere. The volume of methane liberated is shown for the years 2002-2006. Summary Table 10 shows mines listed by their estimated total daily methane liberation for 2006.

<u>Emissions from Ventilation Systems</u>: Methane released to the atmosphere from ventilation systems is emitted in very low concentrations (typically less than 1% in air). MSHA field personnel test methane emissions rates at each coal mine on a quarterly basis. Testing is performed underground at the same location each time. However, MSHA does not necessarily conduct the tests at precise threemonth intervals, nor are they always taken at the same time of day. The ventilation emissions data for a given year are therefore averages of the four quarterly tests, and are accurate to the extent that the data collected at those four times are representative of actual emissions. Summary Table 11 lists the mines by their 2006 ventilation emissions, based on MSHA data.

<u>Estimated Methane Drained</u>: Mines that employ degasification systems emit large quantities of methane in high concentrations. Summary Table 12 lists mines according to the estimated methane drained. In contrast to ventilation emissions, no agency requires mines to report the amount of methane they drain, and actual methane drainage data are therefore unavailable. Thus, EPA has estimated the volume of methane drained based on estimated drainage efficiency, as defined below. Based on information obtained from MSHA district offices, EPA has developed a list of 23 U.S. mines that have drainage systems in place. A list of the mines that have drainage systems is shown in Summary Table 9. For the purpose of estimating emissions from drainage systems, if a mine is listed as having a drainage system in place, it was assumed that the system was in place from 1993 onward, unless EPA has information otherwise.

<u>Specific Emissions</u>: "Specific emissions" refer to the total amount of methane liberated per ton of coal that is mined. Specific emissions are an important indicator of whether a mine is a good candidate for a methane recovery project. In general, mines with higher specific emissions tend to have stronger potential for methane recovery. Summary Table 13 shows a list of mines ordered according to specific emissions. Note that the coal production and methane liberation values shown in this report have been rounded, whereas the data actually used to calculate the specific emissions values have not been rounded. Therefore, the specific emissions data shown in this report may differ from results that the reader would obtain by dividing the methane liberation values by the coal production values. This difference is strictly due to rounding, and does not reflect any error in the calculation of methane liberated.

<u>Methane Used:</u> Methane used refers to the total amount of drained methane that was put to productive use (e.g., natural gas pipeline injection, fuel for onsite power generation, etc.). Methane used does not always equal methane drained as some mines vent the methane liberated from degasification systems to the atmosphere. Table 14 shows a list of mines employing methane use projects.

<u>Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency</u>: In order to estimate the amount of methane emitted at mines that are believed to have drainage systems, it was assumed that these emissions would represent from 20-60% of total methane liberated from the mine. Thus, for mines that have drainage systems, ventilation emissions were assumed to equal 40-80% of total liberation, with emissions from drainage systems accounting for the remaining 20-60%. For mines that do not already have drainage systems in place, ventilation emissions are assumed to equal 100% of total methane liberation.

The assumption that methane drainage accounts for 40% of total methane liberation is probably conservative for some mines, but optimistic for others. Therefore, drainage estimates of 20, 40, and 60% were calculated for each mine profile. Accordingly, the assumed drainage efficiency of 40% may not reflect actual conditions at any one mine.

<u>Estimated Current Market Penetration:</u> In order to estimate the market penetration of CMM utilization, this field represents the percentage of drained methane that is used rather than vented to the atmosphere. Mines already draining methane that do not fully utilize, or do not utilize at all, the methane drained represent potential CMM project opportunities.

<u>Drainage System Used</u>: Twenty-three of the mines profiled in this report use some type of drainage (or degasification) system to capture coal mine methane. Drainage systems used include vertical premine (drilled in advance of mining), vertical gob wells, long-hole horizontal pre-mine, and horizontal pre-mine. Summary Table 9 lists mines by drainage system used.

### Energy and Environmental Value of Emissions Reduction

This section presents information on the environmental and energy benefits that may be achieved by developing a methane recovery project at a mine.

<u>CO<sub>2</sub></u> Equivalent of CH<sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (MMTCO<sub>2</sub>e/yr). This statistic shows the carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) equivalent of the annual methane emissions reductions that may potentially be achieved at each mine. The CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent of the potential methane emissions reductions is shown in order to facilitate the comparison of the environmental benefits of coal mine methane recovery and use projects to other greenhouse gas mitigation projects. The potential quantity of methane that may be recovered and used by a mine – which represents the emissions reductions that may be achieved – is converted to a CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent as follows:

CO <sub>2</sub> equivalent	
(million tons/yr) =	[CH <sub>4</sub> liberated (mmcf/yr) x recovery efficiency (20%, 40% and 60%) x 19.2 g
	CH <sub>4</sub> /cf x 21 g CO <sub>2</sub> / 1 g CH <sub>4</sub> x 1 lb / 453.59 g x 1 ton / 2000 lbs]

where: 21 is the global warming potential (GWP) of emitting 1 gram of methane compared to emitting 1 gram of carbon dioxide over a 100 year time period<sup>16</sup>

19.2 g/cf is the density of methane at 60 degrees F and atmospheric pressure

The  $CO_2$  equivalents are shown assuming a 20%, 40% and 60% recovery efficiency (i.e., the portion of total methane liberated that is recovered and utilized). Summary Table 15 shows the  $CO_2$  equivalent of the potential methane emissions reductions that may be achieved at each mine.

<u>CO<sub>2</sub></u> Equivalent of CH<sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions from Coal Combustion: This ratio shows the reduction in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the combustion of methane instead of coal produced at the mine. The ratio is calculated by converting the methane recovered into a CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent (as described above) and dividing by the annual CO<sub>2</sub> emitted from the combustion of coal produced at the mine. In order to calculate the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from coal combustion, the annual coal produced is multiplied by the Btu value of the coal (see general information section for Btu value). Next, this value is multiplied by an emissions factor of from 203 to 210 lbs CO<sub>2</sub> per million Btu.<sup>17</sup> Finally, the value is multiplied by 99% to account for the fraction oxidized. The formula is as follows:

 $[CO_2 \text{ equivalent of potential annual CH}_4 \text{ emissions reductions (lbs)}] / [annual coal production (tons) x Btus/ton x lbs CO<sub>2</sub> emitted / Btu x 99% (fraction oxidized)].$ 

The ratio is calculated assuming 20%, 40% and 60% recovery efficiencies.

<u>Btu Value of Recovered Methane/Btu Value of Coal Produced</u>: In order to calculate this ratio, the potential annual quantity of methane recovered is multiplied by a value of 1000 Btus/cf. Annual coal production is multiplied by the Btus/ton value for the mine. The ratio of the energy value of the methane recovered to the energy value of the coal produced is then calculated. The formula is as follows:

[Recovered methane (cf/yr) x 1000 Btus/cf] / [coal production (tons) x Btus/ton]

As with the other statistics in this section, the ratio is calculated assuming a 20%, 40% and 60% recovery efficiency. In comparison with the first ratio ( $CO_2$  equivalent of methane/  $CO_2$  emissions from coal combustion), the energy value of the methane emissions is a much smaller fraction of the energy value of the coal production.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> For further information on the global warming potential of various greenhouse gases see Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The emissions factor used is based on average state values reported in Energy Information Administration (1992). For the states examined in this report, values range from about 203 to 210 lbs CO<sub>2</sub>/mm Btu.

#### **Power Generation Potential**

This section presents data relevant to the examination of whether the mine is a good candidate for an on-site electricity generation project.

<u>Utility Electricity Supplier</u>: The utility that supplies electricity to the mine is listed here, based on the service areas reported in the *U.S. Electric Power System: CD-ROM 2007/2008 Edition* (Platts, 2007). Summary Table 16 lists the utilities that sell power to the profiled mines.

<u>Parent of Utility</u>: The parent company of the local electric utility is also shown. This information is also based on the U.S. Electric Power System: CD-ROM 2007/2008 Edition (Platts, 2007).

<u>Transmission Line in County:</u> The presence of a transmission line is also shown. This information is also based on the U.S. Electric Power System: CD-ROM 2007/2008 Edition (Platts, 2007).

<u>Total Electricity Demand</u> (MW): The annual electricity demand – including the electricity demands of the mine plus the additional electricity load of the preparation plant – is calculated as follows:

Mine Electricity Demand Assumptions:

- Total annual electricity needs are estimated by assuming that 24 kWh are needed for each ton of coal mined.
- Ventilation systems are run 24 hours a day, 365 days a year (8760 hours a year) and account for about 25% of total electricity needs.
- Other mine operations run 16 hours a day for 220 days a year (3520 hours a year) and account for 75% of total electricity needs.

Demand (kWh/yr): 24 kWh/ton x tons mined/yr = kWhs/yr Demand (kW): [(75% x kWhs/yr)/(3520 hours)] + [(25% x kWhs/yr)/8760 hours)] (mine operations) + (mine ventilation)

Prep Plant Electricity Demand Assumptions:

Prep plants require 6 kWh/ton of coal processed Prep plants are operated 16 hours a day, 220 days a year (3520 hours) Demand (kWh/yr): 6 kWh/ton x tons/year Demand (kW): [kWh/yr / 3520 hours]

<u>Electricity Demand</u> (GWh/year): The annual continuous electricity demand – including the electricity demands of the mine plus the additional electricity load of the preparation plant – is calculated as follows:

Mine Electricity Demand Assumptions:

Total annual electricity needs are estimated by assuming that 24 kWh are needed for each ton of coal mined.

Demand (kWh/yr): 24 kWh/ton x tons mined/yr = kWhs/yr

Demand (GWh/year): [Demand (kWh/yr)]/ 10<sup>6</sup>

Prep Plant Electricity Demand Assumptions:

Prep plants require 6 kWh/ton of coal processed

Demand (kWh/yr): 6 kWh/ton x tons/year

Demand (GWh/year): [Demand (kWh/yr)]/ 10<sup>6</sup>

<u>Potential Electric Generating Capacity</u> (kW): The potential electric generating capacity (i.e., the amount of electricity that could be generated from recovered coal mine methane) is estimated by assuming that there are 1000 Btus/cf of methane recovered and that the heat rate of a generator would be about 11,000 Btu/kWh, which is a conservative assumption for a heat rate given that a gas turbine would likely be used for such a project (Other technologies such as internal combustion engines may also be used to generate electricity). The capacity is estimated based on 20%, 40%, and 60% recovery efficiencies (i.e. portion of total methane liberated that is recovered and utilized). The formula is:

Generating Capacity (kW): CH<sub>4</sub> liberated in cf/day x 1 day/24 hours x 1000 Btus/cf x kWh/11,000 Btus.

Summary Table 17 lists the mines according to their potential electric generating capacity in MW.

### **Pipeline Potential**

This section presents data that are useful in determining whether a mine is a good candidate for a pipeline sales project. Data for this section was taken from the *Homeland Security Infrastructure Program (HSIP) Gold Database* (NGA, 2007).

<u>Potential Annual Gas Sales</u>: Potential annual gas sales are estimated by multiplying total daily methane liberated by 365 days per year and then multiplying that value by the assumed recovery efficiency. Potential annual gas sales are calculated for 20%, 40%, and a 60% assumed recovery efficiencies and are presented in billion cubic feet. The estimated amount of gas that could be produced for sale to a pipeline at each candidate mine is shown in Summary Table 18.

<u>Description of Surrounding Terrain</u>: The terrain surrounding the mine is described, as this is an important factor in determining the costs of laying gathering lines for the project. While many mines in Appalachia are located in hilly or mountainous terrain, mines in the Illinois Basin tend to be located on relatively flat plains.

<u>Transmission Pipeline in County</u>: A "yes" indicates that an existing commercial pipeline runs through the county.

<u>Owner of Nearest Pipeline</u>: The corporate owner of the pipeline located closest to the mine is provided.

<u>Distance to Pipeline</u>: A measure of the distance between the mine and the nearest pipeline as determined in NGA (2007). Some western coal mines may be more than 20 miles from the nearest pipeline. In contrast, most eastern coal mines are located within ten miles of a commercial pipeline. However, while a mine may be located within close proximity to an existing gas pipeline, there are no

guarantees that the pipeline will have enough capacity to take the gas produced from a coal mine. In particular, the Appalachian region tends to have limited pipeline capacity.

Pipeline Diameter: The diameter (in inches) of the nearest pipeline is provided.

#### **Other Utilization Possibilities**

This section addresses the possibility of using methane in a nearby coal-fired power plant.

<u>Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant</u>: A few of the mines profiled here are located near a coalfired power plant. For these mines, the name of the nearby power plant is listed. The source of this information, along with the estimated distance to the power plant and the plant capacity is taken from the U.S. Electric Power System: CD-ROM 2007/2008 Edition (Platts, 2007).

<u>Distance to Plant</u>: The profile shows the estimated distance between the mine and the nearby power plant.

<u>Other Nearby Industrial/Institutional Facilities</u>: This section describes nearby industrial and institutional facilities, which may represent potential users of recovered methane.

#### 5. Mine Summary Tables

List of Summary Tables:

- Table 1: Mines Listed Alphabetically
- Table 2: Mines Listed by State and County
- Table 3: Mines Listed by Coal Basin
- Table 4: Mines Listed by Coalbed
- Table 5: Mines Listed by Company
- Table 6:
   Mines Listed by Mining Method
- Table 7:
   Mines Listed by Primary Coal Use
- Table 8: Mines Listed by 2006 Coal Production
- Table 9:
   Mines Employing Methane Drainage Systems
- Table 10:
   Mines Listed by Estimated Total Methane Liberated in 2006
- Table 11:
   Mines Listed by Daily Ventilation Emissions in 2006
- Table 12:
   Mines Listed by Daily Methane Drained in 2006
- Table 13:
   Mines Listed by Estimated Specific Emissions in 2006
- Table 14:
   Mines Employing Methane Use Projects
- Table 15: Mines Listed by CO<sub>2</sub> Equivalent of Potential CH<sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions
- Table 16: Mines Listed by Electric Utility Supplier
- Table 17: Mines Listed by Potential Electric Generating Capacity
- Table 18:Mines Listed by Potential Annual Gas Sales

## Table 1: Mines Listed Alphabetically

Mine Name	State	Mine Name	State
Aberdeen	UT	Jones Fork E-3	KY
American Eagle Mine	WV	Justice #1	WV
Bailey Mine	PA	Loveridge No. 22	WV
Beckley Crystal	WV	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	СО
Blacksville No. 2	WV	Mc Elroy Mine	WV
Blue Creek No. 4	AL	Miles Branch Mine	VA
Blue Creek No. 5	AL	Mine No. 2	KY
Blue Creek No. 7	AL	No. 2	VA
Bowie No. 2	СО	No. 3 Mine	KY
Buchanan Mine	VA	North River Mine	AL
Century Mine	ОН	Oak Grove Mine	AL
Cumberland	PA	Pattiki Mine	IL
Dakota No. 2	WV	Pinnacle	WV
Deep Mine #26	VA	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	ОН
Dotiki Mine	КҮ	Robinson Run No. 95	WV
Dugout Canyon	UT	San Juan South	NM
E3-1	КҮ	Shoal Creek	AL
Eagle Mine	WV	Shoemaker	WV
Eighty-Four Mine	PA	South Central Mine	ОК
Elk Creek Mine	СО	VP 8	VA
Emerald	PA	Wabash	IL
Enlow Fork Mine	PA	West Elk Mine	СО
Federal No. 2	WV	West Ridge Mine	UT
Galatia	IL	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	WV
Gibson	IN	Willow Lake Portal	IL

Mine Name	State	County	Name	State	County	
Oak Grove Mine	AL	Jefferson	Cumberland	PA	Greene	
Shoal Creek	AL	Jefferson	Emerald	PA	Greene	
Blue Creek No. 4	AL	Tuscaloosa	Enlow Fork Mine	PA	Greene	
Blue Creek No. 5	AL	Tuscaloosa	Eighty-Four Mine	PA	Washington	
Blue Creek No. 7	AL	Tuscaloosa	Aberdeen	UT	Carbon	
North River Mine	AL	Tuscaloosa	Dugout Canyon	UT	Carbon	
Bowie No. 2	СО	Delta	West Ridge Mine	UT	Carbon	
Mc Clane Canyon Mine	СО	Garfield	Buchanan Mine	VA	Buchanan	
Elk Creek Mine	СО	Gunnison	VP 8	VA	Buchanan	
West Elk Mine	СО	Gunnison	No. 2	VA	Dickenson	
Galatia	IL	Saline	Miles Branch Mine	VA	Tazewell	
Willow Lake Portal	IL	Saline	Deep Mine #26	VA	Wise	
Wabash	IL	Wabash	Dakota No. 2	WV	Boone	
Pattiki Mine	IL	White	Justice #1	WV	Boone	
Gibson	IN	Gibson	Robinson Run No. 95	WV	Harrison	
Dotiki Mine	KY	Hopkins	American Eagle Mine	WV	Kanawha	
Jones Fork E-3	KY	Knott	Eagle Mine	WV	Kanawha	
Mine No. 2	KY	Martin	Loveridge No. 22	WV	Marion	
E3-1	KY	Perry	Mc Elroy Mine	WV	Marshall	
No. 3 Mine	KY	Pike	Shoemaker	WV	Marshall	
San Juan South	NM	San Juan	Blacksville No. 2	WV	Monongalia	
Century Mine	ОН	Belmont	Federal No. 2	WV	Monongalia	
Powhatan No. 6 Mine	ОН	Belmont	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	WV	Preston	
South Central Mine	OK	Le Flore	Beckley Crystal	WV	Raleigh	
Bailey Mine	PA	Greene	Pinnacle	WV	Wyoming	

# Table 2: Mines Listed by State and County

Coal Basin/ Mine Name	Estimated Specific Emissions (CF/Ton)	Coal Basin/ Mine Name	Estimated Specific Emissions (CF/Ton)
Arkoma		Willow Lake Portal	102
South Central Mine	735	Northern Appalachian	
Black Warrior		Bailey Mine	383
Blue Creek No. 4	3,874	Blacksville No. 2	701
Blue Creek No. 5	4,271	Century Mine	105
Blue Creek No. 7	4,510	Cumberland	491
North River Mine	648	Eighty-Four Mine	532
Oak Grove Mine	1,922	Emerald	458
Shoal Creek	2,075	Enlow Fork Mine	344
Central Appalachian		Federal No. 2	531
American Eagle Mine	753	Justice #1	363
	2.405	Loveridge No. 22	406
Deckley Crystal	2,100	Mc Elroy Mine	525
Buchanan Mine	5,270	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	167
Dakota No. 2	601	Robinson Run No. 95	361
Deep Mine #26	672	Shoomokor	1 150
E3-1	298	Snoemaker	1,159
Eagle Mine	350	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	366
lones Fork F-3	221	San Juan	
Miles Branch Mine	1,393	San Juan South	340
Mine No. 2	457	Uinta	
No. 2	1,498	Aberdeen	1,202
No. 3 Mine	262	Dugout Canyon	141
Pinnacle	1,785	Elk Creek Mine	530
VP 8	24,295*	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	1,300
Central Rockies		West Elk Mine	1,107
Bowie No. 2	161	West Ridge Mine	430
Illinois			
Dotiki Mine	71		
Galatia	429		
Gibson	313		
Pattiki Mine	297		
Wabash	639		

## Table 3: Mines Listed by Coal Basin

\* CONSOL Energy's VP 8 mine in Virginia had specific emissions of 24,295 cf/ton based on total methane liberated in 2006. However, the mine was shut down in spring 2006 but gas recovery continued, leading to elevated methane liberated per ton of coal produced. Based on first quarter coal production - the last full quarter of production - of 0.259 million short tons and quarterly methane liberation of 1,734 mmcf, specific emissions for the last full quarter of operation were 6,695 cf/ton.

Mine Name West Elk Mine	Coalbed B Seam	Mine Name Bailey Mine	Coalbed Pittsburgh No. 8
Bowie No. 2	B&D Seams	Cumberland	Pittsburgh No. 8
Blue Creek No. 5	Blue Creek	Emerald	Pittsburgh No. 8
Oak Grove Mine	Blue Creek	Enlow Fork Mine	Pittsburgh No. 8
Blue Creek No. 4	Blue Creek / Mary Lee	Eighty-Four Mine	Pittsburgh No. 8
Blue Creek No. 7	Blue Creek / Mary Lee	Blacksville No. 2	Pittsburgh No. 8
Shoal Creek	Blue Creek / Mary Lee	Federal No. 2	Pittsburgh No. 8
Mc Clane Canyon Mine	Cameo Seam	Loveridge No. 22	Pittsburgh No. 8
Elk Creek Mine	D-seam	Mc Elroy Mine	Pittsburgh No. 8
American Eagle Mine	Eagle / Big Eagle	Shoemaker	Pittsburgh No. 8
Eagle Mine	Eagle / Big Eagle	Century Mine	Pittsburgh No. 8
Dugout Canyon	Gilson / Rock Canyon	Dakota No. 2	Pittsburgh No. 8
South Central Mine	Hartshorne	Miles Branch Mine	Pocahontas 5
E3-1	Hazard 4 / Elkhorn 3	Buchanan Mine	Pocahontas No. 3
Jones Fork E-3	Hazard 4 / Elkhorn 3	No. 2	Pocahontas No. 3
Pattiki Mine	Herrin No. 6	VP 8	Pocahontas No. 3
Willow Lake Portal	Illinois No. 5 & 6	Pinnacle	Pocahontas No. 3
Whitetail Kittanning Mine	Kittanning	Mine No. 2	Pond Creek
Aberdeen	L. Sunnyside / Gilson / Aber.	No. 3 Mine	Pond Creek / Van Lear
Deep Mine #26	Lower Banner	Justice #1	Powellton / Buffalo Crk
West Ridge Mine	Lower Sunnyside	North River Mine	Pratt
Beckley Crystal	NA	Galatia	Springfield No. 5
San Juan South	No. 9 / No. 8	Gibson	Springfield No. 5
Robinson Run No. 95	Pittsburgh No. 8	Wabash	Springfield No. 5
Powhatan No. 6 Mine	Pittsburgh No. 8	Dotiki Mine	W. KY No. 9

## Table 4: Mines Listed by Coalbed

## Table 5: Mines Listed by Company

Owner/Parent	Operator	Mine Name
Alliance Resource Partners LP		
	Excel Mining LLC	Mine No. 2
	Excel Mining LLC	No. 3 Mine
	Gibson County Coal LLC	Gibson
	Webster County Coal LLC	Dotiki Mine
	White County Coal LLC	Pattiki Mine
Alpha Natural Resources LLC		
	Black Dog Coal Corporation	No. 2
	Kingwood Mining Company LLC	Whitetail Kittanning Mine
	Paramount Coal Company Virginia LLC	Deep Mine #26
Arch Coal Inc		
	Canyon Fuel Company LLC	Dugout Canyon
	Mountain Coal Company	West Elk Mine
Baylor Mining Inc		
	Baylor Mining Inc	Beckley Crystal
BHP Billiton		
	San Juan Coal Company	San Juan South
Chevron Corporation		
	Chevron Mining Inc	North River Mine
Cleveland-Cliffs Inc		
	Oak Grove Resources LLC	Oak Grove Mine
	Pinnacle Mining Company LLC	Pinnacle
CONSOL Energy Inc		
CONSOL Energy Inc	Consol of Kontucky Inc.	Janaa Early E 2
		Boiley Mine
		Enlow Fork Mino
		Blacksville No. 2
	Consolidation Coal Company	
	Consolidation Coal Company	Lovenage No. 22 Miles Brench Mins
	Consolidation Coal Company	Nilles Branch Mille
	Consolidation Coal Company	Robinson Run No. 95
	Consolidation Coal Company	Shoemaker
	Eighty-Four Mining Company	Eighty-Four Mine
	Island Creek Coal Company	VP 8
Deumand Original I	ivic⊏iroy Coal Company	
Drummond Company Inc		
	Drummona Company Inc	Shoal Creek
Foundation Coal Corporation		
	Cumberland Coal Resources LP	Cumberland
	Emerald Coal Resources LP	Emerald
	Wabash Mine Holding Company	Wabash

Owner/Parent	Operator	Mine Name
Magnum Coal Company		
	Dakota LLC	Dakota No. 2
Massey Energy Company		
	Independence Coal Company Inc	Justice #1
Murray Energy Corp		
	American Energy Corporation	Century Mine
	Ohio Valley Coal Company	Powhatan No. 6 Mine
	The American Coal Company	Galatia
	Utah American Energy Inc	Aberdeen
	Utah American Energy Inc	West Ridge Mine
Newtown Energy Inc		·
	Newtown Energy Inc	Eagle Mine
Oxbow Carbon & Materials Inc		0
	Oxbow Mining LLC	Elk Creek Mine
	-	
Patriot Coal Corporation		
	Eastern Associated Coal LLC	Federal No. 2
Peabody Energy Corp		
	Big Ridge Inc	Willow Lake Portal
South Central Coal Company In	c	
	South Central Coal Company Inc	South Central Mine
Speed Mining Inc		
	Speed Mining Inc	American Eagle Mine
Teco Coal Co		
	Perry County Coal Corp	E3-1
Union Pacific		
	Bowie Resources LLC	Bowie No. 2
Walter Industries Inc		
	Jim Walter Resources Inc	Blue Creek No. 4
	Jim Walter Resources Inc	Blue Creek No. 5
	Jim Walter Resources Inc	Blue Creek No. 7
Wexford Capital LLC		
	McClane Canyon Mining LLC	Mc Clane Canyon Mine

# Table 5: Mines Listed by Company, Cont'd.

Mine Name	Method	Mine Name	Method
American Eagle Mine	Continuous	Bowie No. 2	Longwall
Beckley Crystal	Continuous	Buchanan Mine	Longwall
Dakota No. 2	Continuous	Century Mine	Longwall
Deep Mine #26	Continuous	Cumberland	Longwall
Dotiki Mine	Continuous	Dugout Canyon	Longwall
E3-1	Continuous	Eighty-Four Mine	Longwall
Eagle Mine	Continuous	Elk Creek Mine	Longwall
Gibson	Continuous	Emerald	Longwall
Jones Fork E-3	Continuous	Enlow Fork Mine	Longwall
Mc Clane Canyon Mine	Continuous	Federal No. 2	Longwall
Miles Branch Mine	Continuous	Galatia	Longwall
Mine No. 2	Continuous	Justice #1	Longwall
No. 2	Continuous	Loveridge No. 22	Longwall
No. 3 Mine	Continuous	Mc Elroy Mine	Longwall
Pattiki Mine	Continuous	North River Mine	Longwall
South Central Mine	Continuous	Oak Grove Mine	Longwall
Wabash	Continuous	Pinnacle	Longwall
Whitetail Kittanning Mine	Continuous	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	Longwall
Willow Lake Portal	Continuous	Robinson Run No. 95	Longwall
Aberdeen	Longwall	San Juan South	Longwall
Bailey Mine	Longwall	Shoal Creek	Longwall
Blacksville No. 2	Longwall	Shoemaker	Longwall
Blue Creek No. 4	Longwall	VP 8	Longwall
Blue Creek No. 5	Longwall	West Elk Mine	Longwall
Blue Creek No. 7	Longwall	West Ridge Mine	Longwall

# Table 6: Mines Listed by Mining Method

Mine Name	Primary Use	Mine Name	Primary Use
Blue Creek No. 4	Metallurgical	No. 3 Mine	Steam
Blue Creek No. 7	Metallurgical	Pattiki Mine	Steam
Miles Branch Mine	Metallurgical	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	Steam
Pinnacle	Metallurgical	Robinson Run No. 95	Steam
Aberdeen	Steam	San Juan South	Steam
Beckley Crystal	Steam	Shoal Creek	Steam
Blacksville No. 2	Steam	Shoemaker	Steam
Bowie No. 2	Steam	South Central Mine	Steam
Century Mine	Steam	Wabash	Steam
Cumberland	Steam	West Elk Mine	Steam
Dakota No. 2	Steam	West Ridge Mine	Steam
Dotiki Mine	Steam	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	Steam
Dugout Canyon	Steam	Willow Lake Portal	Steam
E3-1	Steam	American Eagle Mine	Steam, Metallurgical
Eagle Mine	Steam	Bailey Mine	Steam, Metallurgical
Elk Creek Mine	Steam	Blue Creek No. 5	Steam, Metallurgical
Enlow Fork Mine	Steam	Buchanan Mine	Steam, Metallurgical
Federal No. 2	Steam	Deep Mine #26	Steam, Metallurgical
Galatia	Steam	Eighty-Four Mine	Steam, Metallurgical
Gibson	Steam	Emerald	Steam, Metallurgical
Jones Fork E-3	Steam	Justice #1	Steam, Metallurgical
Loveridge No. 22	Steam	No. 2	Steam, Metallurgical
Mc Clane Canyon Mine	Steam	North River Mine	Steam, Metallurgical
Mc Elroy Mine	Steam	Oak Grove Mine	Steam, Metallurgical
Mine No. 2	Steam	VP 8	Steam, Metallurgical

## Table 7: Mines Listed by Primary Coal Use

Mine Name	MM Tons	Mine Name	MM Tons
Enlow Fork Mine	10.7	Pattiki Mine	2.5
Mc Elroy Mine	10.5	American Eagle Mine	2.4
Bailey Mine	10.2	Blue Creek No. 4	2.2
Cumberland	7.5	Aberdeen	2.1
Galatia	7.2	Pinnacle	2.0
San Juan South	7.0	Deep Mine #26	2.0
Century Mine	6.5	No. 3 Mine	1.9
Loveridge No. 22	6.4	Jones Fork E-3	1.8
West Elk Mine	6.0	Oak Grove Mine	1.4
Emerald	5.9	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	1.4
Robinson Run No. 95	5.7	Eagle Mine	1.3
Elk Creek Mine	5.1	Wabash	1.2
Blacksville No. 2	5.0	E3-1	1.1
Buchanan Mine	5.0	Shoemaker	1.0
Dotiki Mine	4.7	Justice #1	0.9
Federal No. 2	4.6	Mine No. 2	0.8
Bowie No. 2	4.4	Shoal Creek	0.8
Dugout Canyon	4.4	Blue Creek No. 5	0.8
Powhatan No. 6 Mine	4.4	Dakota No. 2	0.6
Willow Lake Portal	3.6	South Central Mine	0.4
Gibson	3.6	Beckley Crystal	0.3
Eighty-Four Mine	3.5	Miles Branch Mine	0.3
West Ridge Mine	3.0	VP 8	0.3
North River Mine	2.8	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	0.3
Blue Creek No. 7	2.6	No. 2	0.2

## Table 8: Mines Listed by 2006 Coal Production

Mine Name	Type of Drainage System	Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency
Aberdeen	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	25%
American Eagle Mine	Vertical Gob Boreholes	40%
Bailey Mine	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	30%
Blacksville No. 2	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	25%
Blue Creek No. 4	Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes	73%
Blue Creek No. 5	Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes	73%
Blue Creek No. 7	Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes	73%
Bowie No. 2	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	25%
Buchanan Mine	Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes	88%
Cumberland	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	34%
Dugout Canyon	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	25%
Elk Creek Mine	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	25%
Emerald	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	30%
Federal No. 2	Vertical Gob Boreholes	15%
Loveridge No. 22	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	25%
Mc Elroy Mine	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	15%
Oak Grove Mine	Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes	10%
Pinnacle	Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes	47%
Robinson Run No. 95	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	30%
San Juan South	Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes	40%
Shoal Creek	Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	3%
VP 8	Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes	83%
West Elk Mine	Horizontal & Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps	50%

## Table 9: Mines Employing Methane Drainage Systems

Mine Name	MMCF/D	Mine Name	MMCF/D
Buchanan Mine	72.3	Deep Mine #26	3.7
Blue Creek No. 7	31.6	West Ridge Mine	3.6
Blue Creek No. 4	23.2	Gibson	3.1
VP 8	19.0	Shoemaker	3.1
West Elk Mine	18.2	Wabash	2.1
Mc Elroy Mine	15.1	Pattiki Mine	2.0
Bailey Mine	10.7	Beckley Crystal	2.0
Cumberland	10.1	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	2.0
Enlow Fork Mine	10.1	Bowie No. 2	2.0
Pinnacle	9.8	Century Mine	1.9
Blacksville No. 2	9.7	Dugout Canyon	1.7
Blue Creek No. 5	9.4	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	1.4
Galatia	8.5	No. 3 Mine	1.3
Oak Grove Mine	7.5	Eagle Mine	1.2
Elk Creek Mine	7.4	Miles Branch Mine	1.2
Emerald	7.4	Jones Fork E-3	1.1
Loveridge No. 22	7.1	Mine No. 2	1.1
Aberdeen	6.9	Willow Lake Portal	1.0
Federal No. 2	6.7	Dakota No. 2	1.0
San Juan South	6.5	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	0.9
Robinson Run No. 95	5.7	Justice #1	0.9
Eighty-Four Mine	5.1	Dotiki Mine	0.9
American Eagle Mine	5.0	South Central Mine	0.9
North River Mine	4.9	E3-1	0.9
Shoal Creek	4.7	No. 2	0.8

# Table 10: Mines Listed by Estimated Total Methane Liberated in 2006

Mine Name	MMCF/D	Mine Name	MMCF/D
Mc Elroy Mine	12.8	Gibson	3.1
Enlow Fork Mine	10.1	Shoemaker	3.1
West Elk Mine	9.1	American Eagle Mine	3.0
Blue Creek No. 7	8.7	Blue Creek No. 5	2.6
Galatia	8.5	Wabash	2.1
Buchanan Mine	8.4	Pattiki Mine	2.0
Bailey Mine	7.5	Beckley Crystal	2.0
Blacksville No. 2	7.2	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	2.0
Oak Grove Mine	6.7	Century Mine	1.9
Cumberland	6.7	Bowie No. 2	1.5
Blue Creek No. 4	6.4	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	1.4
Federal No. 2	5.7	No. 3 Mine	1.3
Elk Creek Mine	5.6	Dugout Canyon	1.3
Loveridge No. 22	5.3	Eagle Mine	1.2
Pinnacle	5.2	Miles Branch Mine	1.2
Emerald	5.2	Jones Fork E-3	1.1
Aberdeen	5.2	Mine No. 2	1.1
Eighty-Four Mine	5.1	Willow Lake Portal	1.0
North River Mine	4.9	Dakota No. 2	1.0
Shoal Creek	4.5	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	0.9
Robinson Run No. 95	4.0	Justice #1	0.9
San Juan South	3.9	Dotiki Mine	0.9
Deep Mine #26	3.7	South Central Mine	0.9
West Ridge Mine	3.6	E3-1	0.9
VP 8	3.2	No. 2	0.8

## Table 11: Mines Listed by Daily Ventilation Emissions in 2006

Mine Name	MMCF/D	Mine Name	MMCF/D
Buchanan Mine	63.9	Dakota No. 2	-
Blue Creek No. 7	22.9	Deep Mine #26	-
Blue Creek No. 4	16.8	Dotiki Mine	-
VP 8	15.8	E3-1	-
West Elk Mine	9.1	Eagle Mine	-
Blue Creek No. 5	6.8	Eighty-Four Mine	-
Pinnacle	4.6	Enlow Fork Mine	-
Cumberland	3.4	Galatia	-
Bailey Mine	3.2	Gibson	-
San Juan South	2.6	Jones Fork E-3	-
Blacksville No. 2	2.5	Justice #1	-
Mc Elroy Mine	2.3	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	-
Emerald	2.3	Miles Branch Mine	-
American Eagle Mine	2.0	Mine No. 2	-
Elk Creek Mine	1.9	No. 2	-
Loveridge No. 22	1.8	No. 3 Mine	-
Aberdeen	1.7	North River Mine	-
Robinson Run No. 95	1.7	Pattiki Mine	-
Federal No. 2	1.0	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	-
Oak Grove Mine	0.7	Shoemaker	-
Bowie No. 2	0.5	South Central Mine	-
Dugout Canyon	0.4	Wabash	-
Shoal Creek	0.1	West Ridge Mine	-
Beckley Crystal	-	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	-
Century Mine	-	Willow Lake Portal	-

## Table 12: Mines Listed by Estimated Daily Methane Drained in 2006

Mine Name	CF/Ton	Mine Name	CF/Ton
VP 8	24,295*	Mc Elroy Mine	525
Buchanan Mine	5,270	Cumberland	491
Blue Creek No. 7	4,510	Emerald	458
Blue Creek No. 5	4,271	Mine No. 2	457
Blue Creek No. 4	3,874	West Ridge Mine	430
Beckley Crystal	2,185	Galatia	429
Shoal Creek	2,075	Loveridge No. 22	406
Oak Grove Mine	1,922	Bailey Mine	383
Pinnacle	1,785	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	366
No. 2	1,498	Justice #1	363
Miles Branch Mine	1,393	Robinson Run No. 95	361
Mc Clane Canyon Mine	1,300	Eagle Mine	350
Aberdeen	1,202	Enlow Fork Mine	344
Shoemaker	1,159	San Juan South	340
West Elk Mine	1,107	Gibson	313
American Eagle Mine	753	E3-1	298
South Central Mine	735	Pattiki Mine	297
Blacksville No. 2	701	No. 3 Mine	262
Deep Mine #26	672	Jones Fork E-3	221
North River Mine	648	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	167
Wabash	639	Bowie No. 2	161
Dakota No. 2	601	Dugout Canyon	141
Eighty-Four Mine	532	Century Mine	105
Federal No. 2	531	Willow Lake Portal	102
Elk Creek Mine	530	Dotiki Mine	71

#### Table 13: Mines Listed by Estimated Specific Emissions in 2006

\* CONSOL Energy's VP 8 mine in Virginia had specific emissions of 24,295 cf/ton based on total methane liberated in 2006. However, the mine was shut down in spring 2006 but gas recovery continued, leading to elevated methane liberated per ton of coal produced. Based on first quarter coal production - the last full quarter of production - of 0.259 million short tons and quarterly methane liberation of 1,734 mmcf, specific emissions for the last full quarter of operation were 6,695 cf/ton.
Mine Name	Type of Use Project	Estimated Current Market Penetration
Blacksville No. 2	Pipeline	100%
Blue Creek No. 4	Pipeline	100%
Blue Creek No. 5	Pipeline	100%
Blue Creek No. 7	Pipeline	100%
Buchanan Mine	Pipeline	80%
Cumberland	Pipeline	100%
Emerald	Pipeline	100%
Federal No. 2	Elec Power	23%
Loveridge No. 22	Pipeline	100%
Oak Grove Mine	Pipeline	100%
Pinnacle	Pipeline	100%
Shoal Creek	Pipeline	100%
VP 8	Pipeline	80%
West Elk Mine	Heaters	5%

## Table 14: Mines Employing Methane Use Projects

### Table 15: Mines Listed by CO<sub>2</sub> Equivalent of Potential CH<sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (Assuming 20% - 60% Recovery Efficiency)

Mine Name	MM Tor	s CO₂ /Yr	Mine Name	MM Tons	CO <sub>2</sub> /Yr
Buchanan Mine	2.34	7.03	Deep Mine #26	0.11	0.35
Blue Creek No. 7	1.02	3.07	West Ridge Mine	0.11	0.34
Blue Creek No. 4	0.75	2.25	Gibson	0.10	0.29
VP 8	0.61	1.85	Shoemaker	0.09	0.29
West Elk Mine	0.59	1.77	Wabash	0.06	0.20
Mc Elroy Mine	0.48	1.46	Pattiki Mine	0.06	0.19
Bailey Mine	0.34	1.03	Beckley Crystal	0.06	0.19
Cumberland	0.32	0.98	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	0.06	0.19
Enlow Fork Mine	0.32	0.98	Bowie No. 2	0.06	0.19
Pinnacle	0.31	0.95	Century Mine	0.06	0.18
Blacksville No. 2	0.31	0.94	Dugout Canyon	0.05	0.16
Blue Creek No. 5	0.30	0.91	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	0.04	0.13
Galatia	0.27	0.82	No. 3 Mine	0.04	0.13
Oak Grove Mine	0.24	0.72	Eagle Mine	0.04	0.12
Elk Creek Mine	0.24	0.72	Miles Branch Mine	0.03	0.11
Emerald	0.24	0.72	Jones Fork E-3	0.03	0.10
Loveridge No. 22	0.23	0.69	Mine No. 2	0.03	0.10
Aberdeen	0.22	0.67	Willow Lake Portal	0.03	0.09
Federal No. 2	0.21	0.65	Dakota No. 2	0.03	0.09
San Juan South	0.21	0.63	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	0.03	0.09
Robinson Run No. 95	0.18	0.55	Justice #1	0.03	0.09
Eighty-Four Mine	0.16	0.49	Dotiki Mine	0.03	0.08
American Eagle Mine	0.16	0.48	South Central Mine	0.02	0.08
North River Mine	0.15	0.47	E3-1	0.02	0.08
Shoal Creek	0.15	0.45	No. 2	0.02	0.08

Utility Parent Company Mine Name	Utility Company
Allegheny Energy Inc	
Blacksville No. 2	Monongahela Power Co
Federal No. 2	Monongahela Power Co
Loveridge No. 22	Monongahela Power Co
Robinson Run No. 95	Monongahela Power Co
Whitetail Kittanning Mine	Monongahela Power Co
Bailey Mine	West Penn Power Co
Cumberland	West Penn Power Co
Eighty-Four Mine	West Penn Power Co
Emerald	West Penn Power Co
Enlow Fork Mine	West Penn Power Co
Ameren Corp	
Galatia	Central Illinois Public Services Co
American Electric Power Co Inc	
American Eagle Mine	Appalachian Power Co
Beckley Crystal	Appalachian Power Co
Buchanan Mine	Appalachian Power Co
Dakota No. 2	Appalachian Power Co
Deep Mine #26	Appalachian Power Co
Eagle Mine	Appalachian Power Co
Justice #1	Appalachian Power Co
Miles Branch Mine	Appalachian Power Co
No. 2	Appalachian Power Co
Pinnacle	Appalachian Power Co
VP 8	Appalachian Power Co
E3-1	Kentucky Power Co
Jones Fork E-3	Kentucky Power Co
Mine No. 2	Kentucky Power Co
No. 3 Mine	Kentucky Power Co
Mc Elroy Mine	Wheeling Power Co
Shoemaker	Wheeling Power Co

## Table 16: Mines Listed by Electric Utility Supplier, Cont'd.

Uti	lity Parent Company Mine Name	Utility Company
Bei	rkshire Hathaway Inc	
	Aberdeen	PacifiCorp
	Dugout Canyon	PacifiCorp
	West Ridge Mine	PacifiCorp
Du	ke Energy Corp	
	Gibson	Duke Energy Indiana Inc
E.C	DN AG	
	Dotiki Mine	Kentucky Utilities Co
NA		
	San Juan South	Jemez Mountains Electric Coop Inc
	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	None
	Pattiki Mine	Wayne-White Counties Electric Coop
	Wabash	Wayne-White Counties Electric Coop
OG	E Energy Corp	
	South Central Mine	Oklahoma Gas & Electric
So	uthern Co	
	Blue Creek No. 4	Alabama Power Co
	Blue Creek No. 5	Alabama Power Co
	Blue Creek No. 7	Alabama Power Co
	North River Mine	Alabama Power Co
	Oak Grove Mine	Alabama Power Co
	Shoal Creek	Alabama Power Co
Τοι	uchstone Energy Cooperatives	
	Bowie No. 2	Delta-Montrose Electric Association
	Elk Creek Mine	Delta-Montrose Electric Association
	West Elk Mine	Delta-Montrose Electric Association
	Century Mine	South Central Power Co
	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	South Central Power Co
	Willow Lake Portal	Southeastern Illinois Electric Coop Inc

Mine Name	Megawatts	Mine Name	Megawatts	
Buchanan Mine	54.8 - 164.4	Deep Mine #26	2.8 - 8.3	
Blue Creek No. 7	23.9 - 71.8	West Ridge Mine	2.7 - 8.1	
Blue Creek No. 4	17.6 - 52.8	Gibson	2.3 - 7.0	
VP 8	14.4 - 43.3	Shoemaker	2.3 - 7.0	
West Elk Mine	13.8 - 41.4	Wabash	1.6 - 4.7	
Mc Elroy Mine	11.4 - 34.2	Pattiki Mine	1.5 - 4.6	
Bailey Mine	8.1 - 24.2	Beckley Crystal	1.5 - 4.6	
Cumberland	7.7 - 23.0	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	1.5 - 4.6	
Enlow Fork Mine	7.6 - 22.9	Bowie No. 2	1.5 - 4.4	
Pinnacle	7.5 - 22.4	Century Mine	1.4 - 4.2	
Blacksville No. 2	7.3 - 22.0	Dugout Canyon	1.3 - 3.9	
Blue Creek No. 5	7.1 - 21.4	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	1.0 - 3.1	
Galatia	6.4 - 19.3	No. 3 Mine	1.0 - 3.1	
Oak Grove Mine	5.6 - 16.9	Eagle Mine	0.9 - 2.8	
Elk Creek Mine	5.6 - 16.9	Miles Branch Mine	0.9 - 2.7	
Emerald	5.6 - 16.9	Jones Fork E-3	0.8 - 2.5	
Loveridge No. 22	5.4 - 16.1	Mine No. 2	0.8 - 2.4	
Aberdeen	5.2 - 15.6	Willow Lake Portal	0.8 - 2.3	
Federal No. 2	5.1 - 15.3	Dakota No. 2	0.7 - 2.2	
San Juan South	4.9 - 14.8	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	0.7 - 2.1	
Robinson Run No. 95	4.3 - 12.9	Justice #1	0.7 - 2.1	
Eighty-Four Mine	3.9 - 11.6	Dotiki Mine	0.7 - 2.1	
American Eagle Mine	3.8 - 11.3	South Central Mine	0.7 - 2.1	
North River Mine	3.7 - 11.1	E3-1	0.7 - 2.0	
Shoal Creek	3.5 - 10.6	No. 2	0.6 - 1.9	

### Table 17: Mines Listed by Potential Electric Generating Capacity (Assuming 20% - 60% Recovery Efficiency)

	(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,			
Mine Name	BCF/Yr	Mine Name	BCF/Yr	
Buchanan Mine	5.3 - 1 5.8	Deep Mine #26	0.3 - 0.8	
Blue Creek No. 7	2.3 - 6.9	West Ridge Mine	0.3 - 0.8	
Blue Creek No. 4	1.7 - 5.1	Gibson	0.2 - 0.7	
VP 8	1.4 - 4.2	Shoemaker	0.2 - 0.7	
West Elk Mine	1.3 - 4.0	Wabash	0.2 - 0.5	
Mc Elroy Mine	1.1 - 3.3	Pattiki Mine	0.1 - 0.4	
Bailey Mine	0.8 - 2.3	Beckley Crystal	0.1 - 0.4	
Cumberland	0.7 - 2.2	Powhatan No. 6 Mine	0.1 - 0.4	
Enlow Fork Mine	0.7 - 2.2	Bowie No. 2	0.1 - 0.4	
Pinnacle	0.7 - 2.2	Century Mine	0.1 - 0.4	
Blacksville No. 2	0.7 - 2.1	Dugout Canyon	0.1 - 0.4	
Blue Creek No. 5	0.7 - 2.1	Whitetail Kittanning Mine	0.1 - 0.3	
Galatia	0.6 - 1.9	No. 3 Mine	0.1 - 0.3	
Oak Grove Mine	0.5 - 1.6	Eagle Mine	0.1 - 0.3	
Elk Creek Mine	0.5 - 1.6	Miles Branch Mine	0.1 - 0.3	
Emerald	0.5 - 1.6	Jones Fork E-3	0.1 - 0.2	
Loveridge No. 22	0.5 - 1.6	Mine No. 2	0.1 - 0.2	
Aberdeen	0.5 - 1.5	Willow Lake Portal	0.1 - 0.2	
Federal No. 2	0.5 - 1.5	Dakota No. 2	0.1 - 0.2	
San Juan South	0.5 - 1.4	Mc Clane Canyon Mine	0.1 - 0.2	
Robinson Run No. 95	0.4 - 1.2	Justice #1	0.1 - 0.2	
Eighty-Four Mine	0.4 - 1.1	Dotiki Mine	0.1 - 0.2	
American Eagle Mine	0.4 - 1.1	South Central Mine	0.1 - 0.2	
North River Mine	0.4 - 1.1	E3-1	0.1 - 0.2	
Shoal Creek	0.3 - 1.0	No. 2	0.1 - 0.2	

### Table 18: Mines Listed by Potential Annual Gas Sales \* (Assuming 20% - 60% Recovery Efficiency)

\* Mine's actual gas sales may differ from the potential

# 6. Profiled Mines (continued)

States with Candidate and Utilizing Mines:

Alabama

Colorado

Illinois

Indiana

Kentucky

New Mexico

Ohio

Oklahoma

Pennsylvania

Utah

Virginia

West Virginia

## 6. Profiled Mines

### **Data Summary**

Below is a state-by-state summary of data pertaining to coal mine methane at the mines profiled in this report. Chapter 4 explains how these data were derived. Following this data summary section are individual mine profiles, in alphabetical order by state.

### Alabama

Of the 14 profiled U.S. mines that already recover and use methane, five are located in Alabama. Three of these mines are owned by Walter Industries, one mine is owned by Cleveland-Cliffs, and one mine is owned by Drummond Company. All five mines sell methane to pipelines. Based on information obtained from MSHA (2007), these five mines recovered and sold an average of 47.5 mmcf/d in 2006.

In addition to these mines, Alabama has one other large gassy mine that appears to be a good candidate for a methane recovery project. North River has been in operation since 1974 and uses the longwall mining method. Table 6-1 shows that the implementation of a methane recovery and use project at the North River mine could reduce annual methane emissions by 0.4 - 1.1 Bcf/yr.

Table 6-1: Alabama Mines							
	2006 Ventilation, Drainage and Use Data <sup>1</sup>						ta <sup>1</sup>
Mine	Company	2006 Coal Production (mm tons)	Ventilation Emissions (mmcf/d)	Estimated Methane Drained (mmcf/d)	Estimated Total Methane Liberated (mmcf/d)	Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton)	Estimated Methane Used (mmcf/d)
Mines Using Methane	e (mines at which r	ecovery and	use project	s have alrea	ady been dev	eloped):	
Blue Creek No. 4	Walter Industries	2.2	6.4	16.8	23.2	3,874	16.8 <sup>3</sup>
Blue Creek No. 5 <sup>2</sup>	Walter Industries	0.8	2.6	6.8	9.4	4,271	6.8 <sup>3</sup>
Blue Creek No. 7	Walter Industries	2.6	8.7	22.9	31.6	4,510	22.9 <sup>3</sup>
Oak Grove	Cleveland-Cliffs	1.4	6.7	0.7	7.5	1,922	0.7
Shoal Creek	Drummond Co.	<u>0.8</u>	<u>4.5</u>	<u>0.1</u>	<u>4.7</u>	2,075	<u>0.1</u>
Total for All Mines U	Jsing Methane	7.8	28.9	47.5	76.4	-	47.5
Operating But Not Us	ing Methane:						
North River	Chevron Corp.	<u>2.8</u>	<u>4.9</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>4.9</u>	648	<u>0.0</u>
TOTAL: <sup>4</sup>		10.5	33.8	47.5	81.3	-	47.5
Estimated Emission	s and Avoided E	missions of	Methane a	nd CO₂ Equ	ivalent	Methane	CO <sub>2</sub>
From Operating Min	es Not Currently	Using Meth	ane (North	River):		(Bcf/yr)	(mmt/yr)
2006 Estimated To	otal Emissions					1.8	0.8
Estimated Annual	Avoided Emission	s if Recover	y Project is I	mplemented	d <sup>5</sup>	0.4 – 1.1	0.2 – 0.5
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains I	<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these were estimated.						
<sup>2</sup> No. 5 mine completed underground mining in December 2006.							
<sup>3</sup> JWR reports avoided emissions of all three mines together. Estimated methane used by each mine is							
calculated based on weighted average of methane drained for each mine.							
<sup>↑</sup> Values shown here	do not always sun	n to totals du	le to roundin	g.			
<sup>°</sup> Range calculated as	ssuming 20% - 609	% of total lib	erated metha	ane could be	e recovered.		

In May 2008, Biothermica received authorization from MSHA to conduct a demonstration project at Blue Creek No. 4 mine using the VAMOX regenerative thermal oxidation system to destroy VAM

before it is released to the atmosphere. The company estimates GHG emission reductions of approximately 40,000 tons of CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent per year.

### Colorado

Colorado has a number of underground mines with relatively low methane emissions, but there are also several deep and gassy mines with high emissions; these mines present potential opportunities for those interested in developing a methane recovery project in the West.

Of the four Colorado mines profiled in this report, West Elk began recovering methane in 2003 for use onsite (heaters). Table 6-2 shows coal production, methane ventilation, and drainage data. In 2006, West Elk liberated an estimated 18.2 mmcf/d (6.6 Bcf/yr), while recovering 9.1 mmcf/d (3.3 Bcf/yr).

Colorado has three additional mines that are potential candidates for methane recovery: Bowie No. 2, Elk Creek, and McClane Canyon. Table 6-2 shows that the implementation of methane recovery and use projects at the three mines could reduce annual methane emissions by 0.8 - 2.3 Bcf/yr.

	Table 6-2: Colorado Mines						
	2006 Ventilation, Drainage and Use Data <sup>1</sup>						ta <sup>1</sup>
		2006 Coal	Ventilation	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated
Mine	Company	Production	Emissions	Methane	Total	Specific	Methane
		(mm tons)	(mmct/d)	Drained (mmof/d)	Methane	Emissions	Usea (mmcf/d)
				(minci/d)	(mmcf/d)	(ci/ton)	(minol/d)
Mines Using Methane	e (mines at which r	ecovery and	l use project	s have alrea	ady been dev	eloped):	
West Elk	Arch Coal	6.0	9.1	9.1	18.2	1,107	0.5
Operating But Not Us	ing Methane:						
Bowie No. 2	Union Pacific	4.4	1.5	0.5	2.0	161	0.0
Elk Creek	Oxbow Mining	5.1	5.6	1.9	7.4	530	0.0
McClane Canyon	Wexford Capital	<u>0.3</u>	<u>0.9</u>	0.0	<u>0.9</u>	1,300	<u>0.0</u>
Total for All Mines N	Not Using Methan	e <u>9.8</u>	<u>8.0</u>	<u>2.3</u>	<u>10.3</u>	-	<u>0.0</u>
TOTAL: <sup>2</sup>		15.8	17.1	11.5	28.6	-	0.5
Estimated Emission	s and Avoided Er	nissions of	Methane a	nd CO <sub>2</sub> Equ	ivalent	Methane	CO2
From Operating Min	es Not Currently	Using Meth	ane (three	mines):		(Bcf/yr)	(mmt/yr)
2006 Estimated To	otal Emissions					3.8	1.7
Estimated Annual Avoided Emissions if Recovery Project is Implemented <sup>3</sup> $0.8 - 2.3  0.3 - 1.0$							
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these were estimated.							
<sup>2</sup> Values shown here	<sup>2</sup> Values shown here do not always sum to totals due to rounding.						
<sup>3</sup> Range calculated as	suming 20% - 60%	% of total lib	erated metha	ane could b	e recovered.		

### Illinois

In general, Illinois mines tend to be less gassy than mines in other regions of the country. These mines tend to have lower specific emissions, but many have high total methane emissions depending on their yearly coal production. Accordingly, emissions reductions may be achieved at several of these mines. Coal production and methane ventilation and drainage data on these mines are shown in Table 6-3.

Four Illinois mines are considered to be potential candidates for methane recovery projects. None of the featured Illinois mines have a degasification system in place. Table 6-3 shows that methane emissions from the four Illinois mines totaled an estimated 5.0 Bcf in 2006. The implementation of

methane recovery and use projects at the four profiled mines that are not currently using methane could reduce annual methane emissions by 1.0 - 3.0 Bcf/yr.

Table 6-3: Illinois Mines							
			2006 Ventilation and Drainage Data <sup>1</sup>				
		2006 Coal	Ventilation	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated	
Mine	Company	Production	Emissions	Methane	Total	Specific	
		(mm tons)	(mmcf/d)	Drained	Methane	Emissions	
				(mmcf/d)	Liberated	(cf/ton)	
					(mmcf/d)		
Operating But Not Using	Methane:						
Galatia	Murray Energy	7.2	8.5	0.0	8.5	429	
Pattiki Mine	Alliance Res. Part.	2.5	2.0	0.0	2.0	297	
Wabash <sup>2</sup>	Foundation Coal	1.2	2.1	0.0	2.1	639	
Willow Lake Portal	Peabody Energy	<u>3.6</u>	<u>1.0</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>1.0</u>	102	
TOTAL <sup>3</sup> :		14.5	13.6	0.0	13.6	-	
Estimated Emissions ar	nd Avoided Emissio	ons of Metha	ne and CO <sub>2</sub> E	quivalent	Methane	CO <sub>2</sub>	
From Operating Mines N	Not Currently Using	) Methane (fo	our mines):		(Bcf/yr)	(mmt/yr)	
2006 Estimated Total	Emissions				5.0	2.2	
Estimated Annual Avo	ided Emissions if Re	covery Proje	cts are Implen	nented <sup>4</sup>	1.0 – 3.0	0.4 – 1.3	
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how	<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these data were estimated.						
<sup>2</sup> Wabash mine was abandoned in early 2007.							
<sup>3</sup> Values shown here do not always sum to totals due to rounding.							
<sup>4</sup> Range calculated assum	ning 20% - 60% of to	tal liberated i	methane could	d be recovere	ed.		

### Indiana

A single Indiana mine, the Gibson mine, is profiled in this report. This room-and-pillar operation, which opened in 2000, is currently considered the gassiest underground mine in Indiana. Table 6-4 shows the mine produced 3.6 million tons of coal in 2006. Gibson mine reported total methane emissions of approximately 1.1 billion cubic feet in 2006, and is not equipped with a degasification system. Based on these emissions, a methane use project may remain viable at the Gibson mine.

Table 6-4: Indiana Mines							
			2006	Ventilation a	nd Drainage I	Data <sup>1</sup>	
Mine	Company	2006 Coal Production (mm tons)	Ventilation Emissions (mmcf/d)	Estimated Methane Drained (mmcf/d)	Estimated Total Methane Liberated (mmcf/d)	Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton)	
Operating But Not Using	Methane:						
Gibson	Alliance Res. Part.	<u>3.6</u>	<u>3.1</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>3.1</u>	<u>313</u>	
TOTAL <sup>2</sup> :		3.6	3.1	0.0	3.1	-	
Estimated Emissions ar	nd Avoided Emissio	ons of Metha	ne and CO <sub>2</sub> E	Equivalent	Methane	CO <sub>2</sub>	
From Operating Mines N	Not Currently Using	g Methane (G	ibson):		(Bcf/yr)	(mmt/yr)	
2006 Estimated Total	Emissions				1.1	0.5	
Estimated Annual Avo	ided Emissions if Re	covery Proje	cts are Implen	nented <sup>3</sup>	0.2 – 0.7	0.1 – 0.3	
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these data were estimated.							
<sup>2</sup> Values shown here do not always sum to totals due to rounding.							
<sup>3</sup> Range calculated assun	ning 20% - 60% of to	otal liberated i	methane could	d be recovere	ed.		

## Kentucky

Kentucky has five operating mines that are good candidates for the development of methane recovery projects. All five mines have methane emissions close to, or slightly above 1 mmcf/d. Table 6-5 shows that methane emissions from the five Kentucky mines totaled an estimated 1.9 Bcf in 2006. Implementation of methane recovery and use projects at these eight mines could reduce annual methane emissions by an estimated 0.4 - 1.2 Bcf/yr.

Table 6-5: Kentucky Mines							
			2006 Ventilation and Drainage Data <sup>1</sup>				
Mine	Company	2006 Coal Production (mm tons)	Ventilation Emissions (mmcf/d)	Estimated Methane Drained (mmcf/d)	Estimated Total Methane Liberated	Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton)	
				· · ·	(mmcf/d)		
Operating But Not Using	Methane:						
Dotiki	Alliance Res. Part.	4.7	0.9	0.0	0.9	71	
E3-1	Teco Coal	1.1	0.9	0.0	0.9	298	
Jones Fork E-3	CONSOL Energy	1.8	1.1	0.0	1.1	221	
Mine No. 2	Alliance Res. Part.	0.8	1.1	0.0	1.1	457	
No. 3 Mine	Alliance Res. Part	<u>1.9</u>	<u>1.3</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>1.3</u>	<u>262</u>	
TOTAL: <sup>2</sup>		10.3	5.3	0.0	5.3	-	
Estimated Emissions an Equivalent From Opera	nd Avoided Emissi ting Mines Not Cur	ons of Meth rently Using	ane and CO g Methane (f	) <sub>2</sub> five mines):	Methane (Bcf/yr)	CO <sub>2</sub> (mmt/yr)	
2006 Estimated Total	Emissions				1.9	0.9	
Estimated Annual Avo	Estimated Annual Avoided Emissions if Recovery Projects are Implemented <sup>3</sup> $0.4 - 1.2$ $0.2 - 0.5$						
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these data were estimated.							
<sup>2</sup> Values shown here do r	not always sum to to	otals due to re	ounding.				
<sup>3</sup> Range calculated assum	ning 20% - 60% of to	otal liberated	methane co	uld be recov	ered.		

### **New Mexico**

The San Juan mine, which is owned by the BHP Billiton, is the only New Mexico mine profiled in this report. Coal from the mine is used to supply the nearby San Juan generating station. This longwall mine opened in 2002 and methane recovery began in 2003. As shown in Table 6-6, San Juan produced ventilation emissions of 3.9 mmcf/d in 2006, and total methane liberated was 6.5 mmcf/d (2.4 Bcf/yr) in 2006. The mine employs a degasification system which uses both vertical gob vent boreholes and in-mine, horizontal, pre-drainage boreholes. The mine recovered close to 1 Bcf in 2006. Recovered methane was used for pipeline injection from 2003-2005, however San Juan owns only the coal rights. The mine can vent the gas while mining, but cannot recover the gas for commercial benefit. As such, there is little incentive for the mine to drain more gas for the two oil and gas operators who have the rights to the CBM on the property.

Table 6-6: New Mexico Mines							
	2006 Ventilation and Drainage Data <sup>1</sup>					Data <sup>1</sup>	
		2006 Coal	Ventilation	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated	
Mine	Company	Production	Emissions	Methane	Total	Specific	
		(mm tons)	(mmci/a)	(mmcf/d)	Liberated	(cf/ton)	
				(mmor/u)	(mmcf/d)	(0., (0.))	
Operating But Not Using	Methane:						
San Juan South	BHP Billiton	<u>7.0</u>	<u>3.9</u>	<u>2.6</u>	<u>6.5</u>	<u>340</u>	
TOTAL <sup>2</sup> :		7.0	3.9	2.6	6.5	-	
Estimated Emissions ar	nd Avoided Emissio	ons of Metha	ne and CO <sub>2</sub> E	Equivalent	Methane	CO <sub>2</sub>	
From Operating Mines I	Not Currently Using	g Methane (S	an Juan Sou	th):	(Bcf/yr)	(mmt/yr)	
2006 Estimated Total	Emissions				2.4	1.1	
Estimated Annual Avo	ided Emissions if Re	ecovery Proje	cts are Implen	nented <sup>3</sup>	0.5 – 1.4	0.2 - 0.6	
Chapter 4 explains how these data were estimated.							
<sup>2</sup> Values shown here do not always sum to totals due to rounding.							
<sup>3</sup> Range calculated assum	ning 20% - 60% of to	otal liberated i	methane could	d be recovere	ed.		

### Ohio

As with the Illinois mines, Ohio mines tend to be less gassy than mines in other regions of the country. Two operating Ohio mines are profiled in this report, the Century and Powhatan No. 6 mines. As shown in Table 6-7, these mines produced 10.8 million tons in 2006 and had ventilation emissions of 3.9 mmcf/d. As of 2006, no drainage systems were in place in either mine. The implementation of methane recovery and use projects at the two Ohio mines could reduce annual methane emissions by 0.3 - 0.8 Bcf/yr.

	Table 6-7: Ohio Mines							
			2006	)6 Ventilation and Drainage Data <sup>1</sup>				
Mine	Company	2006 Coal Production	Ventilation Emissions	Estimated Methane	Estimated Total	Estimated Specific		
		(mm tons)	(mmcf/d)	Drained	Methane	Emissions		
				(mmci/d)	Liberated (mmcf/d)	(Ci/ton)		
Operating But Not Using Methane:								
Century	Murray Energy	6.5	1.9	0.0	1.9	105		
Powhatan No. 6	Murray Energy	<u>4.4</u>	2.0	<u>0.0</u>	<u>2.0</u>	<u>167</u>		
TOTAL: <sup>2</sup>		10.8	3.9	0.0	3.9	-		
Estimated Emissions an Equivalent From Opera	nd Avoided Emissi ting Mines Not Cur	ons of Meth rently Using	ane and CO 3 Methane (t	₀₂ :wo mines):	Methane (Bcf/yr)	CO₂ (mmt/yr)		
2006 Estimated Total	Emissions				1.4	0.6		
Estimated Annual Avo	ided Emissions if R	ecovery Proj	ects are Imp	lemented <sup>3</sup>	0.3 – 0.8	0.1 – 0.4		
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these data were estimated.								
<sup>2</sup> Values shown here do r	not always sum to to	tals due to re	ounding.					
<sup>3</sup> Range calculated assun	ning 20% - 60% of to	otal liberated	methane co	uld be recov	ered.			

### Oklahoma

A single Oklahoma mine, the South Central mine, is profiled in this report. This room-and-pillar operation, which opened in 1995, is currently considered the gassiest underground mine in Oklahoma. As shown in Table 6-8, in 2006, the mine produced 0.4 million tons annually and reported total methane emissions of approximately 0.3 billion cubic feet in 2006. Based on these emissions, and a history of gassy mines in the Arkoma Basin, a coalmine methane project may be viable at the South Central mine.

	Table 6-8: Oklahoma Mines							
			2006	2006 Ventilation and Drainage Data <sup>1</sup>				
Mine	Company	2006 Coal Production (mm tons)	Ventilation Emissions (mmcf/d)	Estimated Methane Drained (mmcf/d)	Estimated Total Methane Liberated (mmcf/d)	Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton)		
Operating But Not Using Methane:								
South Central S	S. Central Coal Co.	<u>0.4</u>	<u>0.9</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>0.9</u>	<u>735</u>		
TOTAL <sup>2</sup> :		0.4	0.9	0.0	0.9	-		
Estimated Emissions ar From Operating Mines N	nd Avoided Emission Not Currently Using	ons of Metha g Methane (S	ne and CO₂ E outh Central)	Equivalent ):	Methane (Bcf/yr)	CO₂ (mmt/yr)		
2006 Estimated Total	Emissions				0.3	0.1		
Estimated Annual Avo	ided Emissions if Re	ecovery Proje	cts are Implen	nented <sup>3</sup>	0.1 – 0.2	0.0 - 0.1		
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these data were estimated.								
<sup>2</sup> Values shown here do n	Values shown here do not always sum to totals due to rounding.							
<sup>3</sup> Range calculated assun	ning 20% - 60% of to	otal liberated i	methane could	d be recovere	ed.			

### Pennsylvania

As demonstrated in Table 6-9, two of the mines at which successful methane recovery and use projects have already been developed are located in Pennsylvania. The Cumberland and Emerald mines are both longwall operations, and are both owned by Foundation Coal. The total methane drained at the two Foundation Coal mine properties equaled 5.7 mmcf/d in 2006. It is assumed that all methane drained is injected into pipeline for sales.

Three operating Pennsylvania mines are good candidates for methane recovery and use and are profiled in this report. Coal production, ventilation, and drainage data on these mines are shown in Table 6-9.

In 2006, the three mines that are not using methane liberated about 25.9 mmcf/d (9.4 Bcf/yr) of methane. Several of these mines are located in Greene County, Pennsylvania. In fact, Greene County is the location of the two of the three largest underground mines in the United States, CONSOL's Enlow Fork and Bailey mines. These mines are adjacent to one another and are often referred to as the Bailey-Enlow Fork complex.

Table 6-9 shows that the implementation of recovery and use projects at the three profiled Pennsylvania mines that are currently operating could reduce annual methane emissions by 1.9 - 5.7 Bcf/yr.

		Table 6-9: F	Pennsylvani	a Mines			
			200	06 Ventilatio	on, Drainage a	and Use Da	ta <sup>1</sup>
		2006 Coal	Ventilation	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated
Mine	Company	Production	Emissions	Methane	Total	Specific	Methane
		(mm tons)	(mmcf/d)	Drained	Methane	Emissions	Used (mmcf/d)
				(mmci/a)	Liberated	(ct/ton)	(mmci/u)
Minoa Llaing Mathan	(minoc at which r					alanad):	
	E (mines at which i			S liave allea			2.4
	Foundation Coal	7.5	6.7	3.4	10.1	491	3.4
Emeraid	Foundation Coal	<u>5.9</u>	<u>5.2</u>	2.3	<u>7.4</u>	<u>458</u>	2.3
Total for All Mines U	Jsing Methane	13.4	11.9	5.7	17.5	-	5.7
Operating But Not Us	sing Methane:						
Bailey	CONSOL Energy	10.2	7.5	3.2	10.7	383	0.0
Eighty-Four	CONSOL Energy	3.5	5.1	0.0	5.1	532	0.0
Enlow Fork	CONSOL Energy	<u>10.7</u>	<u>10.1</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>10.1</u>	344	<u>0.0</u>
Total for All Mines I	Not Using Methan	e <u>24.4</u>	<u>22.7</u>	<u>3.2</u>	<u>25.9</u>	-	<u>0.0</u>
TOTAL:2		37.8	34.5	8.9	43.4	-	5.7
Estimated Emissior	ns and Avoided E	missions of	Methane a	nd CO₂ Equ	ivalent	Methane	CO <sub>2</sub>
From Operating Mir	nes Not Currently	Using Meth	ane (three	mines):		(Bcf/yr)	(mmt/yr)
2006 Estimated T	otal Emissions					9.4	4.2
Estimated Annual Avoided Emissions if Recovery Project is Implemented <sup>3</sup> 1.9 – 5.7 0.8 – 2.5					0.8 – 2.5		
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains	<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these were estimated.						
<sup>2</sup> Values shown here do not always sum to totals due to rounding.							
<sup>3</sup> Range calculated a	ssuming 20% - 60°	% of total lib	erated metha	ane could b	e recovered.		

In early 2007, CONSOL Energy – in partnership with CNX Gas Corporation and Ingersoll Rand Energy Systems – successfully demonstrated electricity generation by a microturbine fueled by unprocessed CMM at Bailey mine. The unit will undergo a one-year operational phase. The 70 kW microturbine is expected to generate approximately 500 MWh of electricity while consuming

approximately 8 mmcf of methane that would have otherwise been emitted to the atmosphere (USEPA, 2007b).

### Utah

Utah has a number of underground mines with relatively low methane emissions along the Wasatch Plateau, but it also has several deep and gassy mines with high methane emissions located nearby in the Uinta Basin. As with Colorado, these mines present potential opportunities for those interested in developing a methane recovery project in the West. Three operating Utah mines are good candidates for methane recovery and use and are profiled in this report.

As shown in Table 6-10, the Aberdeen mine is currently the gassiest in the state with 2006 estimated specific emissions of 1,202 cf/ton. However, Dugout Canyon and West Ridge liberated a total of 1.7 mmcf/d and 3.6 mmcf/d in 2006, respectively. These Utah mines have produced high total methane emissions depending on their yearly coal production. Table 6-10 shows that the implementation of methane recovery and use projects at these three operating Utah mines could reduce annual methane emissions by 0.9 - 2.7 Bcf/yr.

Table 6-10: Utah Mines						
			2006	Ventilation a	and Drainage	Data <sup>1</sup>
Mine	Company	2006 Coal Production (mm tons)	Ventilation Emissions (mmcf/d)	Estimated Methane Drained (est.) (mmcf/d)	Estimated Total Methane Liberated (mmcf/d)	Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton)
Operating But Not Using	Methane:					
Aberdeen	Murray Energy	2.1	5.2	1.7	6.9	1,202
Dugout Canyon	Arch Coal	4.4	1.3	1.3 0.4		141
West Ridge	Murray Energy	<u>3.0</u>	<u>3.6</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>3.6</u>	430
TOTAL: <sup>2</sup>		9.5	10.0	2.1	12.1	-
Estimated Emissions ar From Operating Mines N	nd Avoided Emissior Not Currently Using I	ns of Methane Wethane (thre	and CO <sub>2</sub> Eq e mines):	juivalent	Methane (Bcf/yr)	CO₂ (mmt/yr)
2006 Estimated Total	Emissions				4.4	2.0
Estimated Annual Avoided Emissions if Recovery Projects are Implemented <sup>3</sup> 0.9 – 2.7 0.4 – 1.2						0.4 – 1.2
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how	these data were estin	nated.				
<sup>2</sup> Values shown here do n	<sup>2</sup> Values shown here do not always sum to totals due to rounding.					
<sup>3</sup> Range calculated assun	ning 20% - 60% of tota	al liberated me	thane could	be recovere	d.	

In January 2007, methane capture began at Aberdeen mine. The mine captures and processes between 3 and 7 mmcf/d of methane, and the gas is then compressed and injected into a natural gas pipeline. It is the first large-scale capture of methane from a coal mine west of the Mississippi River. However, technical problems have limited the facility to run at 30-40% of capacity (Best, 2007).

### Virginia

As Table 6-11 demonstrates, two of the mines at which successful methane recovery and use projects have already been developed are located in Virginia. The Buchanan and the VP 8 mines are both longwall operations, and are owned by CONSOL Energy. The total methane drained at the two CONSOL Virginia mine properties equaled 79.7 mmcf/d in 2006. This number significantly exceeds ventilation emissions of 11.6 mmcf/d, which indicates that recovery efficiencies (greater that 80% at

both mines) are higher than standard EPA assumptions. Table 6-11 shows that CONSOL operates the largest active methane recovery project in the United States.

		Table 6-1	1: Virginia	Mines			
			200	06 Ventilatic	on, Drainage a	and Use Da	ta <sup>1</sup>
		2006 Coal	Ventilation	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated
Mine	Company	Production	Emissions	Methane	Total	Specific	Methane
		(mm tons)	(mmcf/d)	Drained	Methane	Emissions	Used
				(mmcf/d)	Liberated	(cf/ton)	(mmcf/d)
		<u> </u>			(mmcf/d)		
Mines Using Methan	e (mines at which r	ecovery and	d use project	ts have alrea	ady been dev	eloped):	
Buchanan	CONSOL Energy	5.0	8.4	63.9	72.3	5,270	51.3 <sup>4</sup>
VP 8 <sup>2</sup>	CONSOL Energy	<u>0.3</u>	<u>3.2</u>	<u>15.8</u>	<u>19.0</u>	<u>24,295<sup>3</sup></u>	<u>12.7</u> <sup>4</sup>
Total for All Mines	<b>Using Methane</b>	5.3	11.6	79.7	91.4	-	63.9
Operating But Not Us	sing Methane:						
Deep Mine #26	Alpha Nat. Res.	2.0	3.7	0.0	3.7	672	0.0
Mile Branch	CONSOL Energy	0.3	1.2	0.0	1.2	1,393	0.0
No.2	Alpha Nat. Res.	<u>0.2</u>	<u>0.8</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>0.8</u>	<u>1,498</u>	<u>0.0</u>
Total for All Mines I	Not Using Methan	e <u>2.5</u>	<u>5.7</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>5.7</u>	-	<u>0.0</u>
TOTAL: <sup>5</sup>		7.8	17.3	79.7	97.0	-	63.9
Estimated Emissior	ns and Avoided E	missions of	i Methane a	nd CO <sub>2</sub> Equ	ivalent	Methane	CO <sub>2</sub>
From Operating Mir	nes Not Currently	Using Meth	nane (three	mines		(Bcf/yr)	(mmt/yr)
2006 Estimated T	otal Emissions					2.1	0.9
Estimated Annual	Avoided Emission	s if Recover	y Project is I	mplemented	1 <sup>6</sup>	0.4– 1.2	0.2-0.6
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains hc	w these were estima	ited.					
<sup>2</sup> VP 8 completed unde	rground mining in sp	ring of 2006 d	lue to lack of r	reserves, how	ever gas recov	very continue	s.
<sup>3</sup> CONSOL Energy's VI	<sup>3</sup> CONSOL Energy's VP 8 mine in Virginia had specific emissions of 24,295 cf/ton based on total methane liberated in 2006.						
However, the mine was shut down in spring 2006 but gas recovery continued, leading to elevated methane liberated per ton							
or coal produced. Based on first quarter coal production - the last full quarter of production - of 0.259 million short tons and quarterly methane liberation of 1 734 mmcf, specific emissions for the last full quarter of operation were 6 695 cf/ton							
<sup>4</sup> CONSOL reports avoided emissions of Buchanan and VP 8 mines together. Estimated methane used by each mine is							
calculated based on we	eighted average of me	ethane draine	d for each mi	ne.		2	
<sup>5</sup> Values shown here do	o not always sum to to	otals due to ro	ounding.				
Range calculated ass	umina 20% - 60% of	total liberated	d methane cou	uld be recove	red.		

## West Virginia

Of the 50 mines profiled in this report, 13 are located in West Virginia. Of these mines, four are currently recovering methane for sale. Coal production, methane ventilation, and drainage data on these mines are shown in Table 6-12.

The four profiled mines that are recovering methane for sale are the Blacksville No. 2, Federal No. 2, Loveridge No. 22, and Pinnacle mines. In 2006, these mines liberated an estimated 33.4 mmcf/d (12.2 Bcf/yr), while recovering 9.9 mmcf/d (3.6 Bcf/yr). Federal No. 2 recovered and sold about 0.2 mmcf/d of methane in 2006, while Pinnacle sold 4.6 mmcf/d of methane to a gas marketing company, the project at Blacksville No. 2 sold about 2.5 mmcf/d, and Loveridge No. 22 sold 1.8 mmcf/d in 2006.

Eight of the West Virginia mines profiled in this report are located in the Northern Appalachian Basin; five of these are owned by CONSOL Energy. The remaining five operating mines that are profiled are located in the Central Appalachian Basin. Table 6-12 shows that the implementation of methane recovery and use projects at the nine operating mines that do not already use methane could reduce annual methane emissions by 2.6 - 7.7 Bcf/yr.

	Та	ble 6-12: We	est Virginia	Vines			
			200	06 Ventilatio	n, Drainage	and Use Da	ta <sup>1</sup>
		2006 Coal	Ventilation	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated	Estimated
Mine	Company	Production	Emissions	Methane	Total	Specific	Methane
		(mm tons)	(mmcf/d)	Drained	Methane	Emissions	Used
				(mmcf/d)	Liberated	(cf/ton)	(mmct/d)
			<u> </u>		(mmcf/d)		
Mines Using Methane (m	ines at which recov	very and use	projects have	e already be	en develope	ed):	2
Blacksville No. 2	CONSOL Energy	5.0	7.2	2.5	9.7	701	2.5
Federal No. 2	Patriot Coal	4.6	5.7	1.0	6.7	531	0.2
Loveridge No. 22	CONSOL Energy	6.4	5.3	1.8	7.1	406	1.8 <sup>2</sup>
Pinnacle	Cleveland-Cliffs	<u>2.0</u>	<u>5.2</u>	<u>4.6</u>	<u>9.8</u>	<u>1,785</u>	<u>4.6</u>
Total for All Mines Usin	g Methane	18.1	23.5	9.9	33.4	-	9.1
Operating But Not Using	Methane:						
American Eagle	Speed Mining	2.4	3.0	2.0	5.0	753	0.0
Beckley Crystal	Baylor Mining	0.3	2.0	0.0	2.0	2,185	0.0
Dakota No. 2 <sup>3</sup>	Magnum Coal	0.6	1.0	0.0	1.0	601	0.0
Eagle	Newtown Energy	1.3	1.2	0.0	1.2	350	0.0
Justice #1	Massey Energy	0.9	0.9	0.0	0.9	363	0.0
McElroy	CONSOL Energy	10.5	12.8	2.3	15.1	525	0.0
Robinson Run No. 95	CONSOL Energy	5.7	4.0	1.7	5.7	361	0.0
Shoemaker	CONSOL Energy	1.0	3.1	0.0	3.1	1,159	0.0
Whitetail Kittanning	Alpha Nat. Res.	<u>1.4</u>	<u>1.4</u>	<u>0.0</u>	<u>1.4</u>	<u>366</u>	<u>0.0</u>
Total for All Mines Not	g Methane	<u>24.1</u>	<u>29.4</u>	<u>5.9</u>	<u>35.3</u>	-	<u>0.0</u>
TOTAL: <sup>4</sup>		42.2	52.9	15.8	68.7	-	9.1
Estimated Emissions ar	nd Avoided Emiss	ions of Meth	ane and CC	02 Equivalen	t From	Methane	CO <sub>2</sub>
Operating Mines Not Cu	irrently Using Met	hane (nine r	nines):			(Bcf/yr)	(mmt/yr)
2006 Estimated Total	Emissions			_		12.9	5.7
Estimated Annual Avoided Emissions if Recovery Project is Implemented <sup>5</sup> $2.6 - 7.7$ $1.1 - 3.4$					1.1 – 3.4		
<sup>1</sup> Chapter 4 explains how these were estimated.							
<sup>2</sup> Assumes Blacksville No. 2 and Loveridge No. 22 avoided emissions reported together. Estimated methane use by							
each mine is calculated based on weighted average of methane drained for each mine.							
Dakota No. 2 abandone	Dakota No. 2 abandoned in 2007.						
Values shown here do r	ot always sum to t	otals due to r	ounding.				
Range calculated assuming 20% - 60% of total liberated methane could be recovered.							

# 6. Profiled Mines (continued)

## **Alabama Mines**

Blue Creek No. 4 Blue Creek No. 5 Blue Creek No. 7 North River Oak Grove Shoal Creek

Mine Status:ActiveDrainage System:Yes		2006 Rank:	11			
Use Project: Pipeline	<u> </u>	Updated:	05/09/2008			
	Blue Creek No. 4					
	GEOGRAPHIC DATA					
Basin: Black Warrior	State: AL					
Coalbed: Blue Creek / Mary Lee	County: Tuscaloos	sa				
	ORPORATE INFORMATION					
Current Operator: Jim Walter Resources Inc						
Owner/Parent Company: Walter Industries Industries	Parent Company Web Site:	www.jimwalterresc	ources.com			
Previous Owner(s): None in last 10 years	Previous or Alternate Name of	of Mine: No. 4 Mir	ie			
	MINE ADDRESS					
Contact Name: Keith Shalvey, Mine Mgr.	Phone Number: (205	i) 554-6450				
Mailing Address: 14730 Lock 17 Rd						
City: Brookwood	State: AL ZIP: 3544	4				
-						
	GENERAL INFORMATION					
Number of Employees at Mine: 471	Mining Method: Longwall					
Year of Initial Production: 1976	Primary Coal Use: Metallu	urgical				
Life Expectancy: 2020	Sulfur Content of Coal Pr	oduced: 0.75% -	0.95%			
Prep Plant Located on Site: Yes	BTUs/Ib of Coal Produced	<b>d:</b> 14,200				
Depth to Seam (ft): 1,900	Seam Thickness (ft): 5.0	)				
PRODUCTION.	ENTILATION AND DRAINAGE DATA					
,	<u>2002</u> <u>2003</u> <u>2</u>	<u>004</u> <u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>			
Coal Production (million short tons/year):	2.8 2.8	3.1 3.0	2.2			
Estimated Total Methane Liberated (million c	/ <b>day):</b> 26.5 20.0 1	16.5 25.5	23.2			
Emission from Ventilation Systems:	11.7 8.7	8.2 6.3	6.4			
Estimated Methane Drained:	14.8 11.4	8.3 19.2	16.8			
Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton):	3434 2614 1	977 3067	3874			
Methane Used (million cf/day):	14.8 11.4	8.3 19.2	16.8			
Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency:	3%					
Estimated Current Market Penetration: 10	0%					

Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes

# Blue Creek No. 4 (continued)

	Assumed Por	tential Recovery E	fficiency	
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.753	1.50	2.259	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	11.8%	23.6%	35.4%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	2.7%	5.5%	8.2%	
Power Generation Pot	tential			
Utility Electric Supplier: Alabama Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: Southern Co				
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u>	<u>Wh/year</u>	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		17.3	65.6	
Mine Electricity Demand:		13.6	52.5	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		3.7	13.1	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		17.6	154.0	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		35.2	308.1	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		52.8	462.1	
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		1.7		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):	3.4			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):	5.1			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Hills/Open High Hills				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: El Paso Corporation				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 5.3 Pip	eline Diameter (ii	n <b>ches):</b> 4.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: El Paso Corporation				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 6.0 Pi	peline Diameter	( <b>inches):</b> 16.0		
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Gorgas		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 25	
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Tuscaloosa Co Ger spandex, others; St others	neral Manufacturing: teel plants; Chemica	steel, lumber, aspl l: detergent, paint, i	nalt, screens, industrial gases,	

Active (Abandoned in 2007) Mine Status: 2006 Rank: 29 Drainage System: Yes Updated: 05/09/2008 **Use Project:** Pipeline Blue Creek No. 5 **GEOGRAPHIC DATA** Basin: Black Warrior State: AL Coalbed: Blue Creek County: Tuscaloosa **CORPORATE INFORMATION** Current Operator: Jim Walter Resources Inc Parent Company Web Site: www.jimwalterresources.com **Owner/Parent Company:** Walter Industries Inc Previous Owner(s): None in last 10 years Previous or Alternate Name of Mine: No. 5 Mine MINE ADDRESS Contact Name: Trent Thrasher, Mine Mgr. Phone Number: (205) 554-6550 Mailing Address: 12972 Lock 17 Rd City: Brookwood State: AL ZIP: 35444 **GENERAL INFORMATION** Mining Method: Longwall Number of Employees at Mine: 5 Year of Initial Production: 1978 Primary Coal Use: Steam, Metallurgical Life Expectancy: 2006 Sulfur Content of Coal Produced: 0.72% - 0.8% Prep Plant Located on Site: Yes BTUs/Ib of Coal Produced: 13,300 Depth to Seam (ft): 2,200 Seam Thickness (ft): 6.0 PRODUCTION, VENTILATION AND DRAINAGE DATA 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Coal Production (million short tons/year): 0.7 1.4 1.5 0.7 0.8 Estimated Total Methane Liberated (million cf/day): 14.2 18.0 21.2 10.9 9.4 2.7 **Emission from Ventilation Systems:** 6.3 7.8 10.6 2.6 **Estimated Methane Drained:** 8.0 10.2 10.7 8.2 6.8 Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton): 7639 4749 5221 6044 4271 Methane Used (million cf/day): 8.0 10.2 10.7 8.2 6.8 **Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency:** 73% **Estimated Current Market Penetration:** 100% Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes

# Blue Creek No. 5 (continued)

	Assumed Pot	ential Recovery E	fficiency	
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.306	0.61	0.918	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	13.9%	27.8%	41.7%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	3.2%	6.4%	9.6%	
Power Generation Pot	tential			
Utility Electric Supplier: Alabama Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: Southern Co				
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		6.4	24.2	
Mine Electricity Demand:		5.0	19.3	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		1.4	4.8	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		7.1	62.6	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		14.3	125.2	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		21.4	187.8	
Pipeline Sales Pot	tential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.7		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):	1.4			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):	2.1			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Hills/Open High Hills				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: El Paso Corporation				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 3.5 Pip	eline Diameter (ir	16.0 nches): 16.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA Pi	ipeline Diameter (	(inches): NA		
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Gorgas		Distance to Pl	ant (miles): 27	
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Tuscaloosa Co Gerspandex, others; Stothers	neral Manufacturing: teel plants; Chemical	steel, lumber, asph : detergent, paint, i	alt, screens, ndustrial gases,	

Mine Status:	Active								
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	4		
Use Project:	Pipeline					Updated:	05/09/2008		
		Blue C	reek No. 7						
	GEOGRAPHIC DATA								
Basin: Black Warric	or		Stat	te: AL					
Coalbed: Blue Cree	k / Mary Lee		Cou	Inty: Tusca	aloosa				
		CORPORATE	E INFORMATIO	N					
Current Operator: J	lim Walter Resources Ir	าด							
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Walter Industries	Inc	Parent Compa	any Web Si	t <b>e:</b> www.ji	mwalterres	ources.com		
Previous Owner(s):	Previous or A	lternate Na	me of Mine	e: No. 7 Mii	ne				
		MINE A	DDRESS						
Contact Name: Tren	t Thrasher, Mine Mgr.		Phone	e Number:	(205) 554-6	6750			
Mailing Address: 180	)69 Hannah Creek Rd								
City: Brookwood		Sta	ite: AL	ZIP: 3	35444				
		GENERAL		N					
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 692		Mining Me	ethod: Long	wall				
Year of Initial Produc	<b>:tion:</b> 1978		Primary C	oal Use: Me	etallurgical				
Life Expectancy: 20	39		Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.58% -	0.75%		
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb o	f Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 14,5	00			
Depth to Seam (ft): 1	.900		Seam Thio	ckness (ft):	6.4				
,	PRODUCTION	ν νεντίι ατι			тΔ				
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>		
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		2.0	1.9	2.3	2.0	2.6		
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	n cf/day):	25.1	22.5	15.9	31.8	31.6		
Emission fro	om Ventilation System	is:	11.0	9.8	7.9	7.8	8.7		
Estimated M	lethane Drained:		14.0	12.8	8.0	24.0	22.9		
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		4620	4421	2482	5697	4510		
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		14.0	12.8	8.0	24.0	22.9		
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	73%							
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	100%							

Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes

# Blue Creek No. 7 (continued)

	Assumed Po	tential Recovery	/ Efficiency	
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	1.025	2.05	3.076	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	13.5%	26.9%	40.4%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	3.1%	6.2%	9.3%	
Power Generation Pot	tential			
Utility Electric Supplier: Alabama Power Co	Transmission I	Line in County	r: Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: Southern Co				
		MW	GWh/year	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		20.3	76.7	
Mine Electricity Demand:		15.9	61.4	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		4.4	15.3	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		23.9	209.7	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		47.9	419.5	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		71.8	629.2	
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		Bc	<u>f</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		2.3	3	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):	4.6			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):	6.9			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Hills/Open High Hills				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: El Paso Corporation				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 5.1 Pip	eline Diameter (i	nches): 16.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA Pi	peline Diameter	(inches): NA		
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Gorgas		Distance to	Plant (miles): 23	
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Tuscaloosa Co Ger spandex, others; St others	neral Manufacturing teel plants; Chemica	: steel, lumber, as Il: detergent, pair	sphalt, screens, it, industrial gases,	

Mine Status: Drainage System: Use Project:	Active No None	North Div			2	006 Rank: Updated:	19 05/09/2008
Basin: Black Warrio	r	GEOGRAFII	Stat	e. Al			
Coolhod: Drott			Court	•••••• <b>⊤</b>			
Coalded: Plan			Cou	nty: Tusca	aloosa		
		CORPORATE IN	FORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: C	Chevron Mining Inc						
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Chevron Corporation	n <b>Pa</b>	rent Compa	any Web Sit	e: www.c	hevron.com	1
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	Pre	evious or A	Iternate Na	me of Mine	: North Riv	ver No. 1
		MINE ADD	RESS				
Contact Name: Mark	Premo, Gen. Mine Mgr.		Phone	Number:	(205) 333-5	5000	
Mailing Address: 123	98 New Lexington Rd						
City: Berry		State: /	۹L	<b>ZIP:</b> 3	5546		
		GENERAL INF	ORMATION	1			
Number of Employee	s at Mine: 404		Mining Me	thod: Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	tion: 1974		Primary Co	nal Use: Ste	eam Metal	lurgical	
Life Expectancy: NA			Sulfur Cor	tent of Cos		<b>d:</b> 1 5% - 1	85%
Bron Plant Located o	n Sito: Voc		BTUS/Ib of			00	.00 /0
Frep Flant Localed o	in Sile. Tes		B105/10 01	Coal Flou	uceu. 12,0	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): 6	50		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	4.7		
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION	AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mill	lion short tons/year):		3.4	3.5	3.7	3.4	2.8
Estimated Total Meth	ane Liberated (million c	f/day):	5.1	4.2	5.5	4.2	4.9
Emission fro	m Ventilation Systems:		5.1	4.2	5.5	4.2	4.9
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton): 547 437 537 449 64					648		
Methane Used (millio	n cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current Dr	ainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current Ma	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Use	ed: None						

# North River Mine (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency					
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>			
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.159	0.31	0.477			
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	2.3%	4.7%	7.0%			
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.5%	1.1%	1.6%			
Power Generation Pot	ential					
Utility Electric Supplier: Alabama Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes			
Parent Corporation of Utility: Southern Co						
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>			
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	:	21.9	82.9			
Mine Electricity Demand:		17.2	66.3			
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		4.7	16.6			
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)						
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		3.7	32.6			
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		7.4	65.1			
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		11.1	97.7			
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential					
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>				
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.4				
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.7				
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.1				
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Hills/Open High Hills						
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes						
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: El Paso Corporation						
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.4 Pip	eline Diameter (ir	nches): 16.0				
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: El Paso Corporation						
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 3.1 Pi	peline Diameter (	inches): 8.0				
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities					
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Gorgas		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 24			
ther Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Manufacturing including: apparel, wood, concrete and quarry tile, logging and lumber, structural steel fabrication						

Mine Status:	Active					<b>9</b>	006 Panki	0
Use Project:	Pipeline					2	Updated:	9 05/09/2008
		Oak	Grove	Mine				
		GEO	GRAPHIC	DATA				
Basin: Black Warric	or			Stat	e: AL			
Coalbed: Blue Cree	k			Cou	nty: Jeffer	son		
		CORPOR	RATE INFO	RMATIO	N			
Current Operator: C	Oak Grove Resources L	LC						
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Cleveland-Cliffs I	nc	Pare	nt Compa	iny Web Sit	t <b>e:</b> www.c	leveland-cli	ffs.com
Previous Owner(s): US Steel Mining Co LLC			Previ	ous or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	e: None	
		MIM	NE ADDRE	SS				
Contact Name: John	Contact Name:John HedrickPhone Number:(205) 497-3602							
Mailing Address: 880	00 Oak Grove Mine Rd							
City: Adger			State: AL		ZIP: 3	35006		
		GENEI	RAL INFO	RMATION				
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 407		Ν	lining Me	thod: Long	jwall		
Year of Initial Produc	<b>:tion:</b> 1981		Р	rimary Co	bal Use: St	eam, Metal	lurgical	
Life Expectancy: 20	23		S	ulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.5% - 0	).55%
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: No		В	TUs/lb of	Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 14,0	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): 1	,000		S	eam Thic	kness (ft):	5.2		
	PRODUCTION	N, VENTIL		ID DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
				<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):			1.9	1.7	1.5	1.7	1.4
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (millio	n cf/day):		14.8	14.4	12.1	9.8	7.5
Emission fro	om Ventilation System	is:		5.1	8.5	10.0	7.3	6.7
Estimated M	ethane Drained:			9.7	5.9	2.1	2.5	0.7
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):			2775	3047	2944	2075	1922
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):			9.7	5.9	2.1	1.7	0.7
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	10%						
Estimated Current M	timated Current Market Penetration: 100%							

Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes

# Oak Grove Mine (continued)

	Assumed Pot	ential Recovery	Efficiency		
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
$CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions (mm tons): $CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions/ $CO_2$	0.242	0.48	0.725		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	5.9%	11.9%	17.8%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	1.4%	2.7%	4.1%		
Power Generation Po	tential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Alabama Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County.	: Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: Southern Co					
		<u>MW</u> <u>C</u>	GWh/year		
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		11.2	42.5		
Mine Electricity Demand:		8.8	34.0		
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		2.4	8.5		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		5.6	49.5		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		11.3	98.9		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		16.9	148.4		
Pipeline Sales Po	tential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5	5		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):	1.1				
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.6	5		
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Hills/Open High Hills					
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: El Paso Corporation					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 3.7 Pip	eline Diameter (ir	nches): 24.0			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: El Paso Corporation					
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 4.2 P	ipeline Diameter (	(inches): 12.0			
Other Utilization Pos	ssibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Miller		Distance to	Plant (miles): 20		
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Jefferson county-w pigments, cosmetic clothes, slings; Ste	vide industry includes cs & perfumes, paints el pipe and tubing; M	- Chemical: Indu , ink; Textile: Co lisc. other types o	strial gases, rdage, chains, ropes, of general manufacturing		

Mine Status:	Active					
Drainage System:	Yes			2	2006 Rank:	20
Use Project:	Pipeline				Updated:	05/09/2008
	S	hoal Creek				
	GEC	OGRAPHIC DATA				
Basin: Black Warrie	or	St	ate: AL			
Coalbed: Blue Cree	ek / Mary Lee	Co	ounty: Jeffe	rson		
	CORPO	RATE INFORMATI	ON			
Current Operator:	Drummond Company Inc					
<b>Owner/Parent Comp</b>	any: Drummond Company Inc	Parent Com	pany Web Si	te: www.c	Irummondco	o.com
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	Previous or	Alternate Na	me of Mine	e: None	
	Μ					
Contact Name: Ken McCoy, General Mgr. Phone Number: (205) 491-6200						
Mailing Address: PO	) Box 1549					
City: Jasper		State: AL	ZIP: 3	35501		
	GENE	ERAL INFORMATIO	<b>N</b>			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 524	Mining M	lethod: Long	gwall		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1994	Primary	Coal Use: St	team		
Life Expectancy: NA	A	Sulfur C	ontent of Co	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.63% -	1.1%
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes	BTUs/lb	of Coal Prod	luced: 12,4	64	
Depth to Seam (ft): 1	1150	Seam Th	ickness (ft):	7.0 - 11.0	)	
	PRODUCTION, VENTIL	ATION AND DR	AINAGE DA	ТА		
		<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	llion short tons/year):	4.0	3.8	3.8	2.2	0.8
Estimated Total Met	hane Liberated (million cf/day):	7.4	8.7	13.1	10.3	4.7
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:	6.7	8.2	11.4	8.3	4.5
Estimated N	lethane Drained:	0.7	0.5	1.8	2.0	0.1
Estimated Specific E	Emissions (cf/ton):	683	828	1258	1701	2075
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):	0.7	0.5	0.6	0.1	0.1
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency: 3%					
Estimated Current M	larket Penetration: 100%					

Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps

# Shoal Creek (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency				
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.151	0.300	0.453		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	7.2%	14.4%	21.6%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	1.7%	3.3%	5.0%		
Power Generation Po	otential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Alabama Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: Southern Co					
		<u>MW G</u>	Wh/year		
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		6.5	24.5		
Mine Electricity Demand:		5.1	19.6		
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		1.4	4.9		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		3.5	30.9		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		7.0	61.7		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		10.6	92.6		
Pipeline Sales Po	otential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.7			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.0			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Hills/High Hills					
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: El Paso Corporation					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.3 Pip	peline Diameter (ii	n <b>ches):</b> 24.0			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA					
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA P	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): NA			
Other Utilization Po	ssibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Gorgas		Distance to P	lant (miles): 12		
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Jefferson county-v pigments, cosmeti clothes, slings; Ste	vide industry includes ics & perfumes, paints eel pipe and tubing; N	- Chemical: Indus s, ink; Textile: Cord lisc. other types of	trial gases, dage, chains, ropes, general manufacturing		

# 6. Profiled Mines (continued)

# **Colorado Mines**

Bowie No. 2 Elk Creek McClane Canyon West Elk

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	35
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008
		Bowie	No. 2				
		GEOGRAPI	HIC DATA				
Basin: Central Rocl	kies		State	e: CO			
Coalbed: B&D Sear	ns		Cou	nty: Delta			
		CORPORATE I	NFORMATION	N			
Current Operator: E	3owie Resources LLC	;					
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Union Pacific	Р	arent Compa	ny Web Sit	t <b>e:</b> http://v	vww.uprr.co	m/customers/
Previous Owner(s):	Coors Energy	Р	revious or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: None	
		MINE ADI	DRESS				
Contact Name: Allen	n Meckley		Phone	Number:	(970) 929-5	5240	
Mailing Address: 185	55 Old Hwy 133						
City: Paonia		<b>State:</b> CO <b>ZIP:</b> 81428					
		GENERAL IN	FORMATION				
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 278		Mining Met	thod: Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	<b>:tion:</b> 1998		Primary Co	bal Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy:			Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.5%	
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: No		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 12,0	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): N	NA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	NA		
	PRODUCTIO	ON, VENTILATION			ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	llion short tons/year	·):	5.4	4.9	4.1	1.9	4.4
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (mill	ion cf/day):	0.4	0.6	0.4	0.4	2.0
Emission fro	om Ventilation Syste	ems:	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.3	1.5
Estimated M	lethane Drained:		0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.5
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		28	41	37	85	161
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	25%					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	0%					
Drainage System Us	ed: Vertical Gob Bor	eholes with Pumps					

# Bowie No. 2 (continued)

	Assumed Potent	ial Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.063	0.120	0.190
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	0.6%	1.2%	1.7%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	: 0.1%	0.3%	0.4%
Power Generation Po	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Delta-Montrose Electric Association	Transmission Line	e in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Touchstone Energy Cooperatives			
	MV	<u>V</u> <u>G</u>	<u>Wh/year</u>
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	35.	0	132.6
Mine Electricity Demand:	27	.5	106.1
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:	7	.5	26.5
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:	1	5	12.9
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	3	0	25.9
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	4	4	38.8
Pipeline Sales Po	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.4	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Rocky Mountain Natural Gas			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): < 20.0 Pi	peline Diameter (inch	es): 8.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter (inc	:hes): NA	
Other Utilization Po	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Nucla	C	istance to Pl	ant (miles): 70
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities:			

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	13
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008
		Elk C	reek Mine				
		GEOGR	APHIC DATA				
Basin: Uinta			Stat	te: CO			
Coalbed: D-seam			<b>C</b> οι	<b>inty:</b> Gunr	nison		
		CORPORAT	<b>FE INFORMATIO</b>	N			
Current Operator: (	Oxbow Mining LLC						
Owner/Parent Comp	any: Oxbow Carbon 8	Materials Inc	Parent Compa	any Web Si	te: www.c	xbow.com	
Previous Owner(s): None Pre			Previous or A	lternate Na	me of Mine	e: None	
		MINE	ADDRESS				
Contact Name: Ran	Phone	e Number:	(970) 929-	5122			
Mailing Address: PC	) Box 535						
City: Somerset		St	ate: CO	ZIP: 8	31434		
		GENERA		N			
Number of Employe	es at Mine: 320		Mining Me	ethod: Long	gwall		
Year of Initial Produ	ction: 2002		Primary C	oal Use: St	eam		
Life Expectancy: 20	017		Sulfur Co	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.45%	
Prep Plant Located	on Site: No		BTUs/lb o	f Coal Prod	uced: 12,1	28	
Depth to Seam (ft):	1000-2000		Seam Thio	ckness (ft):	9.0 - 15.0		
	PRODUCTIO	Ν νεντί ατ			та		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mi	llion short tons/year):		0.6	4.6	6.6	6.5	5.1
Estimated Total Met	hane Liberated (millio	n cf/day):	0.1	1.1	5.1	5.5	7.4
Emission fr	om Ventilation System	ns:	0.1	1.1	3.8	4.1	5.6
Estimated M	Aethane Drained:		-	-	1.3	1.4	1.9
Estimated Specific E	Emissions (cf/ton):		33	91	282	308	530
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	25%					
Estimated Current N	larket Penetration:	0%					

Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps

# Elk Creek Mine (continued)

	Assumed Po	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency			
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
$CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions (mm tons): $CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions/ $CO_2$	0.242	0.48	0.725		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.9%	3.8%	5.7%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Production	uced: 0.4%	0.9%	1.3%		
Power Generation	on Potential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Delta-Montrose Electric Association	Transmission	Line in County:	Planned		
Parent Corporation of Utility: Touchstone Energy Cooperativ	es				
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u> V	<u>Vh/year</u>		
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		40.7	153.8		
Mine Electricity Demand:		31.9	123.1		
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		8.7	30.8		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		5.6	49.4		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		11.3	98.9		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		16.9	148.3		
Pipeline Sale	es Potential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.1			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.6			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Hilly/Mountainous					
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Kinder Morgan Inc					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 10.9	Pipeline Diameter (	i <b>nches):</b> 4.0			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Rocky Mountain Natural G	as				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 27.0	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): 6.0			
Other Utilizatio	n Possibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Nucla		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 74		
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Hospital and mine. Perfur plant to east	d other institutional facilities me/cosmetic chemical facil t in Delta Co	s. Coal processing p ity and men's footwe	lant directly next to ear manufacturing		

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	45
Use Project:	None	McClone (	anvan Min	•		Updated:	05/09/2008
			anyon win	e			
		GEOGRA	PHIC DATA				
Basin: Uinta			State	e: CO			
Coalbed: Cameo Se	eam		Cou	nty: Garfie	eld		
		CORPORATE	INFORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: N	IcClane Canyon Mining	LLC					
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Wexford Capital LL	_C	Parent Compa	ny Web Sit	e: NA		
Previous Owner(s):	CAM Mining LLC		Previous or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: NA	
		MINE A	DDRESS				
Contact Name: Mark		Phone	Number:	(435) 448-9	9454		
Mailing Address: 314	l8 Hwy 139						
City: Loma		Stat	e: CO	<b>ZIP:</b> 8	1524		
		GENERAL	INFORMATION				
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 26		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 2005		Primary Co	oal Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.57%	
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: No		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 11,5	22	
Depth to Seam (ft): N	IA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	13		
	PRODUCTION			NAGE DA	ТА		
		,	<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		-	-	-	0.3	0.3
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	cf/day):	-	-	-	0.3	0.9
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems	:	-	-	-	0.3	0.9
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		-	-	-	394	1300
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Use	ed: None						
# Mc Clane Canyon Mine (continued)

	Assumed Por	tential Recovery I	Efficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.030	0.06	0.091
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	4.9%	9.7%	14.6%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	<b>d:</b> 1.1%	2.3%	3.4%
Power Generation P	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: None	Transmission I	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: NA			
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u>	Wh/year
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		2.1	7.9
Mine Electricity Demand:		1.6	6.3
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		0.4	1.6
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.7	6.2
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.4	12.4
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.1	18.7
Pipeline Sales P	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? NA			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): NA P	ipeline Diameter (i	nches): NA	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): NA	
Other Utilization Po	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Bonanza		Distance to P	lant (miles): 52
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: NA			

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	3
Use Project:	Heaters					Updated:	05/09/2008
		West El	K Mine				
		GEOGRAPI	HIC DATA				
Basin: Uinta			State	e: CO			
Coalbed: B Seam			Cou	<b>nty:</b> Gunn	ison		
	С	ORPORATE I	NFORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: M	Iountain Coal Company						
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Arch Coal Inc	Р	arent Compa	iny Web Sit	e: www.a	rchcoal.con	n
Previous Owner(s):	Atlantic Richfield/ITOCHU	Corp P	revious or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	e: Mt. Gunr	ison
			DRESS				
Contact Name:Pete Wydcott, General Mgr.Phone Number: (970) 929-5015							
Mailing Address: PO	Box 591						
City: Somerset		State	CO	<b>ZIP:</b> 8	1434		
		GENERAL IN	IFORMATION	I			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 394		Mining Me	thod: Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	tion: 1982		Primary Co	oal Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy: 202	20		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.36% -	0.78%
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 11,7	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): 1	,000 - 2,000		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	12.0		
	PRODUCTION, V			NAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		6.6	6.5	6.5	5.6	6.0
Estimated Total Meth	ane Liberated (million cf/	day):	19.8	27.2	20.9	22.7	18.2
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		9.9	13.6	10.4	11.4	9.1
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		9.9	13.6	10.5	11.4	9.1
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		1100	1528	1175	1486	1107
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	0.1	0.5	0.5	0.5
Estimated Current Dr	rainage Efficiency: 50	)%					
Estimated Current Ma	arket Penetration: 5	5%					

Drainage System Used: Horizontal & Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps

# West Elk Mine (continued)

	Assumed Pote	ential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.591	1.18	1.774
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	4.1%	8.2%	12.2%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.9%	1.9%	2.8%
Power Generation Pot	ential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Delta-Montrose Electric Association	Transmission L	ine in County:	Planned
Parent Corporation of Utility: Touchstone Energy Cooperatives			
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u> V	<u>Wh/year</u>
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	4	47.7	180.4
Mine Electricity Demand:		37.4	144.3
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		10.2	36.1
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		13.8	121.0
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	:	27.6	241.9
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		41.4	362.9
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		1.3	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		2.7	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		4.0	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Hilly/Mountainous			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Kinder Morgan Inc			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 9.5 Pipe	eline Diameter (in	<b>iches):</b> 4.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Rocky Mountain Natural Gas			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 26.0 Pi	peline Diameter (	inches): 6.0	
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Nucla		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 73
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Hospital and other in mine. Perfume/cosm plant to east in Delta	nstitutional facilities. netic chemical facility a Co	Coal processing p	lant directly next to ear manufacturing

### **Illinois Mines**

Galatia Pattiki Wabash Willow Lake Portal

Mine Status:	Active							
Drainage System:	No					2	006 Rank:	5
Use Project:	NONE		Calatia				Opdated:	05/09/2008
			Galalia					
Destructions		GEOG	GRAPHIC D					
Basin: IIIInois				Stat	e: IL			
Coalbed: Springfield	d No. 5			Cou	nty: Saline	9		
		CORPOR	ATE INFOR	MATIO	N			
Current Operator:	The American Coal Com	bany						
Owner/Parent Comp	any: Murray Energy Co	rp	Parent	Compa	iny Web Sit	e: NA		
Previous Owner(s):		Previo	us or Al	ternate Na	ne of Mine	e: Galatia N	lo. 56	
		MIN	IE ADDRES	S				
Contact Name: Rand			Phone	Number:	(618) 268-6	6444		
Mailing Address: PO	Box 727							
City: Harrisburg			State: IL		<b>ZIP:</b> 6	2946		
		GENEF	RAL INFORI	MATION	l			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 892		Mir	ning Me	thod: Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1983		Pri	mary Co	oal Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA	4		Su	fur Con	tent of Coa	I Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.73% -	1.5%
Prep Plant Located of	on Site: Yes		BT	Us/Ib of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 12,1	50	
Depth to Seam (ft): 6	600-830		Sea	am Thic	kness (ft):	5.0 - 6.5		
	PRODUCTION			ואססי		тл		
	FRODUCTION	, <b>v</b> LINIIL <i>F</i>		2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
	llion about ( / )		=			<u> </u>		
Coal Production (mil	mon snort tons/year):	cf/day/)·		6.3	6.U 2.0	6.5 5.6	5.9	1.2
		ci/uayj.		0.1	3.9	5.0	7.0	0.0
Emission fro	om ventilation Systems	5:		6.1	3.9	5.6	1.5	8.5
				-	-	-	-	-
	missions (ct/ton):			354	238	315	464	429
Methane Used (millio	on ct/day):			-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA						
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA						
Drainage System Us	ed: None							

# Galatia (continued)

	Assumed Pot	ential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
$CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions (mm tons): $CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions/ $CO_2$	0.275	0.55	0.824
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.5%	3.1%	4.6%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.4%	0.7%	1.1%
Power Generation Po	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Central Illinois Public Services Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Ameren Corp			
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>
I otal Electricity Demand (2006 data):	:	57.2	216.4
		44.9	173.1
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		12.3	43.3
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		6.4	56.2
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		12.8	112.4
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		19.3	168.7
Pipeline Sales Po	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.6	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.2	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.9	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Hills/Irregular Plains			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Unities Cities Gas Co			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.1 Pip	peline Diameter (ir	iches): 3.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Spectra Energy Corp			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 1.1 P	Pipeline Diameter (	inches): 24.0	
Other Utilization Po	ssibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Joppa Steam		Distance to Pl	ant (miles): 45
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Apparel, fertilizers, publishing, cosmer	, trusses, and mine ec tics, agricultural chem	uipment manufact	uring, newspaper

Mine Status:ActiveDrainage System:NoUse Project:None	Pattiki	Mine		2	2006 Rank: Updated:	31 05/09/2008		
	GEOGRAP	HIC DATA						
Basin: Illinois	State: IL							
Coalbed: Herrin No. 6		County: White						
CO	RPORATE I	NFORMATIO	N					
Current Operator: White County Coal LLC								
Owner/Parent Company: Alliance Resource Partr	ners LP F	Parent Compa	any Web Sit	e: www.a	rlp.com			
Previous Owner(s): MAPCO Coal Inc	F	Previous or A	Iternate Na	me of Mine	e: Galatia N	/line No. 56-1		
	MINE AD	DRESS						
Contact Name: Mark Kitchen, Gen. Mine Foreman	1	Phone	Number:	(618) 382-4	4651			
Mailing Address: PO Box 457								
City: Carmi	State	: IL	<b>ZIP:</b> 6	2821				
G	ENERAL IN	IFORMATION	l					
Number of Employees at Mine: 304		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous				
Year of Initial Production: 1985		Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam				
Life Expectancy: NA		Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 2.8%			
Prep Plant Located on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	uced: 11,7	50			
Depth to Seam (ft): NA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	NA				
PRODUCTION, VEI		AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА				
		2002	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	2005	<u>2006</u>		
Coal Production (million short tons/year):		1.8	0.3	2.4	2.6	2.5		
Estimated Total Methane Liberated (million cf/da	ay):	1.9	0.7	1.1	1.7	2.0		
Emission from Ventilation Systems:		1.9	0.6	1.1	1.7	2.0		
Estimated Methane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton):		371	704	167	238	297		
Methane Used (million cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency: NA	<b>\</b>							
Estimated Current Market Penetration: NA	<b>\</b>							
Drainage System Used: None								

## Pattiki Mine (continued)

	Assumed Poter	tial Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.066	0.13	0.199
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.1%	2.2%	3.3%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	<b>d:</b> 0.3%	0.5%	0.8%
Power Generation F	Potential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Wayne-White Counties Electric Coop	Transmission Lin	e in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: NA			
	<u>M</u>	<u>W GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	19	1.9	75.2
Mine Electricity Demand:	1:	5.6	60.1
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:	4	1.3	15.0
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		.5	13.5
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	3	3.1	27.1
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	2	1.6	40.6
Pipeline Sales P	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.4	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Irregular Plains			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
<b>Owner of Nearest Pipeline:</b> Texas Eastern Transmission Co.			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 3.3	Pipeline Diameter (inc	<b>hes):</b> 24.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter (in	ches): NA	
Other Utilization P	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Gibson	I	Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 28
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Unknown			

Active (Abandoned in 2007) Mine Status: Drainage System: No

Use Project: None				Updated:	05/09/2008		
	Wabash						
GEO	GRAPHIC DATA						
Basin: Illinois	Stat	e: IL					
Coalbed: Springfield No. 5	Cou	nty: Waba	ash				
CORPOR		N					
Current Operator: Wabash Mine Holding Company							
Owner/Parent Company: Foundation Coal Corporation	Parent Compa	any Web Si	te: www.fo	oundationco	oal.com		
Previous Owner(s): RAG American Coal Co, Amax Coal Co	r(s): RAG American Coal Co, Amax Previous or Alternate Name of Mine: None Coal Co						
MIN	NE ADDRESS						
Contact Name: William Kelly, Gen. Mine Mgr. Phone Number: (618) 298-2394							
Mailing Address: PO Box 144, 1000 Beall Woods Dr							
City: Keensburg	State: IL	<b>ZIP:</b> 6	62852				
GENE	RAL INFORMATION	I					
Number of Employees at Mine: 4	Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous				
Year of Initial Production: 1973	Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam				
Life Expectancy: 2007	Sulfur Con	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 1.5%			
Prep Plant Located on Site: Yes	BTUs/Ib of	Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 11,0	00			
Depth to Seam (ft): NA	Seam Thic	kness (ft):	NA				
PRODUCTION, VENTIL	ATION AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА				
	<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>		
Coal Production (million short tons/year):	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.7	1.2		
Estimated Total Methane Liberated (million cf/day):	0.8	1.2	2.0	1.6	2.1		
Emission from Ventilation Systems:	0.8	1.2	2.0	1.6	2.1		
Estimated Methane Drained:	-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton):	189	280	438	333	639		
Methane Used (million cf/day):	-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency: NA							
Estimated Current Market Penetration: NA							
Drainage System Used: None							

## Wabash (continued)

	Assumed Pote	ential Recovery Ef	overy Efficiency		
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.067	0.13	0.200		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	2.5%	5.1%	7.6%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.6%	1.2%	1.7%		
Power Generation Pot	ential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Wayne-White Counties Electric Coop	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: NA					
	<u> </u>	<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	Vh/year		
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		9.3	35.3		
Mine Electricity Demand:		7.3	28.2		
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		2.0	7.1		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		1.6	13.6		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		3.1	27.3		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		4.7	40.9		
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		Bcf			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Irregular Plains					
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Mt. Carmel Public Utility Co					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.85 Pipe	eline Diameter (in	ches): 6.0			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Community Natural Gas					
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 6.0 Pi	peline Diameter (	inches): 3.0			
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Gibson		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 4.6		
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Some General Man fabrication plant and	ufacturing including of a fertilizer chemica	car parts, boxes, el I mixing company	ectrical; also a Steel		

Mine Status:	Active				2	006 Bankı	42		
Use Project:	None				2	Updated:	43 05/09/2008		
-		Willow Lak	e Portal						
		GEOGRAPHI	C DATA						
Basin: Illinois			State: IL						
Coalbed: Illinois No.	. 5 & 6		Cou	nty: Saline	e				
		CORPORATE INF	ORMATIO	N					
Current Operator: B	Big Ridge Inc								
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Peabody Energy Co	orp Par	ent Compa	iny Web Sit	e: www.p	eabodyene	rgy.com		
Previous Owner(s):	Arclar Co LLC	Pre	vious or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: Willow La	ake Mine		
			RESS						
Contact Name:Vic Daiber, Mine EngineerPhone Number: (618) 273-4314									
Mailing Address: 420	) Long Lane Rd								
City: Equality		State: II	-	<b>ZIP:</b> 6	2934				
		GENERAL INF							
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 405		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous				
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 2002		Primary Co	bal Use: Ste	eam				
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Con	itent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 2.8%			
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 12,1	00			
Depth to Seam (ft): N	IA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	4.5 - 5.0				
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION A			ТА				
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>		
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		2.1	2.9	3.4	3.7	3.6		
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million o	cf/day):	0.5	1.1	1.3	1.2	1.0		
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		0.5	1.1	1.3	1.2	1.0		
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		86	138	140	118	102		
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA							
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA							
Drainage System Use	ed: None								

## Willow Lake Portal (continued)

	Assumed Pot	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency			
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.033	0.06	0.099		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	0.4%	0.7%	1.1%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.1%	0.2%	0.3%		
Power Generation Pot	ential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Southeastern Illinois Electric Coop Inc	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: Touchstone Energy Cooperatives					
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u>	Wh/year		
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		28.8	109.2		
Mine Electricity Demand:		22.6	87.3		
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		6.2	21.8		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.8	6.7		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.5	13.5		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.3	20.2		
Pipeline Sales Pote	ential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA					
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Egyptian Gas Storage Co					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 2.4 Pipe	eline Diameter (ii	nches): 2.0			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: United Cities Gas Co					
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 5.0 Pip	peline Diameter (	(inches): 2.0			
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Joppa Steam		Distance to P	lant (miles): 45		
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Chemical: fertilizer, concrete	soaps, explosives; (	General manufactu	iring: apparel, rubber,		

Indiana Mines

Gibson

Mine Status:	Active					00		
Use Project:	N0 None			2	Undated:	26 05/09/2008		
		Gibson				00,00,2000		
	GEOG	RAPHIC DATA						
Basin: Illinois	0100	State: IN						
Coalbed: Springfield	d No. 5	County: Gibson						
	CORPOR	ATE INFORMATIO	N					
Current Operator: (	Gibson County Coal LLC							
Owner/Parent Comp	any: Alliance Resource Partners LP	Parent Comp	any Web Si	t <b>e:</b> www.a	rlp.com			
Previous Owner(s):	Alliance Resources Holdings	Previous or A	lternate Na	me of Mine	e: None			
	MIN	E ADDRESS						
Contact Name: May	nard St. John, General Mgr.	Phone	e Number:	(812) 385-	1816			
Mailing Address: 126	69 Lyle Station Rd							
City: Princeton	:	State: IN	ate: IN <b>ZIP:</b> 47670					
	GENER	AL INFORMATION	N					
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 272	Mining Me	ethod: Cont	inuous				
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 2000	Primary C	oal Use: St	eam				
Life Expectancy: N/	4	Sulfur Co	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.84% -	1.75%		
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes	BTUs/lb o	f Coal Prod	uced: 11,3	25			
Depth to Seam (ft): ↑	NA	Seam Thie	ckness (ft):	0.5				
	PRODUCTION, VENTILA	TION AND DRA	INAGE DA	ТА				
		<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>		
Coal Production (mi	llion short tons/year):	1.9	2.4	3.0	3.4	3.6		
Estimated Total Met	hane Liberated (million cf/day):	2.1	2.4	2.2	2.6	3.1		
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:	2.2	2.4	2.2	2.6	3.1		
Estimated N	lethane Drained:	-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):	406	355	264	279	313		
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):	-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency: NA							
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration: NA							
Drainage System Us	ed: None							

## Gibson (continued)

	Assumed Poten	tial Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.100	0.19	0.299
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.2%	2.4%	3.6%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produce	d: 0.3%	0.6%	0.8%
Power Generation F	Potential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Duke Energy Indiana Inc	Transmission Lin	e in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Duke Energy Corp			
	<u>M</u>	<u>N GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	28	.3	107.2
Mine Electricity Demand:	22	.2	85.8
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:	6	5.1	21.4
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:	2	.3	20.4
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	4	.6	40.7
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	7	.0	61.1
Pipeline Sales F	Potential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.4	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.7	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Vectren Corporation			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.7	Pipeline Diameter (incl	n <b>es):</b> 6.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter (in	ches): NA	
Other Utilization P	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Gibson	ſ	Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 9
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: General manufa	acturing including electronic	assembly, anim	nal food, motor an

### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

and generator, metal, plastics, tires; one chemical plant

# **Kentucky Mines**

Dotiki E3-1 Jones Fork E-3 Mine No. 2 No. 3 Mine

Mine Status:	Active				_		
Drainage System:	No None				2	006 Rank:	47 05/09/2008
		Doti	iki Mine			opuatea.	00/00/2000
		CEOCR					
Basin: Illinois		GEOGRA	Stat	e: KY			
	<u>,                                    </u>		Cou	ntv: Honk	ine		
					113		
		CORPORAT	EINFORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: \	Nebster County Coal LLC	2					
Owner/Parent Comp	any: Alliance Resource	Partners LP	Parent Compa	any Web Sit	t <b>e:</b> www.a	rlp.com	
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years		Previous or A	Iternate Na	me of Mine	e: None	
		MINE	ADDRESS				
Contact Name: Jam	es F. Martin, Gen. Mine F	oreman	Phone	Number:	(270) 249-2	2205	
Mailing Address: 158	36 Balls Hill Rd						
City: Nebo		Sta	ate: KY	<b>ZIP:</b> 4	12441		
		OFNEDAL					
		GENERAL		l thad. Cant			
				thod: Cont	inuous		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1967		Primary C	oal Use: St	eam		
Life Expectancy: 20	115		Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 2.85% -	3.1%
Prep Plant Located of	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	uced: 12,4	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): 7	700		Seam Thio	kness (ft):	4.8		
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATI	ON AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	2005	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mi	llion short tons/year):		4.5	4.9	4.8	4.7	4.7
Estimated Total Met	nane Liberated (million	cf/day):	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.9
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems	:	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.9
Estimated N	lethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	imissions (cf/ton):		41	34	46	55	71
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current N	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Us	ed: None						

## Dotiki Mine (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency				
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.030	0.05	0.089		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	0.2%	0.5%	0.7%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	<b>d:</b> 0.1%	0.1%	0.2%		
Power Generation F	otential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Kentucky Utilities Co	Transmission	Line in County:	Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: E.ON AG					
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u>	Wh/year		
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		37.5	142.0		
Mine Electricity Demand:		29.5	113.6		
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		8.1	28.4		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.7	6.1		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.4	12.2		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.1	18.2		
Pipeline Sales P	otential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA					
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Loews Corporation					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 5.5 F	Pipeline Diameter (i	nches): 26.0			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): NA			
Other Utilization P	ossibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Paradise		Distance to P	lant (miles): 40		
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: General manufac	cturina includina minin	a machinery, plastic	c containers, appare		

### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

metal roofing; Steel fabrication; one chemical (soap and detergent) plant

Mine Status:	Active								
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	49		
Use Project:	None	E0				Updated:	05/09/2008		
		E3-	-1						
GEOGRAPHIC DATA									
Basin: Central Appalachian State: KY									
Coalbed: Hazard 4 / Elkhorn 3 County: Perry									
		CORPORATE IN	NFORMATIO	N					
Current Operator: P	Perry County Coal Corp								
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Teco Coal Co	P	arent Compa	any Web Sit	e: www.te	ecocoal.com	l		
Previous Owner(s):	None	P	revious or A	Iternate Na	ne of Mine	e: None			
			DRESS						
Contact Name: Craig	g Mullins, Dir. Of Operatio	ns	Phone	Number:	(606) 523-4	1444			
Mailing Address: 184	I5 S KY Hwy 15								
City: Hazard		State:	KY	<b>ZIP:</b> 4	1701				
		GENERAL IN	FORMATION	I					
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 144		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous				
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 2005		Primary Co	oal Use: Ste	eam				
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	I Produce	<b>d:</b> 1.2%			
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: No		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 14,6	62			
Depth to Seam (ft): N	IA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	4.2				
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION	AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА				
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>		
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		-	-	-	0.5	1.1		
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million o	:f/day):	-	-	-	0.2	0.9		
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		-	-	-	0.5	0.9		
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		-	-	-	102	298		
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA							
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA							
Drainage System Use	ed: None								

## E3-1 (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency				
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.028	0.05	0.084		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	0.9%	1.8%	2.6%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	<b>d:</b> 0.2%	0.4%	0.6%		
Power Generation P	otential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Kentucky Power Co	Transmission	Line in County:	Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc					
Total Electricity Demond (2000 data);		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>		
Nino Electricity Demand (2006 data):		8.4	31.9		
Prop Plant Electricity Domand:		1.9	20.0		
		1.0	0.4		
		0.7	5.0		
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.7	5.8		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.3	11.5		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.0	17.3		
Pipeline Sales P	otential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA					
Transmission Pipeline in County? NA					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NA					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): NA P	ipeline Diameter (i	inches): NA			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA					
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): NA			
Other Utilization Pe	ossibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Kentucky Mountain Po	wer (Planned)	Distance to Pla	ant (miles): NA		

### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: NA

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	No None				2	006 Rank:	41 05/09/2008
	None	Jones Fo	rk F-3			opuatea.	00/00/2000
		GEOGRAPHI					
Basin: Central App	alachian	GEOGRAFHI	Stat	e: KY			
Coalbed: Hazard 4	/ Elkhorn 3		Cou	ntv: Knott			
				nty. Khôu			
		CORPORATE INI	-ORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: (	Consol of Kentucky Inc						
Owner/Parent Comp	any: CONSOL Energy In	ic Pa	rent Compa	ny Web Sit	e: www.c	onsolenerg	y.com
Previous Owner(s):	None	Pre	evious or A	ternate Na	me of Mine	e: None	
			RESS				
Contact Name: Thomas F. Hoffman, VP Phone Number: (412) 831-4000							
Mailing Address: 180	00 Washington Rd						
City: Pittsburgh		State: F	PA	<b>ZIP:</b> 1	5241		
		GENERAL INF	ORMATION	l			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 129		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 2004		Primary Co	oal Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Con	itent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.5% - 4	.1%
Prep Plant Located of	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 13,0	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): N	IA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	5.0		
	PRODUCTION	VENTILATION			та		
	i noboonion,		<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		-	-	2.2	2.2	1.8
Estimated Total Met	nane Liberated (million o	cf/day):	-	-	1.1	0.4	1.1
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		-	-	1.1	1.1	1.1
Estimated N	lethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		-	-	186	64	221
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Us	ed: None						

# Jones Fork E-3 (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency				
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.036	0.07	0.108		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	0.7%	1.5%	2.2%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	<b>d:</b> 0.2%	0.3%	0.5%		
Power Generation P	otential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Kentucky Power Co	Transmission	Line in County:	Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc					
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>		
I otal Electricity Demand (2006 data):		14.6	55.3		
Mine Electricity Demand:		11.5	44.2		
		3.1	11.1		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.8	7.4		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.7	14.8		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.5	22.2		
Pipeline Sales P	otential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA					
Transmission Pipeline in County? NA					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NA					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): NA P	ipeline Diameter (i	inches): NA			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA					
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): NA			
Other Utilization P	ossibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Kentucky Mountain Po	wer (Planned)	Distance to Pla	ant (miles): NA		

### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: NA

Mine Status:ActiveDrainage System:NoUse Project:None	Min	e No 2		2	006 Rank: Updated:	42 05/09/2008
	GEOGR	APHIC DATA				
Basin: Central Appalachian		Stat	e: KY			
Coalbed: Pond Creek		Cou	nty: Marti	n		
	CORPORAT		N			
Current Operator: Excel Mining LLC						
Owner/Parent Company: Alliance Resource	e Partners LP	Parent Compa	any Web Sr	te: www.a	irlp.com	
Previous Owner(s): Pontiki Coal Corp		Previous of A	iternate Na	me of Mine	e: Pontiki N	0.2
	MINE	ADDRESS				
Contact Name: John Small		Phone	Number:	(606) 395-5	5352	
Mailing Address: PO Box 802						
City: Lovely	Sta	ate: KY	ZIP: 4	1231		
	GENERAL		I			
Number of Employees at Mine: 120		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous		
Year of Initial Production: 1990		Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA		Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.6% - 0	).73%
Prep Plant Located on Site: No		BTUs/lb of	f Coal Prod	uced: 12,9	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): 425		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	4.2		
PRODUCTION	I, VENTILATI	ON AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
		<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	2005	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (million short tons/year):		1.8	2.0	1.7	1.6	0.8
Estimated Total Methane Liberated (million	n cf/day):	0.4	0.7	0.7	0.7	1.1
Emission from Ventilation System	IS:	0.4	0.7	0.7	0.7	1.1
Estimated Methane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton):		83	132	155	153	457
Methane Used (million cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current Market Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Used: None						

# Mine No. 2 (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency				
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.034	0.06	0.102		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.5%	3.1%	4.6%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.4%	0.7%	1.1%		
Power Generation Po	tential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Kentucky Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc					
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u> V	<u>Vh/year</u>		
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		6.7	25.2		
Mine Electricity Demand:		5.2	20.1		
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		1.4	5.0		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.8	7.0		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.6	13.9		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.4	20.9		
Pipeline Sales Po	tential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: High Hills/Low Mountains					
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Kentucky West Virginia Gas Co					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): <0.1 Pip	eline Diameter (ir	nches): 7.0			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NiSource					
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 2.0 P	ipeline Diameter (	inches): 6.0			
Other Utilization Pos	ssibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Big Sandy		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 38		
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Misc. general man	ufacturing - only one	< 10 mi, general m	achining		

Mine Status: Active			~	000 Denke	07
Use Project: None			2	Undated:	37 05/09/2008
No	3 Mine			opuatou.	00/00/2000
0500					
Basin: Central Appalachian	State	•• KY			
	State				
Coalded: Pond Creek / Van Lear	Cou	nty: Pike			
CORPORA	TE INFORMATION	N			
Current Operator: Excel Mining LLC					
Owner/Parent Company: Alliance Resource Partners LP	Parent Compa	ny Web Si	t <b>e:</b> www.a	rlp.com	
Previous Owner(s): Garrett Mining Inc	Previous or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	e: Pontiki N	0.3
MINE					
	Dhone	Number	(918) 205-7	7635	
	Filone	Number.	(910) 295-1	000	
Walling Address: 4126 St Hwy 194 W					
City: Pikeville S	tate: KY	ZIP: 4	1501		
GENERA	L INFORMATION				
Number of Employees at Mine: 257	Mining Met	thod: Cont	inuous		
Year of Initial Production: 1977	Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA	Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.8% - 1	.4%
Pren Plant Located on Site: No	BTUS/lb of	Coal Prod	uced: 13.4	40	
				10	
Depth to Seam (ft): NA	Seam Thic	kness (ft):	4.3		
PRODUCTION, VENTILAT	ION AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
	<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (million short tons/year):	1.3	1.5	2.0	1.6	1.9
Estimated Total Methane Liberated (million cf/day):	0.8	0.9	1.4	1.5	1.3
Emission from Ventilation Systems:	0.8	0.9	1.4	1.5	1.3
Estimated Methane Drained:	-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton):	228	216	262	337	262
Methane Used (million cf/day):	-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency: NA					
Estimated Current Market Penetration: NA					
Drainage System Used: None					

# No. 3 Mine (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency				
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.044	0.08	0.131		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	0.8%	1.7%	2.5%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.2%	0.4%	0.6%		
Power Generation Pot	ential				
Utility Electric Supplier: Kentucky Power Co	Transmission Lin	e in County:	Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc					
	M	<u>W</u> <u>G</u>	Wh/year		
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	14	.8 . <del>-</del>	56.2		
Mine Electricity Demand:	1	1.7	44.9		
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:	:	3.2	11.2		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.0	8.9		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		2.0	17.8		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	:	3.1	26.7		
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA					
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Kentucky West Virginia Gas Co					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): <0.1 Pipeline	eline Diameter (inc	hes): 12.0			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA					
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA Pi	peline Diameter (in	ches): NA			
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Big Sandy		Distance to P	lant (miles): 41		
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Only a handful of get petroleum and coal machining	eneral manufacturing p products manufacturir	lants within 10 ı g, toaster pastr	miles, including ies, and general		

## **New Mexico Mines**

San Juan South

Mine Status:	Active									
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	22			
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008			
		San Juan	South							
	GEOGRAPHIC DATA									
Basin: San Juan	Basin: San Juan State: NM									
Coalbed: No. 9 / No. 8 County: San Juan										
		CORPORATE IN	FORMATIO	N						
Current Operator: S	an Juan Coal Company									
Owner/Parent Compa	any: BHP Billiton	Pa	rent Compa	ny Web Sit	e: www.b	hpbilliton.co	m			
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	Pr	evious or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: None				
		MINE ADD	RESS							
Contact Name: Chris	Ellefson, VP & GM		Phone	Number:	(505) 598-2	2000				
Mailing Address: PO	Box 561									
City: Waterflow		State:	NM	<b>ZIP:</b> 8	37421					
		GENERAL INF	ORMATION							
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 468		Mining Met	thod: Long	wall					
Year of Initial Produc	tion: 1997		Primary Co	oal Use: Ste	eam					
Life Expectancy: NA	N		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.8%				
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 9,50	0				
Depth to Seam (ft): 4	00 - 900		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	10.0 - 13.	0				
	PRODUCTION		AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА					
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>			
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		1.8	5.9	7.7	7.9	7.0			
Estimated Total Meth	ane Liberated (million	cf/day):	2.0	3.6	4.1	6.4	6.5			
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems	5:	1.5	1.3	1.6	3.9	3.9			
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		0.5	2.3	2.5	2.6	2.6			
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		426	223	196	298	340			
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	0.0	0.2	0.0	-			
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	40%								
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	0%								

Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes

## San Juan South (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency			
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
$CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions (mm tons): $CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions/ $CO_2$	0.211	0.42	0.634	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.5%	3.1%	4.6%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.4%	0.7%	1.1%	
Power Generation Po	tential			
Utility Electric Supplier: Jemez Mountains Electric Coop Inc	Transmission Line	e in County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: NA				
	<u>M\</u>	<u>V GV</u>	<u>Nh/year</u>	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	55.	4	209.8	
	43	.5	167.8	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:	11	.9	42.0	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:	4	.9	43.2	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	9	.9	86.5	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	14	.8	129.7	
Pipeline Sales Po	tential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):	1.0			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf): 1.4				
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Western Gas Resources Inc				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.3 Pip	peline Diameter (inch	nes): 6.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Western Chuska Line				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 1.5 P	ipeline Diameter (ind	<b>:hes):</b> 16.0		
Other Utilization Po	ssibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: San Juan	C	istance to Pl	ant (miles): 1.8	
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Only plant within 1 general manufacture wellhead, septic ta	0 miles is a cleaning pro rring to east ~15 mi inclu nks, newspaper publishi	duct manufactur ding general ma ng, and blood p	ring co., some misc. achining, concrete, lasma	

**Ohio Mines** 

Century Powhatan No. 6

Mine Status:	Active							
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	34	
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008	
		Century	Mine					
GEOGRAPHIC DATA								
Basin: Northern Appalachian State: OH								
Coalbed: Pittsburgh	No. 8		Coun	ty: Belmo	ont			
		CORPORATE INI	FORMATION					
Current Operator: A	merican Energy Corporat	tion						
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Murray Energy Corp	<b>Pa</b>	rent Compar	ny Web Sit	e: NA			
Previous Owner(s):	Sources of the second s							
			RESS					
Contact Name: Ryan M. Murray, Mine Mgr. & Superintendent Phone Number: (740) 795-5220								
Mailing Address: 435	521 Mayhugh Hill Rd							
City: Beallsville		State: (	ЭН	<b>ZIP:</b> 4	3716			
		GENERAL INF	ORMATION					
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 416		Mining Meth	nod: Long	wall			
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 2001		Primary Coa	<b>al Use:</b> Ste	eam			
Life Expectancy: 20	37		Sulfur Cont	ent of Coa	I Produce	<b>d:</b> 3.8% - 4	.5%	
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of Coal Produced: 12,600					
Depth to Seam (ft): 5	600		Seam Thickness (ft): 5.3					
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION	AND DRAIN	IAGE DA	ТА			
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>	
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		3.4	4.6	5.8	6.6	6.5	
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million o	:f/day):	0.5	0.6	1.2	1.6	1.9	
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		0.5	0.6	1.2	1.6	1.9	
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-	
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		52	45	75	89	105	
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-	
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA						
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA						
Drainage System Use	ed: None							

# Century Mine (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency					
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>			
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.060	0.12	0.180			
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	0.4%	0.7%	1.1%			
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.1%	0.2%	0.2%			
Power Generation Pot	tential					
Utility Electric Supplier: South Central Power Co	ine in County:	Yes				
Parent Corporation of Utility: Touchstone Energy Cooperatives						
	<u>I</u>	<u>WW</u> <u>G</u>	Wh/year			
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	Ę	51.1	193.5			
Mine Electricity Demand:		40.1	154.8			
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		11.0	38.7			
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)						
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		1.4	12.3			
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		2.8	24.6			
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		4.2	36.9			
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential					
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>				
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1				
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf): 0.3						
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):	ng 60% Recovery (Bcf): 0.4					
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA						
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes						
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NiSource						
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 3.5 Pip	eline Diameter (in	<b>ches):</b> 8.0				
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NiSource						
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 4.0 Pi	peline Diameter (i	inches): 6.0				
Other Utilization Possibilities						
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Mitchell		Distance to P	lant (miles): 12			
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Handful of general toys	manufacturing includi	ng coal processir	ng, paints, wooden			

Mine Status:	Active							
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	33	
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008	
		Powhata	an No. 6 Mir	ne				
		GEOGF	RAPHIC DATA					
Basin: Northern Appalachian State: OH								
Coalbed: Pittsburgh N	Co	ounty: Belm	ont					
		CORPORA	TE INFORMATIO	ON				
Current Operator: Oh	io Valley Coal Compa	iny						
Owner/Parent Company			Parent Com	hany Web Si		hiovallevco	al com	
Previous Owner(s).		איל v		Alternate Na	me of Mine	• None		
Frevious Owner(s): Nacco Minning Company Previous of Alternate Name of Mine: None								
		MINE	ADDRESS					
Contact Name: Roy A	Heidelbach Mine Su	Dt.	Phor	ne Number	(740) 926-	1351		
Mailing Address: 5695	1 Pleasant Pidae Pd	μ	1101		(1 -10) 320-			
Gites Allestania	4 Fleasant Ridge Ru			710	10000			
City: Alledonia		3	tate: OH	ZIP: 4	43902			
		GENERA		N				
Number of Employees	Number of Employees at Mine: 467 Mining Method: Longwall							
Year of Initial Production: 1972 Primary Coal Use: Steam								
Life Expectancy: 2018	3		Sulfur Co	ontent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 3.8% - 4	1.5%	
Prep Plant Located on Site: Yes BTUs/lb of Coal Produced: 12,600								
Depth to Seam (ft): 400	0 - 600		Seam Th	Seam Thickness (ft): 5.3				
	PRODUCTION	I, VENTILAT		AINAGE DA	TA			
		,	2002	2003	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>	
Coal Production (million	on short tons/year):		3.9	4.9	4.5	5.3	4.4	
Estimated Total Metha	ne Liberated (millior	n cf/day):	1.2	1.1	1.6	1.7	2.0	
Emission from	n Ventilation System	s:	1.2	1.1	1.6	1.7	2.0	
Estimated Met	thane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-	
Estimated Specific Em	issions (cf/ton):		116	85	129	119	167	
Methane Used (million	cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-	
Estimated Current Dra	inage Efficiency:	NA						
Estimated Current Mar	ket Penetration:	NA						
Drainage System Used	: None							

### Powhatan No. 6 Mine (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency			
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u> <u>40</u>	<u>%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.065 0	).13	0.195	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	0.6% 1	.2%	1.7%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.1% 0	.3%	0.4%	
Power Generation Pot	ential	_		
Utility Electric Supplier: South Central Power Co	Transmission Line in	County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: Touchstone Energy Cooperatives				
	<u>MW</u>	<u>GN</u>	/h/year	
I otal Electricity Demand (2006 data):	34.6		131.1	
Mine Electricity Demand:	27.2		104.9	
	7.4		20.2	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:	1.5		13.3	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	3.0		26.6	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	4.6		39.9	
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf): 0.3				
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):	0.4			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Hills/High Hills				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NiSource				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.2 Pipe	eline Diameter (inches)	8.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: East Ohio Gas Co				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 3.0 Pi	peline Diameter (inches	<b>s):</b> 20.0		
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Mitchell	Dista	ince to Pla	int (miles): 11	
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Handful of general r toys	manufacturing including coa	l processing	, paints, wooden	

**Oklahoma Mines** 

South Central

Mine Status:	Active							
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	48	
Use Project:	None	South C	ontral Mino			Opdated:	05/09/2008	
South Central Mine								
GEOGRAPHIC DATA								
Basin: Arkoma			Sta	te: OK				
Coalbed: Hartshorne	e		Cou	unty: Le Fle	ore			
		CORPORAT	E INFORMATIC	)N				
Current Operator: S	South Central Coal Comp	any Inc						
Owner/Parent Company: South Central Coal Company Parent Company Web Site: NA								
Previous Owner(s):	Sunrise Coal Company		Previous or A	Alternate Na	me of Mine	: Sunrise (	Coal;	
						Pollyann	ollyanna No. 8	
			DDRESS					
Contact Name: Bobb	y G Meadows Jr		Phone	e Number:	(918) 962-2	2544		
Mailing Address: 222	279 US Hwy 271							
City: Spiro	,	Sta	ate: OK	<b>7IP</b> : 7	4959			
					1000			
		GENERAL	INFORMATIO	N				
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 55		Mining Me	ethod: Cont	inuous			
Year of Initial Produc	<b>:tion:</b> 1995		Primary C	coal Use: St	eam			
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Co	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 1.0%		
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: No		BTUs/lb o	of Coal Prod	uced: 14,1	90		
Depth to Seam (ft): N	IA		Seam Thickness (ft): 5.75					
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATI	ON AND DRA	INAGE DA	ТА			
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>	
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		0.5	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.4	
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	cf/day):	1.2	1.0	1.5	1.6	0.9	
Emission from Ventilation Systems:		:	1.2	1.0	1.5	1.6	0.9	
Estimated Methane Drained:			-	-	-	-	-	
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		942	932	1348	1232	735	
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-	
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA						
Estimated Current Ma	arket Penetration:	NA						
Drainage System Use	ed: None							
### South Central Mine (continued)

	Assumed Por	tential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.029	0.05	0.088
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	2.2%	4.5%	6.7%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	: 0.5%	1.0%	1.6%
Power Generation Po	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Oklahoma Gas & Electric	Transmission I	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: OGE Energy Corp			
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		3.6	13.5
Mine Electricity Demand:		2.8	10.8
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		0.8	2.7
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.7	6.0
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.4	12.0
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.1	18.0
Pipeline Sales Po	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: CenterPoint Energy			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.75 Pi	peline Diameter (i	n <b>ches):</b> 6.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: CenterPoint Energy			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 1.4	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): 4.0	
Other Utilization Po	ssibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: AES Shady Point		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 30
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Some general ma	nufacturing including	metal (closest plant	, <2 mi), newspape

#### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

bakery goods, plastics

# 6. Profiled Mines (continued)

## Pennsylvania Mines

Bailey Cumberland Eighty-Four Mine Emerald Enlow Fork

Mine Status: Drainage System:	Active Yes				2	006 Rank:	7			
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008			
Bailey Mine										
GEOGRAPHIC DATA										
Basin:Northern AppalachianState:PA										
Coalbed: Pittsburgh No. 8 County: Greene										
CORPORATE INFORMATION										
Current Operator: C	Consol Pennsylvania Coa	I Company								
Owner/Parent Compa	any: CONSOL Energy I	nc Pa	rent Compa	any Web Sit	e: www.c	onsolenerg	y.com			
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	Pr	evious or A	Iternate Na	me of Mine	e: None				
		MINE ADD	RESS							
Contact Name: Roy		Phone	Number:	(724) 428-1	200					
Mailing Address: 192	2 Crabapple Rd									
City: Wind Ridge		State:	PA	<b>ZIP:</b> 1	5377					
		GENERAL INF	ORMATION	I						
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 659		Mining Me	thod: Long	wall					
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1984		Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam, Metal	lurgical				
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 1.03% -:	2.41%			
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 13,2	00				
Depth to Seam (ft): 6	600 - 1000		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	5.2 - 6.0					
	PRODUCTION	VENTILATION	AND DRAI		ТА					
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>			
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		9.7	9.4	10.1	11.1	10.2			
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	cf/day):	7.1	5.7	8.4	9.8	10.7			
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems	:	7.1	5.7	8.4	6.9	7.5			
Estimated M	lethane Drained:		0.1	-	-	2.9	3.2			
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		270	223	304	324	383			
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-			
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	30%								
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	0%								
Drainage System Use	ed: Vertical Gob Boreho	les with Pumps								

## **Bailey Mine (continued)**

	Assumed Por	tential Recovery E	fficiency	
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.346	0.69	1.038	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.3%	2.5%	3.8%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.3%	0.6%	0.9%	
Power Generation Pot	ential			
Utility Electric Supplier: West Penn Power Co	Transmission I	ine in County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc				
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		80.7	305.3	
Mine Electricity Demand:		63.3	244.2	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		17.3	61.1	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		8.1	70.8	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		16.2	141.6	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		24.2	212.4	
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.8		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):	1.6			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		2.3		
Description of Surrounding Terrain: High Hills/Open High Hills				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: National Fuel Gas Supply Corp				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): <0.1 Pipe	eline Diameter (i	n <b>ches):</b> 20.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NiSource				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 2.3 Pi	peline Diameter	(inches): 12.0		
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Mitchell		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 20	
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Television compone and other municipal	ents, apparel, and m I buildings	etal manufacturing;	hospitals, schools	

Mine Status:	Active								
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	10		
Use Project:	Pipeline					Updated:	05/09/2008		
Cumberland									
GEOGRAPHIC DATA									
Basin: Northern App	palachian		State	e: PA					
Coalbed: Pittsburgh	No. 8		Cou	nty: Greer	ne				
CORPORATE INFORMATION									
Current Operator: Cumberland Coal Resources LP									
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Foundation Coal Corp	oration Pa	rent Compa	ny Web Sit	e: www.fo	oundationco	al.com		
Previous Owner(s): Cyprus Coal Resources Corp; U.S. Steel Mining Comp Previous or Alternate Name of Mine: RAG Cumberlan				nberland					
MINE ADDRESS									
Contact Name: Mike	Mishra, Pres.		Phone	Number: (	(724) 852-6	272			
Mailing Address: PO Box 1020									
City: Waynesburg		State: F	PA	<b>ZIP:</b> 1	5370				
		GENERAL INF							
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 6/6		Mining Method: Longwall						
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1972		Primary Co	bal Use: Ste	eam				
Life Expectancy: 20	23		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	I Produce	<b>d:</b> 2.4%			
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BTUs/Ib of	Coal Produ	u <b>ced:</b> 13,0	00			
Depth to Seam (ft): 4	.00 - 1000		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	6.5 - 7.0				
	PRODUCTION, V			NAGE DA	ТА				
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>		
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		6.6	6.2	5.2	7.1	7.5		
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million cf/	day):	11.1	14.3	10.7	10.8	10.1		
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		9.6	9.9	7.2	7.2	6.7		
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		1.5	4.4	3.4	3.7	3.4		
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		609	833	750	557	491		
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	3.2	3.4		
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency: 34	1%							
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration: 100	)%							
Drainage System Use	ed: Vertical Gob Boreholes	with Pumps							

### **Cumberland (continued)**

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency				
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.328	0.65	0.983		
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.6%	3.3%	4.9%		
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.4%	0.8%	1.1%		
Power Generation Pot	tential				
Utility Electric Supplier: West Penn Power Co	Transmission	Line in County:	Yes		
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc					
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u>	<u>Wh/year</u>		
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		59.6	225.5		
Mine Electricity Demand:		46.8	180.4		
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		12.8	45.1		
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)					
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		7.7	67.0		
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		15.3	134.1		
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		23.0	201.1		
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential				
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.7			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.5			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		2.2			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: High Hills					
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes					
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc					
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.4 Pip	eline Diameter (i	nches): 12.0			
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc					
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 0.4 Pi	peline Diameter	(inches): 16.0			
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Hatfields Ferry		Distance to P	ant (miles): 12		
ther Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Television components, apparel, and metal manufacturing; hospitals, schoor and other municipal buildings. Coal processing plant adjacent to mine					

Mine Status:	Active							
Drainage System:	No					2	006 Rank:	18
Use Project:	NOTE	Fight	ty-Four Mi	no			Opdated:	05/09/2008
		Light	ty-rour wi	ne				
		GEOG	GRAPHIC DAT	Α				
Basin: Northern Ap		Stat	e: PA					
Coalbed: Pittsburgh	No. 8			Cou	nty: Wash	ington		
		CORPOR	ATE INFORM		N			
Current Operator:	Eighty-Four Mining Comp	bany						
Owner/Parent Comp	any: CONSOL Energy	Inc	Parent C	ompa	iny Web Sit	e: www.c	onsolenergy	/.com
Previous Owner(s): Beth Energy Mines Inc			Previous	or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: Mine 84, Livingsto	Ellsworth or n
		MIN	IE ADDRESS					
Contact Name: Thor		P	hone	Number:	(724) 250-2	1577		
Mailing Address: 180	00 Washington Rd							
City: Pittsburgh			State: PA		<b>ZIP:</b> 1	5241		
		GENER	RAL INFORMA		I			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 416		Minin	g Me	thod: Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1983		Prima	ary Co	bal Use: Ste	eam, Metal	lurgical	
Life Expectancy: NA	Ą		Sulfu	r Con	tent of Coa	I Produce	<b>d:</b> 1.33% -	1.71%
Prep Plant Located of	on Site: Yes		BTUs	/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 13,3	07	
Depth to Seam (ft): 5	500 - 750		Seam	h Thic	kness (ft):	5.2 - 6.0		
	PRODUCTION			ORAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
		,	<u>200</u>	<u>)2</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	llion short tons/year):		2	4.0	4.0	4.0	3.8	3.5
Estimated Total Metl	nane Liberated (million	cf/day):		4.9	5.1	5.4	5.1	5.1
Emission fro	om Ventilation System	S:	2	4.9	5.1	5.4	5.1	5.1
Estimated N	lethane Drained:			-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		4	45	467	498	488	532
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):			-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA						
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA						
Drainage System Us	ed: None							

## Eighty-Four Mine (continued)

	Assumed Pot	ential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.166	0.33	0.498
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.7%	3.5%	5.2%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.4%	0.8%	1.2%
Power Generation Pote	ential		
Utility Electric Supplier: West Penn Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc			
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Wh/year</u>
I otal Electricity Demand (2006 data): Mine Electricity Demand:		27.8 21.8	105.2
Pren Plant Electricity Demand:		60	21.0
Potential Generating Canacity (2006 data)		0.0	21.0
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency		39	33.9
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		7.7	67.9
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency.		11.6	101.8
Dinalina Salaa Date	antial	11.0	101.0
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)	ential	Bcf	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.4	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.7	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.1	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open High Hills/High Hills			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.3 Pipe	eline Diameter (ir	nches): 2.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 1.0 Pip	peline Diameter (	inches): 20.0	
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Mitchell Power Station		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 7.7
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Steel, plastics, appa municipal buildings	rel, glass, fertilizers	, and other types of	f manufacturing;

Mine Status:	Active									
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	16			
Use Project:	Pipeline					Updated:	05/09/2008			
Emerald										
GEOGRAPHIC DATA										
Basin: Northern Ap	opalachian		Sta	ite: PA						
Coalbed:     Pittsburgh No. 8     County:     Greene										
		CORPORA	TE INFORMATIC	N						
Current Operator:	Emerald Coal Resource	es LP								
Owner/Parent Comp	oany: Foundation Coal	Corporation	Parent Comp	any Web Si	te: www.fo	oundationco	al.com			
Previous Owner(s):	Cyprus Emerald Reso Corp, Emerald Mines	urces Corp	Previous or Alternate Name of Mine: RAG Emerald, Emerald No. 1				erald, No. 1			
		MINE	ADDRESS							
Contact Name: Mike	e Misha, Pres.		Phon	e Number:	(724) 627-2	2278				
Mailing Address: 15	8 Portal Rd, PO Box 10	20								
City: Waynesburg		S	tate: PA	ZIP: 1	15370					
		GENERA	L INFORMATIO	N						
Number of Employe	es at Mine: 634		Mining M	ethod: Long	gwall					
Year of Initial Produ	ction: 1977		Primary C	Coal Use: St	eam, Metal	lurgical				
Life Expectancy: 20	013		Sulfur Co	ontent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 2.4%				
Prep Plant Located	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb o	of Coal Prod	uced: 13,0	00				
Depth to Seam (ft):	400 - 1000		Seam Thi	ckness (ft):	6.5 - 7.0					
	PRODUCTIO	N, VENTILAT	ION AND DRA	INAGE DA	ТА					
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	2005	<u>2006</u>			
Coal Production (mi	illion short tons/year):		6.6	6.6	5.8	6.3	5.9			
Estimated Total Met	hane Liberated (millio	n cf/day):	9.1	9.5	7.2	6.8	7.4			
Emission fr	om Ventilation Systen	ıs:	6.6	7.4	4.9	4.7	5.2			
Estimated M	Methane Drained:		2.5	2.0	2.3	2.0	2.3			
Estimated Specific I	Emissions (cf/ton):		508	523	455	389	458			
Methane Used (milli	on cf/day):		-	-	-	1.8	2.3			
Estimated Current D	Drainage Efficiency:	30%								
Estimated Current M	Aarket Penetration:	100%								

Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps

## Emerald (continued)

	Assumed Po	tential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.241	0.48	0.724
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.5%	3.0%	4.6%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.4%	0.7%	1.1%
Power Generation Po	tential		
Utility Electric Supplier: West Penn Power Co	Transmission I	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc			
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		46.9	177.7
Mine Electricity Demand:		36.9	142.1
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		10.1	35.5
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		5.6	49.3
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		11.3	98.7
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		16.9	148.0
Pipeline Sales Po	tential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.1	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):	1.6		
Description of Surrounding Terrain: High Hills/Open High Hills			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.23 Pip	eline Diameter (i	nches): 20.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 0.64 P	ipeline Diameter	(inches): 20.0	
Other Utilization Pos	ssibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Hatfields Ferry		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 15
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Television compon and other municipal	ents, apparel, and m I buildings	etal manufacturing;	hospitals, schools

Mine Status:	Active									
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	2			
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008			
Enlow Fork Mine										
GEOGRAPHIC DATA										
Basin: Northern App	palachian		State	e: PA						
Coalbed: Pittsburgh	No. 8		Cou	nty: Greer	ne					
		CORPORATE INF	ORMATIO	N						
Current Operator: C	Consol Pennsylvania Coal	Company								
Owner/Parent Compa	any: CONSOL Energy In	c Pai	ent Compa	iny Web Sit	e: www.c	onsolenergy	.com			
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	Pre	vious or Al	ternate Nai	ne of Mine	: None				
MINE ADDRESS										
Contact Name: Dave	Hudson		Phone	Number:	(724) 663-3	3101				
Mailing Address: Rte	231									
City: East Finley		State: F	PΑ	<b>ZIP:</b> 1	5377					
		GENERAL INF	ORMATION	I						
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 592		Mining Me	thod: Long	wall					
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1990		Primary Co	oal Use: Ste	am					
Life Expectancy: NA	\ \		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	l Produce	<b>d:</b> 1.00% - 3	2.41%			
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: No		BTUs/Ib of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 13,0	00				
Depth to Seam (ft): 6	00 - 1000		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	5.2 - 6.0					
					TA					
	FRODUCTION,	VENTILATION	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006			
			2002	2000	2001	2000	2000			
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		9.6	9.9	10.2	9.8	10.7			
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million c	t/day):	9.1	10.3	11.0	9.6	10.1			
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		9.0	10.3	11.0	9.6	10.1			
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		0.1	-	-	-	-			
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		346	382	392	358	344			
Nethane Used (millio	on cī/day):	NIA	-	-	-	-	-			
Estimated Current D	rainage Emiciency:									
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA								
Drainage System Use	ed: None									

## Enlow Fork Mine (continued)

	Assumed Potential Recovery Efficiency			
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.327	0.65	0.982	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.1%	2.3%	3.4%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.3%	0.5%	0.8%	
Power Generation Po	tential			
Utility Electric Supplier: West Penn Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc				
	<u> </u>	<u>MW</u> <u>G</u> \	<u>Wh/year</u>	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	8	34.9	321.1	
Mine Electricity Demand:		66.6	256.9	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		18.2	64.2	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		7.6	67.0	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		15.3	133.9	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		22.9	200.9	
Pipeline Sales Pot	tential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.7		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.5		
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		2.2		
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Hills/Open High Hills				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: National Fuel Gas Supply Corp				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.2 Pip	eline Diameter (in	ches): 20.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NiSource				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 1.9 Pi	ipeline Diameter (i	inches): 8.0		
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Burger		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 18.7	
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Television component and other municipal	ents, apparel, and me I buildings	atal manufacturing	; hospitals, schools	

# 6. Profiled Mines (continued)

### **Utah Mines**

Aberdeen Dugout Canyon West Ridge

Mine Status: Drainage System:	Active				2	006 Rank:	17			
Use Project:	None				2	Updated:	05/09/2008			
		Abero	leen							
GEOGRAPHIC DATA										
Basin: Uinta	Basin: Uinta State: UT									
Coalbed: L. Sunnyside / Gilson / Aber. County: Carbon										
CORPORATE INFORMATION										
Current Operator:	Itah American Energy Inc									
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Murray Energy Cor	D <b>P</b> a	arent Compa	any Web Sit	e: NA					
Previous Owner(s):	Andalex Resources Inc	Ρ	revious or A	Iternate Na	me of Mine	: Tower Di	vision			
			DRESS							
Contact Name: Karl	Yoder, GM		Phone	Number:	(435) 637-5	5385				
Mailing Address: PO	Box 906									
City: Price		State:	UT	<b>ZIP:</b> 8	4501					
		GENERAL IN	FORMATION	l						
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 142		Mining Me	thod: Long	wall					
Year of Initial Produc	tion: 1980		Primary Co	oal Use: Ste	eam					
Life Expectancy: NA	N Contraction of the second seco		Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	al Produce	d: NA				
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	f Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 11,9	91				
Depth to Seam (ft): N	IA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	6.0 - 8.0					
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION	AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА					
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>			
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		0.0	0.4	2.0	1.5	2.1			
Estimated Total Meth	ane Liberated (million o	cf/day):	0.8	1.2	5.9	5.5	6.9			
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		0.8	1.2	5.9	4.1	5.2			
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	1.4	1.7			
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		8528	998	1075	1304	1202			
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-			
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	25%								
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	0%								
Drainage System Use	ed: Vertical Gob Borehol	es with Pumps								

## Aberdeen (continued)

	Assumed Potential R	ecovery Efficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u> <u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.223 0	.44 0.670
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	4.4% 8.	7% 13.1%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	1.0% 2.	0% 3.0%
Power Generation Pot	ential	
Utility Electric Supplier: PacifiCorp	Transmission Line in (	County: Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Berkshire Hathaway Inc		
	MW	GWh/year
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	16.6	62.7
Mine Electricity Demand:	13.0	50.1
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:	3.6	12.5
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)		
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:	5.2	45.7
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	10.4	91.3
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	15.6	137.0
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential	
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.0
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.5
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Tablelands; Open High/Low Mo	ountains	
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes		
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Questar Corp		
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 4.3 Pipe	eline Diameter (inches):	20.0
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA		
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA Pi	peline Diameter (inches)	): NA
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities	
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Carbon	Dista	nce to Plant (miles): 7
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: General manufactur publishing, printing; chemicals	ring including mining equipme Chemical: soap and deterge	ent, concrete, newspaper nt, industrial gases, inorganic

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	38
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008
		Dugout	Canyon				
		GEOGRAP	HIC DATA				
Basin: Uinta			Stat	e: UT			
Coalbed: Gilson / R	ock Canyon		Cou	nty: Carbo	on		
		CORPORATE	INFORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: 0	Canyon Fuel Company	LLC					
Owner/Parent Comp	any: Arch Coal Inc		Parent Compa	iny Web Sit	t <b>e:</b> www.a	rchcoal.con	n
Previous Owner(s):	Soldier Creek Coal Co	mpany I	Previous or A	ternate Na	me of Mine	: None	
		MINE AD	DRESS				
Contact Name: Erwin	n Sass, General Mgr.		Phone	Number:	(435) 636-2	2872	
Mailing Address: PO	Box 1029						
City: Wellington		State	: UT	<b>ZIP:</b> 8	84542		
		GENERAL II	NFORMATION	l			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 238		Mining Me	thod: Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1998		Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam		
Life Expectancy: 21	15		Sulfur Cor	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.4% - 0	0.75%
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: No		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	uced: 11,7	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): 2	2000		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	7.5 - 8.0		
	PRODUCTIO	N, VENTILATIOI	N AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	llion short tons/year):		2.1	2.9	3.8	4.6	4.4
Estimated Total Meth	hane Liberated (millio	n cf/day):	1.1	2.1	2.6	2.6	1.7
Emission fro	om Ventilation System	าร:	1.1	2.2	1.9	1.9	1.3
Estimated M	lethane Drained:		-	-	0.6	0.6	0.4
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		194	267	247	206	141
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	25%					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	0%					
Drainage System Us	ed: Vertical Gob Boreh	oles with Pumps					

## **Dugout Canyon (continued)**

	Assumed Por	tential Recovery E	fficiency	
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.055	0.11	0.165	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	0.5%	1.1%	1.6%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.1%	0.2%	0.4%	
Power Generation Pot	tential			
Utility Electric Supplier: PacifiCorp	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: Berkshire Hathaway Inc				
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		34.8	131.6	
Mine Electricity Demand:		27.3	105.3	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		7.5	26.3	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		1.3	11.3	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		2.6	22.5	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		3.9	33.8	
Pipeline Sales Pot	tential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2		
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.4		
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Questar Corp				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 3.6 Pip	eline Diameter (ii	n <b>ches):</b> 20.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA Pi	ipeline Diameter	(inches): NA		
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Carbon		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 1	3.5
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: General manufactu newspaper publishi	ring including lumbe ing, conveyor belt ma	r processing, minin anufacturing; Steel	g equipment, fabrication	

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	24
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008
		West Ride	ge mine				
		GEOGRAPH	IIC DATA				
Basin: Uinta			State	e: UT			
Coalbed: Lower Sur	nnyside		Cou	nty: Carbo	n		
		CORPORATE IN	IFORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: U	Itah American Energy Inc	;					
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Murray Energy Cor	р Ра	arent Compa	iny Web Sit	e: NA		
Previous Owner(s):	Andalex Resources Inc	Pr	evious or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: None	
		MINE ADD	RESS				
Contact Name: Gary	Gray		Phone	Number:	(435) 564-4	015	
Mailing Address: PO	Box 1077						
City: Price		State:	UT	<b>ZIP:</b> 8	4501		
				I			
	a at Minas 207	GENERAL IN		the duit and			
GENERAL INFORMATION  Number of Employees at Mine: 227  Mining Method: Longwall  Year of Initial Production: 2001  Primary Coal Use: Steam							
Year of Initial Produc	<b>:tion:</b> 2001			bal Use: Ste	eam	1 4 000/	
			Sultur Con			<b>J:</b> 1.09%	
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BIUS/ID Of	Coal Prod	uced: 12,6	48	
Depth to Seam (ft): 2	000 - 2500		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	4.3 - 9.0		
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION	AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		2.8	3.0	2.3	2.6	3.0
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	cf/day):	2.5	3.6	3.5	2.5	3.6
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems	:	2.5	3.6	3.5	2.5	3.6
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		316	443	570	350	430
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current Ma	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Use	ed: None						

## West Ridge Mine (continued)

	Assumed Pot	ential Recovery Ef	ficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.116	0.23	0.347
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.5%	3.0%	4.4%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	<b>1:</b> 0.3%	0.7%	1.0%
Power Generation P	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: PacifiCorp	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Berkshire Hathaway Inc			
		<u>MW</u> <u>GW</u>	/h/year
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		24.0	90.7
Mine Electricity Demand:		18.8	72.5
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		5.2	18.1
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		2.7	23.6
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		5.4	47.3
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		8.1	70.9
Pipeline Sales P	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.8	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Questar Corp			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 11.0 P	ipeline Diameter (ir	nches): 20.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter (	inches): NA	
Other Utilization Po	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Carbon		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 20
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Steel fabrication, lumber processin	misc. general manufac	cturing including mir	ning equipment and

#### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

\_\_\_\_\_

# 6. Profiled Mines (continued)

# Virginia Mines

Buchanan Deep Mine #26 Miles Branch No. 2 VP 8

Mine Status:	Active						0
Drainage System: Use Project:	res Pipeline				2	Updated:	6 05/09/2008
		Buchanar	Mine			••••••	
		GEOGRAPHI					
Basin: Central Appa	alachian		Stat	e: VA			
Coalbed: Pocabont	as No. 3		Cou	ntv: Buch	anan		
				N Duon			
		CORPORATE INF	ORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: 0	Consolidation Coal Compa	any					
Owner/Parent Compa	any: CONSOL Energy Ir	nc Par	ent Compa	any Web Si	te: www.c	onsolenergy	.com
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	Pre	vious or A	lternate Na	me of Mine	e: Buchana	n No. 1
			ESS				
Contact Name: Thor	nas F. Hoffman, VP		Phone	Number:	(276) 498-6	6900	
Mailing Address: Rte	680						
City: Keen Mountain		State: V	A	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	24624		
		GENERAL INFO	ORMATION	I			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 414		Mining Me	thod: Long	gwall		
Year of Initial Produc	<b>:tion:</b> 1983		Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam, Metal	lurgical	
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.73%	
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	uced: 13,8	31	
Depth to Seam (ft): 1	400 - 2000		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	5.4		
	PRODUCTION				тл		
	FRODUCTION,	VENTILATION	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Cool Draduction (!	lien chart to a transfer						
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		4.1	4.7	4.4	1.7 27.4	5.0
			40.2	42.0	43.5	57.1	12.5
Emission fro	om ventilation Systems	:	9.5	7.3	7.5	6.4	8.4
			38.7	35.3	35.8	30.6	03.9 5070
	missions (ct/ton):		4330	3318	3009	1850	5270
wethane Used (millio	on ci/day):	000/	38.7	34.0	35.7	30.6	51.3
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	88%					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	80%					
Drainage System Us	ed: Vertical Gob Borehol	es; Horizontal Pre-	Mine Boreh	oles; Vertica	al Pre-Mine	Boreholes	

## **Buchanan Mine (continued)**

	Assumed Por	tential Recovery	Efficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	2.346	4.69	7.038
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	16.4%	32.8%	49.3%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	3.8%	7.6%	11.4%
Power Generation Pote	ential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission I	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
		<u>MW</u>	Wh/year
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		39.7	150.3
Mine Electricity Demand:		31.2	120.2
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		8.5	30.1
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		54.8	479.9
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	1	09.6	959.9
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	1	64.4	1439.8
Pipeline Sales Pote	ential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		5.3	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		10.6	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		15.8	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Low Mountains/Low	ntains		
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Dominion			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 4.2 Pipe	eline Diameter (i	n <b>ches):</b> 8.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA Pip	peline Diameter	(inches): NA	
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Clinch River		Distance to I	Plant (miles): 20
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: General manufactur heavy equipment	ing including mining	g equipment, conc	rete, asphalt, and

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	23
Use Project:	None					Updated:	05/09/2008
		Deep l	Mine #26				
		GEOGRA	PHIC DATA				
Basin: Central Appa	alachian		Star	te: VA			
Coalbed: Lower Bar	nner		Coι	<b>inty:</b> Wise			
		CORPORATE	E INFORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: P	Paramount Coal Company	Virginia LLC					
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Alpha Natural Reso	urces LLC	Parent Compa	any Web Sit	e: www.a	lphanr.com	
Previous Owner(s):	None		Previous or A	Iternate Nai	me of Mine	: Virginia Common	wealth 5
		MINE A	DDRESS				
Contact Name: NA			Phone	e Number:	(276) 679-7	020	
Mailing Address: 101	4 Laurel Ave				( )		
City: Coeburn		Sta	te: VA	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	4230		
		GENERAL	INFORMATION	N			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 258		Mining Me	ethod: Cont	inuous		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 2002		Primary C	oal Use: Ste	eam, Metal	lurgical	
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Co	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.75% -	0.87%
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: Yes		BTUs/lb o	f Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 13,6	20	
Depth to Seam (ft): N	A		Seam Thio	ckness (ft):	4-7		
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATIO		INAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		0.3	1.1	1.5	1.7	2.0
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million o	cf/day):	0.5	1.9	3.0	3.3	3.7
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		0.5	1.9	3.0	3.3	3.7
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		623	620	720	704	672
Estimated Current D	n ci/day): rainage Efficiency:	ΝΔ	-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current M	amage Enclency. arket Penetration	ΝΔ					
Drainage System Use							
- anage bystem 030							

## Deep Mine #26 (continued)

	Assumed Po	tential Recovery E	ficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.119	0.23	0.356
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	2.1%	4.3%	6.4%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	: 0.5%	1.0%	1.5%
Power Generation Po	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission I	Line in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	Vh/year
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		15.8	59.7
Mine Electricity Demand:		12.4	47.8
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		3.4	11.9
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		2.8	24.3
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		5.5	48.6
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		8.3	72.9
Pipeline Sales Po	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.8	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Spectra Energy Corp			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 7.9 Pi	ipeline Diameter (i	nches): 12.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): NA	
Other Utilization Po	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Clinch River		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 20
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Industrial organic	chemical plant		

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	40
USE Project.	none	Milos Branc	h Mino			Opualeu.	05/09/2006
		GEOGRAPHIC	C DATA				
Basin: Central Appa	alachian		Stat	<b>e:</b> VA			
Coalbed: Pocahonta	as 5		Cou	nty: Tazev	vell		
		CORPORATE INF	ORMATIO	N			
Current Operator:	Consolidation Coal Compa	any					
Owner/Parent Comp	any: CONSOL Energy Ir	nc Par	ent Compa	any Web Sit	e: www.c	onsolenerg	y.com
Previous Owner(s):	BC Mining Inc	Pre	vious or A	Iternate Na	ne of Mine	e: None	
		MINE ADDR	ESS				
Contact Name: Thor	nas F. Hoffman, VP		Phone	Number:	(412) 831-4	1193	
Mailing Address: 700	) Dry Fork Rd						
City: Bandy		State: V	A	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	4602		
		GENERAL INFO	ORMATION	I			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 63		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 2004		Primary Co	oal Use: Me	etallurgical		
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Con	ntent of Coa	I Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.51%	
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: No		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 12,9	77	
Depth to Seam (ft): N	JA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	36		
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION A		NAGE DA	2004	2005	2006
			2002	2003	2004	2000	2000
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		-	-	0.3	0.3	0.3
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million of	cf/day):	-	-	0.1	1.0	1.2
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:	:	-	-	0.1	1.0	1.2
Estimated M	lethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		-	-	119	1397	1393
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Us	ed: None						

## Miles Branch Mine (continued)

	Assumed Potentia	I Recovery Eff	iciency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u> 4	0%	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.039	0.07	0.116
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	4.6%	9.3%	13.9%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	<b>1:</b> 1.1%	2.1%	3.2%
Power Generation P	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission Line i	n County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
	MW	<u>GW</u>	<u>h/year</u>
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	2.5		9.4
Mine Electricity Demand:	1.9		7.5
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:	0.5		1.9
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:	0.9		7.9
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	1.8		15.8
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	2.7		23.7
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co IncMW GWh/year 2.5GWh/year 9.4Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):2.59.4Mine Electricity Demand:1.97.5Prep Plant Electricity Demand:0.51.9Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)7.9Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:0.97.9Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:1.815.8Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:2.723.7Pipeline Sales PotentialPotential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)EcfAssuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):0.1Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):0.2Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):0.3Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA3.3Transmission Pipeline in County? YesYesOwner of Nearest Pipeline:NiSource			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NiSource			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.5 P	vipeline Diameter (inche	<b>s):</b> 8.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): Na	August 1       100       40%       60%         ivalent of CH4 Emissions Reductions/CO2       0.039       0.07       0.116         ivalent of CH4 Emissions Reductions/CO2       0.039       0.07       0.116         ivalent of CH4 Emissions Reductions/CO2       0.039       0.07       0.116         ivalent of CH4 Emissions Reductions/CO2       Emissions Reductions/CO2       13.9%       13.9%         ivale of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:       1.1%       2.1%       3.2%         Power Generation Potential         lectric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co       Transmission Line in County:       Yes         Scorporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc         MW       GWh/year         actricity Demand:       1.9       7.5         rep Plant Electricity Demand:       0.5       1.9         assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:       2.7       23.7         Suming 40% Recovery Efficiency:       0.1         ssuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):       0.2         assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):       0.3         assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):       0.3         assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):       0.2 <td< th=""></td<>		
Other Utilization P	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Clinch River	Dis	tance to Pla	nt (miles): 37
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: General manufaction machinery, news Chemical; pharm	cturing including mining equi paper publishing, concrete, o naceutical preparation, sanita	oment, cranes electronics; Ste ry cleaning pro	and heavy eel fabrication; oducts

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	50
Use Project:	None					Opdated:	05/09/2000
		I	NU. Z				
		GEOGR	APHIC DATA				
Basin: Central Appa	lachian		Stat	<b>e:</b> VA			
Coalbed: Pocahonta	s No. 3		Cou	nty: Dicke	enson		
		CORPORAT	E INFORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: Bl	ack Dog Coal Corpora	tion					
)wner/Parent Comna	ny: Alpha Natural Res		Parent Comp	any Web Sit	http://w	www.alnhan	ur com
Provious Owner(c): None			Previous or A	Iternate Na	me of Mine	: None	1.0011
		MINE	ADDRESS				
Contact Name: Randy	/ Phillips		Phone	e Number:	(276) 623-2	2901	
Mailing Address: 5703	3 Crutchfield Drive						
City: Norton		St	ate: VA	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	4273		
		GENERA		1			
Number of Employees	s at Mine: 52		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous		
ear of Initial Product	ion: 2005		Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam. Metal	luraical	
Life Expectancy: NA			Sulfur Cor	tent of Co	al Produce	<b>d</b> ∙ <1.0%	
Pren Plant Located or	Site: No		BTUS/Ib of		uced: 1/ 1	03	
rep Flant Located of	I Site. NO		B105/10 01		uceu. 14,1	03	
Depth to Seam (ft): N	A		Seam Thio	kness (ft):	4.3		
	PRODUCTION	I, VENTILATI	ON AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (milli	on short tons/year):		0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2
Estimated Total Metha	ane Liberated (millior	n cf/day):	0.2	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
Emission from	m Ventilation System	s:	0.2	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.8
Estimated Me	thane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific Er	nissions (cf/ton):		2081	1588	2042	1890	1498
Methane Used (million	n cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current Dra	ainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current Ma	rket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Use	d: None						

## No. 2 (continued)

	Assumed Pot	ential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.027	0.05	0.080
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	4.6%	9.2%	13.7%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produce	<b>d:</b> 1.1%	2.1%	3.2%
Power Generation F	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	Vh/year
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		1.6	6.0
Mine Electricity Demand:		1.3	4.8
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		0.3	1.2
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.6	5.5
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.2	10.9
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		1.9	16.4
Pipeline Sales F	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? NA			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter (in	nches): NA	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter (	(inches): NA	
Other Utilization P	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Clinch River		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 10
Other Maarker Industrial / Institutional Eastlities, NA			

#### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: NA

Mine Status:	Abandoned (Active in 2	2006)						
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	25	
Use Project:	Pipeline	V	0 0			Updated:	05/09/2008	
		V	70					
	GEOGRAPHIC DATA							
Basin: Central AppalachianState:VA								
Coalbed: Pocahontas No. 3			Cou	nty: Buch	anan			
		CORPORATE		N				
Current Operator:	sland Creek Coal Comp	any						
Owner/Parent Compa	any: CONSOL Energy	Inc	Parent Compa	iny Web Sit	e: www.c	onsolenergy	/.com	
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 5 years		Previous or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	e: VP No. 8	, Virginia	
						Pocahon	tas No.8	
Contact Name, Then			DDRE33	Number	(440) 004 /	1000		
Contact Name: Thom			Phone	number:	(412) 031-2	+000		
Mailing Address: 180	0 Washington Rd							
City: Pittsburgh		Sta	te: PA	<b>ZIP:</b> 1	5241			
		GENERAL	INFORMATION	I				
Number of Employee	a at Minor 12	OLNENAL	Mining Mo	thad long	woll			
					wan			
Year of Initial Produc	tion: 1984		Primary Co	bal Use: St	eam, Metal	lurgical		
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Con	itent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.75%		
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	uced: 14,0	13		
Depth to Seam (ft): 2	050		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	6.0			
	PRODUCTION	I, VENTILATIO	ON AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА			
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>	
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		2.2	1.9	1.5	1.2	0.3	
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	n cf/day):	43.0	46.3	39.5	25.3	19.0	
Emission fro	om Ventilation System	s:	8.5	7.9	6.9	4.2	3.2	
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		34.6	38.4	32.7	21.1	15.8	
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		7225	8992	9411	7401	24295*	
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		34.6	36.9	32.6	21.1	12.7	
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	83%						
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	80%						
Drainage System Use	Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes; Horizontal Pre-Mine Boreholes; Vertical Pre-Mine Boreholes							

<sup>\*</sup> CONSOL Energy's VP 8 mine in Virginia has specific emissions of 24,295 cf/ton based on total methane liberated in 2006. However, the mine was shutdown in spring 2006 but gas recovery continued, leading to elevated methane liberated per ton of coal produced. Based on first quarter coal production – the last full quarter of production - of s. 0.259 million short tons and quarterly methane liberation of 1,734 mmcf, specific emissions are 6,695 cf/ton.

## VP 8 (continued)

	Assumed P	otential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.618	1.23	1.853
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	74.7%	149.5%	224.2%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	17.3%	34.7%	52.0%
Power Generation Pot	ential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission	Line in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data)		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Wh/year</u>
Mine Electricity Demand		2.3	6.0
Pron Plant Electricity Demand:		0.5	17
Potential Constating Capacity (2006 data)		0.5	1.7
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency		14 4	126.3
Accuming 40% Receivery Efficiency:		20.0	252.7
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency.		20.0	232.7
	<i></i>	43.3	579.0
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential	Def	
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bof):		1.4	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bof):		2.0	
Assuming of % Recovery (BCI).		4.2	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Low Mountains/Low Mou	ntains		
Transmission Pipeline in County? No			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Mine owns pipeline that connects to o	dist. line		
Distance to Pipeline (miles): <0.1 Pipeline	eline Diameter (	inches): NA	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Consolidated Natural Gas Supply	Co. (CNG)		
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 1.0 Pi	peline Diameter	(inches): 6.0	
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Clinch River		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 19
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: NA			

### 6. Profiled Mines (continued)

### West Virginia Mines

American Eagle Beckley Crystal Blacksville No. 2 Dakota No. 2 Eagle Federal No. 2 Justice #1 Loveridge No. 22 McElroy Pinnacle Robinson Run No. 95 Shoemaker Whitetail Kittanning

Mine Status:	Active				2	006 Pank:	28
Use Project:	None				2	Updated:	20 05/09/2008
		American E	agle Mine	9			
		GEOGRAPH	IIC DATA				
Basin: Central Appalachian State: WV							
Coalbed: Eagle / Big	g Eagle		Cou	nty: Kana	wha		
CORPORATE INFORMATION							
Current Operator: S	Speed Mining Inc						
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Speed Mining Inc	Pa	arent Compa	any Web Si	te: NA		
Previous Owner(s):	Appalachian Eagle Inc	P	revious or A	Iternate Na	me of Mine	: None	
			DRESS				
Contact Name: Scott	t Pettry		Phone	Number:	(304) 461-3	8050	
Mailing Address: 325	5 Harper Park Dr						
City: Beckley		State:	WV	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	25801		
				_			
		GENERAL IN	FORMATION	1			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 145		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous		
Year of Initial Produc	<b>:tion:</b> 1990		Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam, Metal	lurgical	
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> <1.5%	
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: No		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 13,5	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): N	IA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	NA		
	PRODUCTION	N, VENTILATION	AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		3.3	4.1	4.1	3.5	2.4
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	n cf/day):	2.5	4.9	3.5	3.8	5.0
Emission fro	om Ventilation System	IS:	2.5	4.9	3.5	3.8	3.0
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	2.0
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		282	435	308	403	753
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	40%					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	0%					
Drainage System Use	ed: Vertical Gob Boreh	oles					

## American Eagle Mine (continued)

	Assumed Poter	ntial Recovery Ef	ficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.161	0.32	0.483
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	2.4%	4.8%	7.2%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.6%	1.1%	1.7%
Power Generation Pot	ential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission Lir	ne in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
	N	<u>W</u> <u>G</u> W	/h/year
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	19	9.1	72.2
Mine Electricity Demand:	1	5.0	57.7
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		4.1	14.4
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:	:	3.8	32.9
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		7.5	65.8
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	1	1.3	98.8
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.4	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.7	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.1	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NiSource			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): Adjacent Pipe	eline Diameter (inc	<b>:hes):</b> <0.1	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Dominion			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 0.93 Pi	peline Diameter (ir	nches): 20.0	
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Kanawha River		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 4
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: General manufacture chemicals, lumber presented and chlorine	ring including coal pro processing, concrete; (	cessing, agricultu Chemical: industri	ral inorganic al gases, alkalies

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	32
Use Project:	None	Deaklay	Cracel			Updated:	05/09/2008
		Deckley	Crystal				
		GEOGRAPH	IIC DATA				
Basin: Central AppalachianState:WV							
Coalbed: NA			Cou	nty: Ralei	gh		
		CORPORATE IN	IFORMATION	N			
Current Operator: B	aylor Mining Inc						
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Baylor Mining Inc	Pa	arent Compa	ny Web Sit	te: NA		
Previous Owner(s):	None	Pr	evious or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: None	
		MINE ADD	RESS				
Contact Name: Robe	ert L. Worley		Phone	Number:	(304) 253-7	900	
Mailing Address: 147	Whitestick St				. ,		
City: Mabscott		State:	WV	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	25871		
		GENERAL INI	FORMATION				
Number of Employee	s at Mine: 52		Mining Met	thod: Cont	inuous		
Year of Initial Produc	tion: 2001		Primary Co	bal Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA	۱.		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> <1.5%	
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: No		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 12,0	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): N	IA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	7.5		
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION	AND DRAI		ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mill	lion short tons/year):		0.6	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.3
Estimated Total Meth	ane Liberated (million o	:f/day):	1.0	2.3	1.5	1.8	2.0
Emission fro	m Ventilation Systems:		1.0	2.3	1.5	1.8	2.0
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		644	1809	1059	1556	2185
Methane Used (millio	n cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current Dr	ainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current Ma	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Use	ed: None						

## **Beckley Crystal (continued)**

	Assumed Poten	tial Recovery Ef	ficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.065	0.13	0.196
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	7.8%	15.6%	23.4%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produce	ed: 1.8%	3.6%	5.5%
Power Generation I	Potential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission Lin	e in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
	<u>M</u>	<u>W GV</u>	/h/year
I otal Electricity Demand (2006 data):	2		10.1
Mine Electricity Demand:	4	<u>.</u> 1	0.1
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:	l	).6	2.0
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:	1	.5	13.4
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	3	8.1	26.8
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	2	.6	40.2
Pipeline Sales I	Potential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.4	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NiSource			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 3.2	Pipeline Diameter (inc	h <b>es):</b> 6.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NiSource			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 8.6	Pipeline Diameter (in	<b>ches):</b> 20.0	
Other Utilization F	Possibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Glen Lyn	I	Distance to Pla	ant (miles):

35

#### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Mining equipment, steel, foam

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	8
Use Project:	Pipeline	Bleekevill	- No. 2			Updated:	05/09/2008
		BIACKSVIII	e NO. 2				
		GEOGRAPHI	C DATA				
Basin:   Northern Appalachian   State:   WV							
Coalbed: Pittsburgh	Cou	nty: Mono	ngalia				
		CORPORATE IN	FORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: 0	Consolidation Coal Compa	any					
Owner/Parent Compa	any: CONSOL Energy Ir	nc <b>Pa</b>	rent Compa	iny Web Sit	e: www.c	onsolenergy	.com
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	Pro	evious or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: None	
			RESS				
Contact Name: Thor	nas F. Hoffman, VP		Phone	Number:	(412) 831-4	4000	
Mailing Address: 180	00 Washington Dr						
City: Pittsburgh		State: F	PA	<b>ZIP:</b> 1	5241		
		GENERAL INF	ORMATION	I			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 503		Mining Me	thod: Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	<b>:tion:</b> 1971		Primary Co	bal Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Con	itent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 1.97%	
Prep Plant Located of	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 13,4	19	
Depth to Seam (ft): 8	300 - 1150		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	7.5		
	PRODUCTION.	VENTILATION	AND DRAI		ТА		
	,		<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		4.8	5.4	5.7	5.3	5.0
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	cf/day):	9.0	6.1	7.7	8.1	9.7
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems	:	5.7	4.7	6.4	6.4	7.2
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		3.3	1.4	1.4	1.6	2.5
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		684	408	493	560	701
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		3.3	1.4	1.4	1.6	2.5
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	25%					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	100%					
Drainage System Us	ed: Vertical Gob Borehol	les with Pumps					
# Blacksville No. 2 (continued)

	Assumed Po	tential Recovery E	Efficiency	
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.314	0.62	0.942	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	2.2%	4.5%	6.7%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.5%	1.0%	1.6%	
Power Generation Pot	ential			
Utility Electric Supplier: Monongahela Power Co	Transmission I	Line in County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc				
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u>	Wh/year	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		39.9	151.2	
Mine Electricity Demand:		31.4	120.9	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		8.6	30.2	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		7.3	64.2	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		14.7	128.5	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		22.0	192.7	
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.7		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.4		
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		2.1		
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Low Mountains/High Hills	8			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.2 Pip	eline Diameter (i	nches): 10.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 1.7 Pi	peline Diameter	(inches): 3.0		
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Rivesville		Distance to P	lant (miles):	15.5
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Pharmaceuticals, cl hospitals, university	hemicals, apparel, lo v, and other municip	umber, and glass m al buildings	nanufacturing;	

Mine Status:Active (Abandoned 2007)Drainage System:NoUse Project:None

2006 Rank: 44 Updated: 05/09/2008

	Dakota No. 2	2					
	GEOGRAPHIC DAT	<b>A</b>					
Basin: Central Appalachian		State	WV				
Coalbed: Pittsburgh No. 8		Coun	ty: Boone	e			
	CORPORATE INFORM	ATION					
Current Operator: Dakota LLC							
Owner/Parent Company: Magnum Coal Com	noany Parent C	omnan	v Web Sit	e. www.w/m	nagnumcoa	l.com	
Previous Owner(s): Dakota Mining Inc	Previous	Previous or Alternate Name of Mine: None					
	MINE ADDRESS						
Contact Name: Amanda Lawson Phone Number: (304) 255-7458							
Mailing Address: 430 Harper Park, Ste A							
City: Beckley	State: WV		<b>ZIP:</b> 2	5801			
	GENERAL INFORMA	TION					
Number of Employees at Mine: 2	Minin	ng Meth	od: Cont	inuous			
Year of Initial Production: 1996	Prima	ary Coa	al Use: Ste	eam			
Life Expectancy: NA	Sulfu	r Conte	ent of Coa	I Produce	<b>d:</b> <1.5%		
Prep Plant Located on Site: No	BTUs	/lb of 0	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 13,5	00		
Depth to Seam (ft): NA	Seam	n Thick	ness (ft):	NA			
PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION AND	ORAIN	AGE DA	ТА			
	<u>200</u>	<u>)2</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>	
Coal Production (million short tons/year):		1.5	1.5	1.4	1.1	0.6	
Estimated Total Methane Liberated (million	cf/day):	1.0	1.5	0.8	1.9	1.0	
Emission from Ventilation Systems	:	1.0	1.5	0.8	1.9	1.0	
Estimated Methane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-	
Estimated Specific Emissions (cf/ton):	2	34	366	193	651	601	
Methane Used (million cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-	
Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency:	NA						
Estimated Current Market Penetration:	NA						
Drainage System Used: None							

# Dakota No. 2 (continued)

	Assumed Pote	ential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.032	0.06	0.096
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.9%	3.8%	5.7%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	l: 0.4%	0.9%	1.3%
Power Generation P	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
	<u> </u>	<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		4.8	18.0
Mine Electricity Demand:		3.7	14.4
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		1.0	3.6
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.7	6.6
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.5	13.1
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.2	19.7
Pipeline Sales P	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Dominion			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 6.0 P	ipeline Diameter (in	iches): 10.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Dominion			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 7.3	Pipeline Diameter (	inches): 12.0	
Other Utilization Po	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Kanawha River		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 24
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Coal processing			

Mine Status:	Active								
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	39 05/09/2008		
	None	Eagl	e Mine			opuatea.	00/00/2000		
		GEOGRA							
Basin: Central App	alachian	GEOGRA	State	e: WV					
Coalbed: Eagle / Bi	a Eagle		Cou	ntv: Kana	wha				
		CORPORATE		N					
		CORFORATE		N					
Current Operator:	Newtown Energy Inc								
Owner/Parent Comp	any: Newtown Energy I	nc	Parent Compa	iny Web Si	te: NA				
Previous Owner(s):	None		Previous or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: None			
		MINE A	DDRESS						
Contact Name: Jam	es I Bunn		Phone	Number:	(304) 837-8	3587			
Mailing Address: PC	) Box 189								
City: Comfort State: WV ZIP: 25049									
		GENERAL	INFORMATION	l					
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 197		Mining Me	thod: Cont	inuous				
Year of Initial Produce	<b>ction:</b> 2000		Primary Co	<b>bal Use:</b> St	eam				
Life Expectancy: N/	A		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> <1.5%			
Prep Plant Located	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	<b>uced:</b> 13,5	00			
Depth to Seam (ft): N	NA		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	NA				
	PRODUCTION	. VENTILATIO	N AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА				
		, -	<u>2002</u>	2003	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>		
Coal Production (mi	llion short tons/year):		1.2	1.5	1.4	1.4	1.3		
Estimated Total Met	hane Liberated (million	cf/day):	0.8	1.0	1.2	0.8	1.2		
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems	S:	0.8	1.0	1.2	0.8	1.2		
Estimated N	lethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Specific E	Emissions (cf/ton):		263	241	302	212	350		
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-		
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA							
Estimated Current M	larket Penetration:	NA							
Drainage System Us	ed: None								

## Eagle Mine (continued)

	Assumed Po	tential Recovery Ef	ficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.041	0.08	0.122
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.1%	2.2%	3.3%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	. 0.3%	0.5%	0.8%
Power Generation Po	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission I	Line in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	/h/year
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		10.3	39.0
Mine Electricity Demand:		8.1	31.2
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		2.2	7.8
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.9	8.3
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.9	16.6
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.8	24.9
Pipeline Sales Po	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? NA			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Dominion			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.5 Pi	peline Diameter (i	nches): 6.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Dominion			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 2.7 F	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): 12.0	
Other Utilization Po	ssibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Kanawha River		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 8.5
Other Neerby Industrial / Institutional Facilities . Our statements			all and a large large large

### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: General manufacturing including coal processing, inorganic chemicals, lumber processing; Chemical: industrial gases, alkalies and chlorine

Mine Status:	Active							
Drainage System:	Yes					2	006 Rank:	12
Use Project:	Elec Power						Updated:	05/09/2008
		Fec	deral No	. 2				
		GEOG	GRAPHIC D	ΑΤΑ				
Basin: Northern App	palachian			State	e: WV			
Coalbed: Pittsburgh	No. 8			Coui	nty: Mono	ngalia		
		CORPOR	ATE INFOR		J			
Current Operator: E	astern Associated Coal	LLC						
Owner/Parent Compa	any: Patriot Coal Corpo	oration	Parent	Compa	ny Web Sit	e: NA		
Previous Owner(s):	Peabody Energy Corp		Previo	us or Al	ternate Nai	ne of Mine	: None	
		MIN	E ADDRES	S				
Contact Name: Denr	nis Richards, Operations	Mgr.		Phone	Number: (	(304) 449-8	3154	
Mailing Address: 104	4 Miracle Run Rd							
City: Fairview		:	State: WV		<b>ZIP:</b> 2	6570		
		GENER		MATION				
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 483		Mir	ning Met	hod: Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	<b>:tion:</b> 1968		Pri	mary Co	al Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy: 20	11		Su	lfur Con	tent of Coa	I Produce	<b>d:</b> 2.15%	
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BT	Us/Ib of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 13,3	30	
Depth to Seam (ft): 8	00 - 1250		Sea	am Thicl	kness (ft):	7.0		
	PRODUCTION	, VENTILA		D DRAII	NAGE DA	ТА		
			4	2002	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):			5.0	4.4	4.9	4.1	4.6
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	cf/day):		12.0	8.8	5.7	6.6	6.7
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems	6:		10.6	7.6	4.6	5.6	5.7
Estimated M	ethane Drained:			1.4	1.1	1.1	1.0	1.0
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):			876	726	428	589	531
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):			0.4	0.1	0.0	0.2	0.2
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	15%						
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	23%						
Drainage System Use	ed: Vertical Gob Boreho	oles						

# Federal No. 2 (continued)

	Assumed Por	tential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.218	0.43	0.655
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.7%	3.4%	5.1%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.4%	0.8%	1.2%
Power Generation Pote	ential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Monongahela Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc			
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u>	Wh/year
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		36.6	138.7
Mine Electricity Demand:		28.8	110.9
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		7.9	27.7
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		5.1	44.6
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		10.2	89.3
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		15.3	133.9
Pipeline Sales Pote	ential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.0	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.5	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Low Mountains/High Hills			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.7 Pipe	line Diameter (i	n <b>ches):</b> 3.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 2.4 Pip	beline Diameter	(inches): 12.0	
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Rivesville		Distance to Pl	lant (miles): 12.5
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Pharmaceuticals, ch university, and other	emicals, apparel, a municipal building	nd glass manufactu s	uring; hospitals,

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	46
Use Project:	None	_				Updated:	05/09/2008
		Justic	e #1				
		GEOGRAPH	IC DATA				
Basin: Northern Ap	palachian		State	e: WV			
Coalbed: Powellton	/ Buffalo Crk		Cou	nty: Boone	e		
		CORPORATE IN	FORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: In	ndependence Coal Comp	any Inc					
- Owner/Derent Comm			rent Compo	wy Wah Cit			
Dwner/Parent Compa	Any: Massey Energy Cor	npany Pa	avieus er Al	iny web Sit	e: www.m		Jyco.com
Previous Owner(s):	Casis Contracting Inc	FI	evious of Al	ternate Nar		: None	
		MINE ADD	RESS				
Contact Name: Brad	Ball, Chief Engr.		Phone	Number:	(304) 369-7	7103	
Mailing Address: HC	78, Box 1800						
City: Madison		State:	WV	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	5130		
		GENERAL INF		I			
Number of Employee	s at Mine: 156		Mining Me	thod: Long	wall		
Vear of Initial Broduc	tion: 1987		Primary Co		am Metal	lurgical	
	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A			tent of Con			
	A		Sulfur Con		Il Produce	<b>a:</b> <1.5%	
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 13,5	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): 8	800 - 1000		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	6.5		
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION	AND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		2.6	1.8	0.9	0.7	0.9
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million o	cf/day):	3.3	2.8	2.2	1.0	0.9
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		3.3	2.8	2.2	1.0	0.9
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		461	566	914	515	363
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Use	ed: None						

## Justice #1 (continued)

	Assumed Por	tential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.030	0.06	0.090
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.2%	2.3%	3.5%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	<b>1:</b> 0.3%	0.5%	0.8%
Power Generation P	otential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission I	Line in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
Total Electricity Domand (2006 data):		<u>MW</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>
Mine Electricity Demand:		5.8	20.0
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		1.6	5.6
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		0.7	6.2
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		1.4	12.3
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		2.1	18.5
Pipeline Sales P	otential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Dominion			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.5 P	ipeline Diameter (i	nches): 12.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NA			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): NA	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): NA	
Other Utilization Pe	ossibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Kanawha River		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 23

#### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Lumber and coal processing

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	14
Use Project:	Pipeline	Lovorida	o No. 22			Updated:	05/09/2008
		Lovenag	e nu. 22				
		GEOGRAP	HIC DATA				
Basin: Northern Ap	palachian		State	e: WV			
Coalbed: Pittsburgh	n No. 8		Cou	nty: Mario	'n		
		CORPORATE I	NFORMATIO	N			
Current Operator: (	Consolidation Coal Con	npany					
Owner/Parent Comp	any: CONSOL Energy	/ Inc P	arent Compa	iny Web Sit	te: www.c	onsolenerg	y.com
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	P	Previous or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: None	
			DRESS				
Contact Name: Johr	n Higgins		Phone	Number:	(304) 285-2	2223	
Mailing Address: PC	) Box 40						
City: Fairview		State	: WV	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	26570		
-							
		GENERAL IN	IFORMATION	l			
Number of Employe	es at Mine: 544		Mining Met	thod: Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	<b>ction:</b> 1953		Primary Co	oal Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy: N/	Α		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 2.69%	
Prep Plant Located	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	uced: 13,1	75	
Depth to Seam (ft): 8	300 - 1250		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	7.0		
	PRODUCTIO	N, VENTILATION			ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mi	llion short tons/year):		-	0.3	5.0	6.4	6.4
Estimated Total Met	hane Liberated (millio	n cf/day):	3.2	5.3	5.3	5.8	7.1
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systen	ns:	2.0	0.9	3.7	4.1	5.3
Estimated M	lethane Drained:		1.3	4.4	1.6	1.7	1.8
Estimated Specific E	Emissions (cf/ton):		-	6406	387	334	406
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	1.7	1.8
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	25%					
Estimated Current N	larket Penetration:	100%					
Drainage System Us	ed: Vertical Gob Borel	noles with Pumps					

# Loveridge No. 22 (continued)

	Assumed Pote	ential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
$CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions (mm tons): $CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions/ $CO_2$	0.230	0.46	0.691
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.3%	2.6%	4.0%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.3%	0.6%	0.9%
Power Generation Pote	ential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Monongahela Power Co	Transmission Li	ine in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc			
	<u> </u>	<u>MW G\</u>	<u>Wh/year</u>
I otal Electricity Demand (2006 data):	t	0.6	191.5
Mine Electricity Demand:		10.0	20.2
Prep France Lectricity Demand.		10.9	30.3
		<b>F</b> 4	47.4
Assuming 20% Recovery Emclency:		5.4	47.1
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		10.8	94.2
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		16.1	141.4
Pipeline Sales Pote	ential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.5	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.0	
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.6	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Low Mountains/High Hills	;		
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.4 Pipe	eline Diameter (in	<b>ches):</b> 12.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 1.9 Pip	peline Diameter (i	nches): 16.0	
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Rivesville		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 9.7
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Lighting products, te lumber, hospital and	emperature control ed d other municipal buil	quipment, general dings	machining, apparel,

Mine Status: Drainage System: Use Project:	Active Yes None	Mc Elrov	Mine		2	2006 Rank: Updated:	1 05/09/2008	
		GEOGRAPHIC	DATA					
Basin: Northern App	palachian		Stat	e: WV				
Coalbed: Pittsburgh	No. 8		Cou	Inty: Marsh	nall			
		CORPORATE INF	ORMATIO	N				
Current Operator: M	IcElroy Coal Company							
Owner/Parent Compa	e Pare	ent Compa	any Web Sit	e: www.c	onsolenerg	y.com		
Previous Owner(s):	None	Prev	Previous or Alternate Name of Mine: None					
			ESS					
Contact Name: Dave Eraskovich, Supt.			Phone Number: (304) 843-3700					
Mailing Address: Rd	1							
City: Glen Easton		State: W	V	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	6039			
		GENERAL INFO	RMATION	ı				
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 822	r	Aining Me	thod: Long	wall			
Year of Initial Produc	tion: 1968	F	Primary Co	oal Use: Ste	eam			
Life Expectancy: NA	N N	\$	Sulfur Cor	ntent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 3.98% -	4.42%	
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: Yes	E	BTUs/lb of	f Coal Prod	uced: 12,3	00		
Depth to Seam (ft): 6	00 - 1200	s	Seam Thic	kness (ft):	5.0 - 5.4			
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION A	ND DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА			
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>	
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		4.8	6.8	8.4	10.4	10.5	
Estimated Total Meth	ane Liberated (million c	f/day):	7.4	1.6	8.2	13.3	15.1	
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		7.4	1.6	8.2	11.3	12.8	
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	2.0	2.3	
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		565	88	356	467	525	
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-	
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	15%						
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	0%						

Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps

## Mc Elroy Mine (continued)

	Assumed Po	tential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.488	0.97	1.465
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.8%	3.7%	5.5%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produce	ed: 0.4%	0.9%	1.3%
Power Generation	Potential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Wheeling Power Co	Transmission I	Line in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc			
		<u>MW</u> <u>G</u>	<u>Nh/year</u>
I otal Electricity Demand (2006 data):		83.1	314.3
		65.2	251.4
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		17.9	62.9
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		11.4	99.9
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		22.8	199.8
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		34.2	299.8
Pipeline Sales	Potential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		1.1	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):	2.2		
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		3.3	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: High Hills/Hills			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Spectra Energy Corp			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.5	Pipeline Diameter (i	nches): 36.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Dominion			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 3.2	Pipeline Diameter	(inches): 30.0	
Other Utilization I	Possibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Ohio Power Kammer	Plant	Distance to Pl	ant (miles): 2.0

### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Petroleum calcined coke and carbon black, cabinets, industrial chemicals

Mine Status:	Active						45	
Drainage System: Use Proiect:	Yes Pipeline				2	Updated:	15 05/09/2008	
		Pinnacle				-		
	G	EOGRAPHIC DA	TA					
Basin: Central Appa	alachian		State	e: WV				
Coalbed: Pocahonta	as No. 3		Cou	nty: Wyon	ning			
	CORI	PORATE INFORM		N				
Current Operator: F	Pinnacle Mining Company LLC			-				
		-	-					
Owner/Parent Comp	Owner/Parent Company: Cleveland-Clifts Inc Parent Company Web Site: www.cleveland-clifts.com				ts.com			
Previous Owner(s):	U.S. Steel Mining Company	Previou	s or Ai	ternate Nai	ne of Mine	e: Pinnacie No. 50, l 50	No. 50, Gary US Steel No.	
		MINE ADDRESS	5					
Contact Name: Doug Williams, VP & GM Phone Number: (304) 732-5310								
Mailing Address: PO Box 338								
City: Pineville		State: WV		<b>ZIP:</b> 2	4824			
	GE		ATION					
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 415	Mini	ng Met	thod: Long	wall			
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1969	Prin	nary Co	oal Use: Me	etallurgical			
Life Expectancy: 20	23	Sulf	ur Con	tent of Coa	I Produce	<b>d:</b> 0.75%		
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes	BTU	s/lb of	Coal Prod	u <b>ced:</b> 14,9	00		
Depth to Seam (ft): 6	600 - 1300	Sea	m Thic	kness (ft):	4.2			
	PRODUCTION, VENT	TILATION AND	DRAI	NAGE DA	ТА			
		<u>20</u>	002	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>	
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		3.5	2.5	1.8	2.6	2.0	
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million cf/day	):	13.6	11.8	11.0	16.2	9.8	
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:		8.0	9.8	8.0	6.5	5.2	
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		5.6	2.0	3.1	9.7	4.6	
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):	1	405	1745	2299	2248	1785	
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		5.6	2.0	3.1	9.7	4.6	
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency: 47%							
Estimated Current M	Estimated Current Market Penetration: 100%							
Drainage System Us	ed: Vertical Gob Boreholes; Ho	orizontal Pre-Mine	Boreho	oles				

## Pinnacle (continued)

	Assumed Poter	tial Recovery Ef	fficiency	
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.319	0.63	0.958	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	5.1%	10.3%	15.4%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produce	ed: 1.2%	2.4%	3.6%	
Power Generation I	Potential			
Utility Electric Supplier: Appalachian Power Co	Transmission Lin	e in County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc				
	<u>M</u>	<u>W</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Vh/year</u>	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	16	5.0	60.4	
Mine Electricity Demand:	12	2.5	48.3	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:	:	3.4	12.1	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:	7	7.5	65.3	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:	14	1.9	130.7	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	22	2.4	196.0	
Pipeline Sales I	Potential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):	0.7			
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		1.4		
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):	2.2			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Low Mountains				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NiSource				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.3	Pipeline Diameter (inc	hes): 20.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 5.4	Pipeline Diameter (in	<b>ches):</b> 6.0		
Other Utilization Possibilities				
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Glen Lyn	I	Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 37	

### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Mining equipment manufacturing, quarries, coal processing, municipal buildings

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	Yes				2	006 Rank:	21
USE FIUJECI.	None	Robinson R		5		opuateu.	03/09/2008
				,			
Basin: Northern An	nalachian	GEOGRAPH	IIC DATA State	<b>e</b> : \//\/			
Coolbod: Dittohurgh			Cou	<b>5.</b> VVV			
Coalded: Philsburgh	I NU. 0		Cou		5011		
CORPORATE INFORMATION							
Current Operator: C	Consolidation Coal Comp	pany					
Owner/Parent Compa	any: CONSOL Energy	Inc Pa	arent Compa	ny Web Si	te: www.c	onsolenergy	/.com
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	Pr	revious or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	e: No. 95	
MINE ADDRESS							
Contact Name: Jimm	ny Brock		Phone	Number:	(304) 795-4	1421	
Mailing Address: Rt 2, PO Box 152							
City: Mannington		State:	WV	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	26582		
		GENERAL INI	FORMATION	l			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 488		Mining Met	t <b>hod:</b> Long	gwall		
Year of Initial Produc	ction: 1968		Primary Co	oal Use: St	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA	A		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 2.95% -	3.14%
Prep Plant Located o	on Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	uced: 13,1	00	
Depth to Seam (ft): 7	700		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	6.5		
	PRODUCTION	I, VENTILATION		NAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		5.0	5.7	6.2	6.1	5.7
Estimated Total Meth	nane Liberated (million	cf/day):	5.6	4.9	6.5	5.8	5.7
Emission fro	om Ventilation System	s:	4.5	4.0	4.6	4.1	4.0
Estimated M	lethane Drained:		1.1	1.0	2.0	1.7	1.7
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		410	314	381	345	361
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current D	rainage Efficiency:	30%					
Estimated Current M	arket Penetration:	0%					
Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps							

# Robinson Run No. 95 (continued)

	Assumed Pote	ential Recovery E	fficiency
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.184	0.36	0.552
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.2%	2.4%	3.5%
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	0.3%	0.6%	0.8%
Power Generation Pot	tential		
Utility Electric Supplier: Monongahela Power Co	Transmission Li	ne in County:	Yes
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc			
	<u>N</u>		<u>Wh/year</u>
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	4	5.5	172.2
Mine Electricity Demand:	:	35.7	137.8
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		9.8	34.4
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)			
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		4.3	37.7
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		8.6	75.3
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:	1	2.9	113.0
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>	
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.4	
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):	0.8		
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		1.2	
Description of Surrounding Terrain: Open Low Mountains			
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes			
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Dominion			
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 0.6 Pip	eline Diameter (in	<b>ches):</b> 16.0	
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Equitable Resources Inc			
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 0.9 Pi	peline Diameter (i	nches): 4.0	
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities		
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Harrison		Distance to Pl	ant (miles): 2.1
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Aircraft, glass, stee manufacturing; FB	I and aluminum, minir I facility, shopping ma	ng equipment, cru Ills, and municipal	shed coal, and casket buildings

Mine Status:	Active						
Drainage System:	No				2	006 Rank:	27
Use Project.	None	Shoom	akor			opualeu.	05/09/2006
		Shoem					
Desire Nextherm Area	l l- i	GEOGRAPH					
Basin: Northern App	palachian		State	e: vvv			
Coalbed: Pittsburgh	No. 8		Cou	nty: Marsh	nall		
CORPORATE INFORMATION							
Current Operator: C	Consolidation Coal Compa	any					
Owner/Parent Compa	any: CONSOL Energy Ir	nc Pa	rent Compa	ny Web Sit	e: www.c	onsolenergy	v.com
Previous Owner(s):	None in last 10 years	Pre	evious or Al	ternate Na	me of Mine	: None	
MINE ADDRESS							
Contact Name: Rock Harris Phone Number: (304) 238-1500							
Citur Dolloo		State: \	A/\ /	<b>710</b> . 0	0000		
City: Dallas		State: \	VVV	<b>ZIP:</b> 2	6036		
		GENERAL INF	ORMATION				
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 247		Mining Met	t <b>hod:</b> Long	wall		
Year of Initial Produc	tion: 1983		Primary Co	al Use: Ste	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA	N N		Sulfur Con	tent of Coa	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 3.3%	
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: Yes		BTUs/lb of	Coal Prod	uced: 12,1	72	
Depth to Seam (ft): 6	50		Seam Thic	kness (ft):	5.0 - 5.5		
	PRODUCTION,	VENTILATION			ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mil	lion short tons/year):		3.4	3.8	3.7	3.5	1.0
Estimated Total Meth	ane Liberated (million o	cf/day):	3.4	2.2	3.9	4.2	3.1
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems:	:	2.9	1.8	3.3	3.6	3.1
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		0.5	0.3	0.6	0.6	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		370	206	385	437	1159
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current Dr	rainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current Ma	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Used: Vertical Gob Boreholes with Pumps							

## Shoemaker (continued)

	Assumed Pot	ential Recovery Ef	ficiency	
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>	
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions (mm tons): CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub>	0.099	0.19	0.298	
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	4.1%	8.2%	12.3%	
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced:	1.0%	1.9%	2.9%	
Power Generation Pot	tential			
Utility Electric Supplier: Wheeling Power Co	Transmission L	ine in County:	Yes	
Parent Corporation of Utility: American Electric Power Co Inc				
		<u>MW</u> <u>GW</u>	/h/year	
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):		7.7	29.0	
Mine Electricity Demand:		6.0	23.2	
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		1.6	5.8	
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)				
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		2.3	20.3	
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		4.6	40.7	
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		7.0	61.0	
Pipeline Sales Pot	ential			
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>		
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2		
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):	0.4			
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):	0.7			
Description of Surrounding Terrain: High Hills/Hills				
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes				
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: NiSource				
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 1.4 Pip	eline Diameter (ir	nches): 16.0		
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: NiSource				
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 2.0 Pi	peline Diameter (	inches): 16.0		
Other Utilization Pos	sibilities			
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Burger		Distance to Pla	ant (miles): 7.5	
Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: General manufacturing including iron and steel, asphalt, bakeries, machine shops, printing copper, motor and generator; Chemicals: industrial gases and plastics; several steel plants				

Mine Status: Drainage System: Use Project:	Active No None	Vhitetail K	(ittanning N	Mine	2	006 Rank: Updated:	36 05/09/2008
		GEOGR	APHIC DATA				
Basin: Northern App	palachian		St	ate: WV			
Coalbed: Kittanning	d: Kittanning County: Preston						
		CORPORAT	E INFORMATI	ON			
Current Operator: K	ingwood Mining Compa	nvIIC	•				
			5				
Owner/Parent Company: Alpha Natural Resources LLC Parent Company Web Site: www.alphanr.com   Previous Owner(s): Coastal Coal-West Virginia Previous or Alternate Name of Mine: None			e: None				
MINE ADDRESS							
Contact Name: Richa	ard L. Craig		Pho	ne Number:	(304) 568-2	2460	
Mailing Address: Rte	1 Box 249C					100	
City: Nowburg	1, 00x 2430	64	ato: \/\/	710. (	06410		
City. Newburg		31		<b>Z</b> IF. 2	20410		
		GENERA		DN			
Number of Employee	es at Mine: 272		Mining N	lethod: Cont	tinuous		
Year of Initial Produc	tion: 2000		Primary	Coal Use: St	eam		
Life Expectancy: NA	A Contract of the second se		Sulfur Co	ontent of Co	al Produce	<b>d:</b> 1.5% - 1	.7%
Prep Plant Located o	n Site: Yes		BTUs/lb	of Coal Prod	uced: 13,1	50	
Depth to Seam (ft): N	IA		Seam Th	ickness (ft):	6.5		
	PRODUCTION	, VENTILATI		AINAGE DA	ТА		
			<u>2002</u>	<u>2003</u>	<u>2004</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2006</u>
Coal Production (mill	lion short tons/year):		2.4	2.4	1.8	1.5	1.4
Estimated Total Meth	ane Liberated (million	cf/day):	1.7	1.7	1.8	1.5	1.4
Emission fro	om Ventilation Systems	5:	1.7	1.7	1.8	1.5	1.4
Estimated M	ethane Drained:		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Specific E	missions (cf/ton):		256	264	360	372	366
Methane Used (millio	on cf/day):		-	-	-	-	-
Estimated Current Dr	rainage Efficiency:	NA					
Estimated Current Ma	arket Penetration:	NA					
Drainage System Use	ed: None						

## Whitetail Kittanning Mine (continued)

	Assumed Pote	ntial Recovery E	fficiency			
(Based on 2006 Data)	<u>20%</u>	<u>40%</u>	<u>60%</u>			
$CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions (mm tons): $CO_2$ Equivalent of $CH_4$ Emissions Reductions/ $CO_2$	0.045	0.09	0.134			
Emissions from Coal Combustion:	1.2%	2.4%	3.6%			
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produc	ed: 0.3%	0.6%	0.8%			
Power Generation	Potential					
Utility Electric Supplier: Monongahela Power Co	Transmission Li	ne in County:	Yes			
Parent Corporation of Utility: Allegheny Energy Inc						
	<u>N</u>	<u>/W</u> <u>GV</u>	<u>Wh/year</u>			
Total Electricity Demand (2006 data):	1	0.9	41.3			
Mine Electricity Demand:		8.6	33.0			
Prep Plant Electricity Demand:		2.3	8.3			
Potential Generating Capacity (2006 data)						
Assuming 20% Recovery Efficiency:		1.0	9.2			
Assuming 40% Recovery Efficiency:		2.1	18.3			
Assuming 60% Recovery Efficiency:		3.1	27.5			
Pipeline Sales	Potential					
Potential Annual Gas Sales (2006 data)		<u>Bcf</u>				
Assuming 20% Recovery (Bcf):		0.1				
Assuming 40% Recovery (Bcf):		0.2				
Assuming 60% Recovery (Bcf):		0.3				
Description of Surrounding Terrain: NA						
Transmission Pipeline in County? Yes						
Owner of Nearest Pipeline: Dominion						
Distance to Pipeline (miles): 4.8	Pipeline Diameter (in	ches): 8.0				
Owner of Next Nearest Pipeline: Dominion						
Distance to Next Nearest Pipeline (miles): 4.7	Pipeline Diameter (i	nches): 4.0				
Other Utilization	Other Utilization Possibilities					
Name of Nearby Coal Fired Power Plant: Albright		Distance to PI	ant (miles): 1	13.5		

### ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL VALUE OF EMISSIONS REDUCTIONS

Other Nearby Industrial / Institutional Facilities: Coal processing, fertilizers, adhesives, general machining, mining equipment

### 7. References

- Best, A. (2007). A "New" Natural Gas. The Aspen Times, December 29, 2007. Available: http://www.aspentimes.com/article/20071229/ASPENWEEKLY/47544009
- CONSOL (1997). Notes taken by L.B. Pollard of ICF during field trip to CONSOL's VP and Buchanan Mines, as part of the U.S. Mine Ventilation Symposium, May 16-18, 1997.
- EERE (2007). State Activities and Partnerships: States with Renewable Portfolio Standards. Available: <u>http://www.eere.energy.gov/states/maps/renewable\_portfolio\_states.cfm</u>
- EIA (Energy Information Administration) (1992). Analysis of the Relationship Between the Heat and Carbon Content of U.S. Coals. Final Task Report. September 1992.
- EIA (Energy Information Administration) (2006). *Coal Production Data Files* (2006). Available: <u>http://www.eia.doe.gov/cneaf/coal/page/database.html</u>
- Foss, M. (2004). Interstate Natural Gas Quality Specifications & Interchangeability. Center for Energy Economics, Bureau of Economic Geology, University of Texas at Austin, December 2004. Available: <u>http://www.beg.utexas.edu/energyecon/lng/documents/CEE\_Interstate\_Natural\_Gas\_Quality\_Specifications\_and\_Interchangeability.pdf</u>
- ICF Resources (1990a). Opportunities for Power Generation from Methane Recovered During Coal Mining. Revised Draft Report Prepared by ICF Resources Incorporated for U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Air and Radiation.
- ICF Resources (1990b). The Potential for Recovery of Methane from Coal Mining for Use in the U.S. Natural Gas System. Prepared by ICF Resources Incorporated for U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Air and Radiation.
- IPCC (2006). 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, Eggleston H.S., Buendia L., Miwa K., Ngara T. and Tanabe K. (eds). Published: IGES, Japan.
- Keystone (2007). 2006-2007 Keystone Coal Industry Manual. Chicago, Illinois: MacLean Hunter Publishing Co.
- Kim, J., and Mutmansky, J.M. (1990). Comparative Analysis of Ventilation Systems for a Large-Scale Longwall Mining Operation in Coal Seams with High Methane Content. Min. Res. Eng., 1990, v. 3, no. 2, p. 99-117.
- Lewin, J.L. (1995). Energy and environmental policy options to promote coalbed methane. Proceedings of the International Unconventional Gas Symposium, Tuscaloosa, Alabama, May 995, p. 497-507.
- Lewin, J.L. (1997). Memorandum from Jeff L. Lewin to Roger Fernandez on July 14, 1997.
- MSHA (2007). Mine Safety and Health Administration listing of ventilation emissions from coal mines for 1990 2006, provided to the U.S. EPA.
- NGA (National Geospatial-Intelligence Agency) (2007). *Homeland Security Infrastructure Program* (HSIP) Gold Data.

Platts (2007). U.S. Electric Power System: CD-ROM 2007/2008 Edition.

- Steinfeld, G. and J. Hunt (2004). Recovery and Utilization of Coalmine Methane: Pilot Scale Demonstration Phase. Final Report. Prepared by FuelCell Energy, Inc. September 28.
- Su, S., A. Beath, H. Guo, and C. Mallett (2005). An assessment of mine methane mitigation and utilization technologies. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science* 31 (2005) 123-170.
- USBM (U.S. Bureau of Mines) (1992). Personal Communication between Chrissy Mikes, ICF and Pat Diamond, U.S. Bureau of Mines Pittsburgh Research Center.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (1990). *Methane Emissions From Coal Mining: Issues and Opportunities for Reduction*. Office of Air and Radiation (9ANR-445). Washington, DC EPA/400/9-90/008.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (1991). Assessment of the Potential for Economic Development and Utilization of Coalbed Methane in Poland. Office of Air and Radiation (9ANR-445). Washington, DC EPA/400/1-91/032.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (1993). *Opportunities to Reduce Anthropogenic Methane Emissions in the United States*. Report to Congress. Office of Air and Radiation (6202J). EPA 430-R-93-012. October 1993.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (1994). *The Environmental and Economic Benefits* of Coalbed Methane Development in the Appalachian Region. Office of Air and Radiation. (6202J). EPA/430/R-94/007. April 1994.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (1998). Gas Storage at the Abandoned Leyden Coal Mine Near Denver Colorado. Office of Air and Radiation, (6206J). November 1998.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (1999a). *Conceptual Design for a Coal Mine Gob Well Flare,* Office of Air and Radiation, (6206J). EPA/430/R-99/012. August 1999.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (1999b). *White Paper: Guidebook on Coalbed Methane Drainage for Underground Coal Mines.* April 1999.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (2000). *Technical and Economic Assessment: Mitigation of Methane Emissions from Coal Mine Ventilation* Air, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-430-R-001, February 2000.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (2003). Assessment of the Worldwide Market Potential for Oxidizing Coal Mine Ventilation Air Methane, EPA/430/R-03/002. July 2003.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (2006a). *Coalbed Methane Extra (Fall 2006).* Available: <u>http://www.epa.gov/cmop/docs/fall\_2006.pdf</u>
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (2006b). *Global Anthropogenic Non-CO*<sub>2</sub> *Greenhouse Gas Emissions: 1990-2020. Office of Atmospheric Programs, EPA 430-R-06-003. June 2006 Revised.*
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (2007a). *Coalbed Methane Extra (Fall 2007).* Available: <u>http://www.epa.gov/cmop/docs/fall\_2007.pdf</u>

- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (2007b). *Coalbed Methane Extra (Spring 2007).* Available: <u>http://www.epa.gov/cmop/docs/spring\_2007.pdf</u>
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (2008). *Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks 1990-2006,* Office of Atmospheric Programs, EPA 430-R-08-005. April, 15 2008.
- USEPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency) (2008c). Upgrading Drained Coal Mine Methane to Pipeline Quality: A Report on the Commercial Status of System Suppliers. EPA-430-R08-004.

Walter Industries (2007). Form 10-K. Filed March 1, 2007 (period: December 31, 2006).

Walter Industries (2008). Form 10-K. Filed March 7, 2008 (period: December 31, 2007).

### **References and Calculations Used in the Mine Profiles**

Data Item	Sources	Calculations
Geographic Data (State, County, Basin, Coalbed)	Keystone (2007)	
Corporate Information:		
Current Owner	Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual and recent coal industry publications	
Previous Owner	Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual and Coal Magazine Annual Longwall Surveys	
Parent Company	Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual and recent coal industry publications	
Phone/Address/Contact Information	Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual and EIA reports.	
General Information:		
Number of Employees	Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual	
Year of Initial Production	MSHA; Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual and articles in coal industry publications	
Life Expectancy:	Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual	
Sulfur Content	Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual	
Mining Method	Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual and Coal Magazine Longwall Survey	
Primary Use	Past versions of Keystone Coal Manual	
Production, Ventilation, and Drainage Data		
Coal Production	MSHA (2007), EIA (2006)	
Emissions from Ventilation Systems	MSHA (1997 - 2007)	
Estimated Methane Drained	The number of mines assumed to have drainage systems is based on calls to individual MSHA districts.	Drainage emissions are estimated by assuming that they are 40% of total liberation, unless otherwise noted.

Data Item	Sources	Calculations
Estimated Total Methane Liberated		Sum of "emissions from ventilation systems" and "estimated methane drained."
Degasification Information		
Drainage system Used	Based on calls to individual MSHA districts offices.	
Estimated Current Drainage Efficiency		Assumed to be 40% unless otherwise noted for mines where the drainage efficiency is known.
Energy and Environmental Value		
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of Methane Emissions Reductions (mm tons)	Global Warming Potential of Methane Compared to CO <sub>2</sub> based on IPCC (2006). GWP is 21 over 100 years.	Estimated 2006 CH <sub>4</sub> liberated (mmcf/yr) x recovery efficiency x 19.2 g/cf x 21 g CO <sub>2</sub> /1 g CH <sub>4</sub> x 1 lb / 453.59 g x 1 ton / 2000 lbs
CO <sub>2</sub> Equivalent of Methane Emissions Reductions/CO <sub>2</sub> Emissions from Coal Combustion	CO <sub>2</sub> /BTU ratio based on average state values in EIA (1992)	Fraction = [CO <sub>2</sub> equivalent of CH <sub>4</sub> emissions reductions (lbs)] / [2006 coal production (tons) x BTUs/ton x CO <sub>2</sub> emitted lbs/BTU x 99% (fraction oxidized)
BTU Value of Recovered Methane/BTU Value of Coal Produced	BTU/ton value for coal production based on information in Keystone or on average state values from EIA (1992)	Fraction = [2006 CH <sub>4</sub> liberated (cf/yr) x rec. efficiency x 1000 BTUs/cf] / [2006 coal production (tons) x BTUs/ton]
Power Generation Potential		
Electricity Supplier	Directory of Electric Utilities	
Potential Electric Generating Capacity		Capacity = Estimated CH <sub>4</sub> liberated in cf/day x recovery efficiency x 1 day/24 hours x 1000 BTUs/cf x kWh/11000 BTUs
Mine Electricity Demand	Mine electricity needs (24 kWh/ton) are based on ICF Resources (1990a) Ventilation systems are assumed to account for 25% of total electricity demand and to run 24 hours a day (8760 hours/year)	Demand (MW) = Demand from Ventilation Systems + Demand from Mine Operations + Demand from Prep Plant
	Other mine operations are	[25% x 24 kWh/ton x tons/year]/

Data Item	Sources	Calculations
	assumed to account for 75% of electricity demand and to run 16 hours a day 220 days per year (3520 hours/year).	[8760 hours/year] Demand (MW) mine operations = [75% x 24 kWh/ton x tons/year]/ [3520 hours/year] Demand (GWh/year) = Demand from Mine + Demand from Prep. Plant Demand from Mine = [24 kWh/ton x tons/year]/ 10 <sup>6</sup> Demand from Prep. Plant = [6 kWh/ton x tons/year]/ 10 <sup>6</sup>
Prep Plant Electricity Demand	Based on Keystone Coal Manual (2007) and <i>Coal Age</i> annual Prep Plant surveys. If tons processed per year at the prep plant is available in the Keystone, then that value is used. Otherwise, coal processed is assumed to be equal to mine production. Prep plant electric needs of 6 kWh/ton based on ICF Resources (1990a). Prep plants are assumed to operate 3520 hours/year.	Demand (MW) prep plant = [6 kWh/ton x tons/year]/ 3520 hours/year]
Pipeline Potential		
Potential Annual Gas Sales		Estimated methane liberated (mmcf/d) x 365 days/yr x recovery efficiency
All other information	NGA (2007)	
Other Utilization Potential		
Name of Coal Fired Boiler Located Near Mine (if any)	Platts (2007)	
Distance to Boiler	Platts (2007)	